OFF-FLAVOUR DEVELOPMENT IN FROZEN GREEN BEANS

T

by

David H. Lees

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Department of Horticulture McGill University Montreal

March 1967

C

 \bigcirc

Suggested short title:

OFF-FLAVOUR DEVELOPMENT IN FROZEN GREEN BEANS

Lees

ABSTRACT

M.Sc.

DAVID H. LEES

Horticulture

THE DEVELOPMENT OF OFF-FLAVOUR IN FROZEN GREEN BEANS

An investigation was undertaken to study the correlation which may exist between off-flavour development, determined organoleptically, and lipid oxidation, as determined by means of the 2-thiobarbituric acid test in frozen green beans. A procedure for the extraction of the 2-thiobarbituric acid reactive substance of beans was developed. Satisfactory and reproducible results were obtained with the method employed.

Raw and blanched beans were stored under oxygen, nitrogen and air at -9.4° , -15.0° and -20.6° C for varying periods of time to obtain information on the mechanism of off-flavour development. The 2-thiobarbituric acid test was carried out at regular intervals throughout the storage period and organoleptic tests were conducted concurrently. A satisfactory relationship was found to exist between the 2-thiobarbituric acid numbers and the development of off-flavour in frozen green beans. The use of the 2-thiobarbituric acid test to detect the development of off-flavour in frozen green beans is proposed.

Efforts were made to identify the carbonyl compounds of beans by means of their 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine derivatives using thin-layer chromotography and ultraviolet absorption studies.

ित्तु

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ť.

The writer wishes to express his sincere appreciation to Dr. J. David, who suggested the topic and under whose direction this investigation was carried out, for his constant interest and assistance in this investigation.

The writer also wishes to take this opportunity to thank the Quebec Agricultural Research Council, whose scholarship enabled him to pursue this investigation at Macdonald College of McGill University.

Thanks are also due to Dr. P. A. Anastassiadis, Department of Chemistry, for use of the equipment and for his helpful suggestions, to Green Giant Co. Ltd., Ste. Martine, P. Q. for supplying beans used in this investigation, and to the American Can Company for the containers used in this investigation.

The writer also wishes to acknowledge the valuable help given by Mrs. C. Armstrong and Mrs. M. Couture in the typing of this thesis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

rage	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
LIST OF TABLES	7
LIST OF FIGURES	Ĺ
INTRODUCTION	Ļ
I. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	5
The Role of Enzymes in Off-flavour Development	5
Acetaldehyde and Alcohol in Plant Tissues 2 Use of TBA in the Study of Oridative Bancidity 22	5 *
Separation of 2,4-DNPHs by Thin-layer	
Chromatography	5
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS 54	4
Preparation of Material	4
Organoleptic Tests	Ś
Preparation of TBA Reactive Substance	о 0
Identification of 2.4-DNPHs	5
Recovery of Volatiles for Ultraviolet	
Absorption Studies 6	8
Comparison of Steam Distillation and Ethanol	0
	7
III. EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS	2
2-Thiobarbituric Acid Test	2
TBA Experiments on Stored Beans 7	3
Effect of Blanching Upon Production of	9
Effect of Storage Temperature Upon	o
Production of TBRS 10	8
Effect of Composition of Atmosphere in the	~
container Upon Production of TBRS 10	9

ſ

Pa	ag	е
	~~	•

iii

Off-flavour Development	110
TBA Numbers	111
Development	114
flavour Development	114
Container on Off-flavour Development	115
Characteristics of TBRS	123
Steam Distillation vs Ethanol Extraction	131
IV. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	140
REFERENCES	142

 \mathbf{C}

 \bigcirc

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Determination of heating time for the TBA reaction	73
2.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, Series I	75
3.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under oxygen, Series I	75
4.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series I	78
5.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans sotred under nitrogen, Series I	78
6.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under air, Series I	81
7.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under air, Series I	81
8.	Effect of storage temperature on TEA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, Series II	85
9.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under oxygen, Series II	85
10.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series II	88
11.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under nitrogen. Series II	88

C

(J

Table

C

1

v

12.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under air, Series II	91
13.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under air, Series II	91
14.	Effect of Storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, Series III	94
15.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under oxygen, Series III	94
16.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series III	97
17.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series III	97
18.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under air, Series III	100
19.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers and flavour of blanched beans stored under air, Series III	100
20.	Comparison of TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen, and air at -9.4°C, Series I	103
21.	Comparison of TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen, and air at -9.4°C, Series II	103
22.	Comparison of TBA numbers and flavour of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen, and air at -9.4°C, Series III	106

LIST OF FIGURES

Th.

rigure	5	rage
l.	Standard curve for the determination of TBA reactive substances	74
2.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, Series I	76
3.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under oxygen, Series I	77
4.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series I	79
5.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series I	80
6.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under air, Series I	82
7.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under air, Series I	83
8.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, Series II	86
9.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under oxygen, Series II	87
10.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series II	89

Т

(--)

vii

5

Ş

÷

and the second shall have

Figure	I	'age
11.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series II	90
12.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under air, Series II	92
13.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under air, Series II	93
14.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, Series III	95
15.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under oxygen, Series III	96
16.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series III	98
17.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under nitrogen, Series III	99
18.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under air, Series III	101
19.	Effect of storage temperature on TBA numbers of blanched beans stored under air, SeriesIII	102
20.	Comparison of TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen, and air at -9.4°C, Series I	104
21.	Comparison of TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen, and air at -9.4°C, Series II	105
22.	Comparison of TBA numbers of unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen, and air at -9.4°C, Series III	107

3

Page

Th :

. † .

23.	Ultraviolet absorption spectrum of a sample of MA obtained from the acid hydrolysis of 1,1,3,3-TEP. The pH of the MA adjusted to 1.6	117
24.	Ultraviolet absorption spectrum of a steam distillate obtained from a sample of acidified (pH 1.1) unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 147 days at -9.4°C. The pH of the distillate adjusted to 1.6	118
25.	I. Absorption spectrum of the coloured complex produced with TBA reagent and MA obtained from the acid hydrolysis of 1,1,3,3-TEP. II. Absorption spectrum of the coloured complex produced with TBA reagent and TBRS obtained from the alcohol extraction of unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 147 days at -9.4°C	121
26.	Absorption spectra of 2,4-DNPHine derivatives of a compound found in the alcohol extract of beans. I. Unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 76 days. II. Blanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 76 days	125
27.	Absorption spectrum of a 2,4-DNPHine derivative of a compound found in the steam distillate of unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.40C for 147 days	129
28.	A comparison of the absorption spectra of the TBA-TBRS coloured complexes obtained from beans. I. Alcohol extract of unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 20 days at -9.4°C. II. Steam distillate of unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 20 days at -9.4°C.	132
29.	Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of fresh unblanched beans	135
30.	Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of fresh blanched beans	135

(---)

Figure

Page

7N ::

in the second

F	i	gure	
_	-	~~~ ~	

31.	Chromatogram of ethanol extract under oxygen at	2,4-DNPHs obtained from the of unblanched beans stored -9.4°C for 13 days 136
32.	Chromatogram of ethanol extract under oxygen at	2,4-DNPHs obtained from the of blanched beans stored -9.4°C for 13 days 136
33.	Chromatogram of ethanol extract under oxygen at	2,4-DNPHs obtained from the of unblanched beans stored -9.4°C for 20 days 137
34.	Chromatogram of ethanol extract under oxygen at	2,4-DNPHs obtained from the of blanched beans stored -9.4°C for 20 days 137
35.	Chromatogram of ethanol extract under oxygen at	2,4-DNPHs obtained from the of unblanched beans stored -9.4°C for 20 days 139
36.	Chromatogram of ethanol extract under oxygen at	2,4-DNPHs obtained from the of blanched beans stored -9.49C for 20 days

INTRODUCTION

()

1

It is well recognized in the commercial preservation of vegetables by freezing that certain enzymatic changes can cause deterioration at low temperatures. These changes are generally evidenced by the development of unnatural, disagreeable odours and flavours, and discolouration. That off-flavour occurred in raw or underblanched vegetables as a result of an imbalance in the enzyme reactions was recognized early in the development of the frozen vegetable industry by Joslyn (1930), Tressler (1932) and Diehl and Berry (1933). Numerous investigations have been carried out on various aspects of this problem but the actual reactions involved are still largely unknown. The investigators agree that the off-flavours are due to an enzymatic process since they do not develop in properly blanched vegetables. However, on prolonged storage nonenzymatic changes resulting in disagreeable flavours are probably also involved.

The enzyme systems directly or indirectly responsible for quality deterioration in raw or underblanched vegetables freezing storage are as yet unknown; however, those commonly associated with quality changes during frozen storage are lipase, lipoxidase, catalase and peroxidase (Lee and Wagenknecht, 1958). Besides the enzymes actually involved in off-flavour development investigations are being carried out to determine the substrates acted upon, the factors influencing the rate and extent of chemical change, and the chemical components responsible for off-flavour formation. It has been shown that lipoxidase and lipase are responsible for the progressive deterioration of lipids in raw vegetables during frozen storage (Lee and Wagenknecht, 1951; and Wagenknecht and Lee, 1956). The changes in the lipids closely parallelled the progressive development of off-flavours and there was reasonable evidence that lipid oxidation was one of the, if not the, major factor responsible for off-flavour production in frozen raw vegetables (Lee et al., 1955; Lee and Wagenknecht, 1951). The changes in flavour occurring in frozen, raw or underblanched vegetables have also been attributed to autolysis and proteolysis (Tressler, 1932; Mergentime and Wiegand, 1946) and glycolysis (Joslyn, 1949).

The present investigation was undertaken to study the correlation which may exist between offflavour development, which was judged organoleptically,

Î

2

Th

T

and lipid oxidation, as determined by means of the 2-thiobarbituric acid test (TBA). This test has been applied successfully for detecting fat oxidation in a number of materials including dairy products (Patton and Kurtz, 1951; Dunkley, 1951; Biggs and Bryant, 1953), pork (Turner <u>et al.</u>, 1954), bakery products (Caldwell and Grogg, 1955), oysters (Schwartz and Watts, 1957), fishery products (Yu and Sinnhuber, 1957; Munker, 1962), and other biological materials. A procedure for the application of the test was developed which gave satisfactory and reproducible results.

The present investigation was carried out on green snap beans for which relatively little information is available. Raw and blanched beans were stored under oxygen, nitrogen and air to obtain information on the mechanism of off-flavour development. Samples were stored at three different temperatures and the TBA test was carried out at regular intervals throughout the storage period and organoleptic tests were carried out simultaneously. A satisfactory correlation was found to exist between the TBA values and the organoleptic scores for the development of off-flavour in frozen beans.

During this investigation it was found that malonaldehyde, which shows an absorption maximum of 3

īħ

245 mu at pH < 3, could not be detected in any of the bean samples. This is in agreement with the results of Kwon and Watts (1963) who reported that the ultraviolet absorption spectra of distillates from peas were complex and different in appearance from that of MA. A condensation product between TBA and one or more of the carbonyl compounds in beans could be responsible for the colour formation which shows maximum absorption at 535 mµ, since the TBA reagent is not specific for MA (Patton, 1960). This was also shown by Saslaw and Waravdekar (1965), who demonstrated, by thin-layer chromatography of irradiated fatty acids, that none of the thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBRS) was MA.

(

A large number of carbonyl compounds are present in beans, as demonstrated in this investigation by the many 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine (2,4-DNPHine) derivatives obtained. Efforts were made to identify these carbonyl compounds by means of thin-layer chromatography and their ultraviolet absorption spectra.

4

I. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The Role of Enzymes in Off-flavour Development

That changes occur in the flavour of most underblanched vegetables during freezing storage has been reported by numerous workers (Joslyn, 1946, 1949, 1961; Mergentime and Wiegand, 1946; Woodroof et al., 1946; Lee et al., 1955; Dietrich et al., 1962). These changes have been ascribed to the activity of naturally occurring enzymes not inhibited by low temperatures and ice formation. Makower (1956) reported that enzymes are specific biochemical catalysts present in all living tissues. They affect the quality of processed foods by producing chemical changes in vegetables and fruits before, during, and sometimes after processing, resulting in poor flavour, texture and colour. The undesirable offflavours produced during freezing storage of raw and underblanched frozen vegetables are believed to be due to the accumulation of unknown rather volatile compounds (Joslyn, 1949).

The four enzymes normally associated with offflavour development are catalase, peroxidase, lipase and

T

lipoxidase. Extensive research has been carried out on these enzymes. The pertinent literature on these enzymes is presented in this section, placing emphasis on the data available on beans and other vegetables.

T

T

It is well established that certain enzymes or enzyme systems must be inactivated or partially inactivated if vegetables are to retain their quality during freezing storage. This inactivation is usually accomplished by blanching. Since the enzyme or enzyme systems directly responsible for quality deterioration in raw or underblanched vegetables during freezing storage are as yet unknown, the activity of certain enzymes, such as peroxidase and catalase, has been used to determine the adequacy of blanching.

Diehl and Berry (1933) and Diehl <u>et al</u>. (1933) stated that catalase activity could serve as an index of adequacy of blanching for peas and indicated that Alderman peas blanched for a time sufficient to destroy catalase activity retained satisfactory quality when stored at -6.5° C or lower. The use of catalase as a measure of adequate blanching for the freezing storage of vegetables was also recommended by Tressler (1933), Diehl <u>et al</u>. (1936) and Kramer (1954). Lineweaver and Morris (1947) proposed a test for catalase activity and

6

TA

1

reported that if 0.5% of the original catalase content was still present, blanching was insufficient. Arighi <u>et al</u>. (1936) observed that catalase was quantitatively inactivated at a much more rapid rate than the enzymes concerned in the production of off-flavours in peas and suggested that the enzymes concerned in the production of off-flavours in peas were more heat stable than catalase.

Tressler (1939) reported that, in general, vegetables blanched sufficiently to inactivate catalase and peroxidase would not develop off-flavour during freezing storage. He indicated that peroxidase appeared to be the more heat stable enzyme, therefore making it more suitable for testing for adequacy of blanching. Bedford and Joslyn (1939), working with frozen string beans, concluded that peroxidase activity was a better index of quality than catalase activity. They reported that peroxidase activity need not be completely destroyed to obtain a satisfactory retention of flavour. These findings were supported by Joslyn and Bedford (1940), who found that flavour retention in frozen asparagus was closely related to the inactivation of peroxidase by blanching.

Balls (1942, 1947) and Makower (1956) suggested

that peroxidase activity might serve as an index of adequacy of blanching. In a review paper, Joslyn (1949) referred to earlier work in which it was found that peroxidase activity more closely parallelled the formation of off-flavours in frozen vegetables than did catalase activity. However, he cautions that the correlation varied markedly with the nature of the substrate used for detecting peroxidase activity. Masure and Campbell (1944), in a quantitative study of the degree of peroxidase inactivation and quality retention in frozen vegetables, showed that samples heated long enough to insure quality retention during subsequent freezing storage contained 1 to 2% residual peroxidase. However, Kramer and Mahoney (1940) reported that the semiquantitative determination of peroxidase is unsatisfactory as an index of quality for frozen lima beans. Methods of determining peroxidase activity and their usefulness have been proposed by Joslyn (1957) and Joslyn and Neumann (1963).

Lindquist <u>et al</u>. (1951) stated that a blanching treatment adequate to inactivate catalase was insufficient for the retention of quality in Brussels sprouts. However, peroxidase activity was found to serve as a satisfactory index of adequacy of blanching. Samples

blanched sufficiently to inactivate catalase but not peroxidase showed a marked development of off-flavour, a decrease in natural flavour and the development of pink colouration at the centres within a short time after processing, when compared with peroxidase-negative samples.

A

T

Blanching to a point sufficient for catalase inactivation was shown by Dietrich <u>et al.</u> (1955) to be insufficient for flavour retention, but sufficient for chlorophyll and ascorbic acid retention, when stored under good commercial conditions of -17.8° to -23.3°C. However, samples blanched long enough for partial peroxidase inactivation were better in flavour and colour and retained a greater amount of ascorbic acid than samples blanched for longer or shorter times. These findings are in agreement with those of Joslyn (1946).

Beale and Gould (1959) carried out studies on the effect of the length of the blanching period on the peroxidase activity of frozen corn-on-the-cob. They proposed that a satisfactory product may contain a small amount of residual peroxidase activity, which may be preferred to overblanching of the product. However, Zoneil and Esselen (1959), studying the thermal

9

٨

Э.

4

(T

destruction rates and regeneration of peroxidase in green beans and turnips, stated that if all the peroxidase is not destroyed in vegetable tissue, it could slowly regenerate, even under frozen storage conditions, and eventually cause a disagreeable flavour in the vegetables. Boettcher (1962) found that in frozen green peas, beans, cauliflower, Brussels sprouts, kale, spinach, sliced carrots, and asparagus, the higher the peroxidase activity after blanching the poorer the quality of the vegetable after freezing preservation.

Boettcher (1962) reported the regeneration of peroxidase activity in green peas and beans blanched in water at temperatures varying from 75° to 100° C after 6 to 9 months of storage. However, the regeneration was small and did not appear to have any significance since the organoleptic quality of the samples was not impaired, and it occurred only in samples pre-heated at temperatures below those necessary for blanching. Similar results have been reported by Diehl <u>et al</u>. (1936) and Woodroof <u>et al</u>. (1946). Pinsent (1961) found a regeneration of peroxidase at -18° C. Joslyn (1961) reported the regeneration of peroxidase activity at room temperature.

With the establishment of the necessity to inactivate enzymes by heat prior to freezing, the

10

Th

and the second second second second second

development of the proper conditions for blanching and its application to various vegetables was investigated. The storage life of blanched vegetables at various temperatures was also studied.

(in the second second

T

Joslyn and Marsh (1933) reported that peas, spinach and string beans each had a critical blanching temperature range which favoured better colour, flavour and texture retention. These were: for peas 71° -76.5°C. for spinach 73.9°-82.2°C, and for string beans 82.2°- $90.6^{\circ}C$. They found that, when underblanched, these vegetables developed unnatural hay-like flavours in two months at -17.5° C when exposed to air. The discolouration of antichoke hearts was studied and found to be related to the extent of blanching (Joslyn and Marsh, 1938). Asparagus was reported to have optimum flavour retention when blanched at $92^{\circ}C$ for 4 minutes or $100^{\circ}C$ for 3 minutes (Joslyn and Bedford, 1940). Other investigations relating blanching practice and storage temperature to quality retention were also carried out by Woodroof (1931), Tressler (1932, 1939), Diehl and Berry (1933), Diehl et al. (1936), Heiss and Peach (1937), Woodroof et al. (1946), Cruess (1947), Gortner et al. (1948), Lindquist et al. (1950), Fisher and van Duyne (1952), Noble and Winter (1952).

Dietrich <u>et al</u>. (1959,1962), in a series of investigations, dealt with the time-temperature tolerance of frozen beans, cauliflower and spinach. The rate of deterioration in flavour and colour of frozen beans approximately doubled for each 2.7° C increase in temperature between -17.8° and -3.6° C. In cauliflower the rate of deterioration increased about 4-fold for each 5.5° C raise in temperature in the range of -17.8° to -3.6° C. The cauliflower was acceptable but not of high quality after 3 to 6 months storage at -12.2° C and 5 to 11 weeks at -6.6° C. In spinach, deterioration increased as the temperature increased. They concluded that low storage temperatures are essential for the preservation of quality of these frozen vegetables.

T

Joslyn (1949), in a review on enzyme activity in frozen vegetable tissue, stated that "enzymes are responsible for the development of off-flavour in raw and underblanched vegetables during frozen storage." He reported that as the storage temperature decreases the rate of development of off-flavours decreases, and that scalding and subsequent chilling should be conducted under conditions such that enzymes responsible for off-flavour development during storage will be inactivated with minimum effect on flavour and texture.

12

TA

The time and temperature of blanching are dependent on heat transfer and other biological factors of the material being treated.

The most likely cause of off-flavour development in underblanched or unblanched frozen vegetables is the enzyme-catalyzed oxidative deterioration of lipids. The crude lipid content of vegetable tissues is very small, varying from 0.1 to over 1% on a fresh weight basis, depending on the vegetable (Joslyn, 1961). Siddiqi and Tappel (1956) reported that the activation energy for lipoxidase was 4.3 K cal/g mole and the activation energy of autoxidation was 15.2 K cal/g mole. Therefore, the enzymatic oxidation of lipids could be very important, and the damage caused by autoxidation of the lipid material would be negligible in comparison with that caused by enzymatic oxidation at low temperatures of storage.

Lipoxidase was first described by André and Hoy (1932) who isolated it in an oil extract of soybean residue. André and Hoy (1933) further demonstrated its presence in Hyacinth beans and common kidney beans and established it as being separate from peroxidase. The presence and determination of lipoxidase in other vegetables has been reported for asparagus (Sumner, 1943)

13

Th

and green and dry garden peas (Strain, 1941).

()

()

()

The action of lipoxidase in converting unsaturated fats into peroxides was reported by Strain (1941). He stated that only those compounds with the -CH=CH(CH $_2$) $_7$ COgroup and cis-configuration, e.g., oleic, ricinoleic, linoleic, linolenic acids and their esters, were oxidized directly. Sumner (1942) further explained the action of lipoxidase and concluded that lipoxidase was stereospecific showing a specificity for the cis-configuration of the double bond in the 9-10 position, and acted most efficiently on the structure RCH=CHCH2CH=CH(CH2)7COOH. The presence of an additional isolated double bond increased the rate and extent of peroxidation. However, the presence of more than 2 double bonds merely served to increase the activity of peroxidase without increase in peroxidation. The oxidation of the more unsaturated fatty acids by lipoxidase was found to be very rapid by Sullmann (1943). Lipoxidase has been reported to be highly specific for the oxidation of fatty acids liberated by lipolytic enzymes (Balls et al., 1943; Oser, 1946; Siddiqi and Tappel, 1956).

Lipoxidase is reported to have an optimum temperature for activity of about 30° C and a Q₁₀ of about 1.6 between -1.5° and 18.5°C. Increased

temperature and/or pH have a deleterious effect on the activity of lipoxidase (Holman, 1947; Smith, 1948; Asada, 1952). Lund and Halvorson (1951) demonstrated that lipoxidase can function at low temperatures and that lipid deterioration in foods containing lipoxidase cannot be adequately prevented by storage at low temperatures as long as the reactants are allowed to come in contact through a liquid medium. This activity is greatly reduced, however, when such systems are completely solidified since the diffusion rates become the limiting factors.

Ć

The other enzyme involved in the deterioration of the lipid fraction in frozen vegetables, is lipase. Its action in frozen material was demonstrated as early as 1900 (Kastle and Loevenhart, 1900) and Street and Bailey (1915) indicated its presence in soybeans.

Armstrong and Omerod (1907) found that the hydrolysis of esters by lipase involved the direct association of the enzyme with the carboxyl centre (CO.O) and that hydration of this centre prevented this action. The deterioration of fats in frozen storage at temperatures as low as -30° C has been attributed to the hydrolysis of the fats by lipase (Balls and Tucker, 1938; Balls and Lineweaver, 1938). These workers also

reported that the specificity of lipase appears to be temperature dependent, since the velocity of the enzyme reaction is greatly decreased with the change of state from liquid to solid, and different fats and esters are split at very different rates, the most rapid being the glycerides of the lower fatty acids and those with 6 to 10 carbon atoms. These findings have been substantiated by Lineweaver (1939), Balls (1940) and Kuprianoff (1961). Lipase has been found to be active at temperatures as low as $-70^{\circ}C$ (Sizer and Josephson, 1942).

The hydrolysis of fat in frozen tissues, by lipase, presents therefore a definite and detectable change in chemical composition which has an important bearing on the quality of the stored product.

Lee and Wagenknecht (1951) found that substantial changes occurred when unblanched Thomas Laxton peas, stored at -17.8°C for five years, were compared with blanched and unblanched peas of the same variety immediately after harvesting. These changes were observed in the crude lipids of peas obtained by extraction with peroxide-free anhydrous ethyl ether. As a result of this investigation, in which the peroxide number, acid number, iodine number and odour and taste tests were used, they concluded that developing rancidity

16

Th

T

of the lipid material was one of the prime causes, if not the principal cause, of the development of offflavour in unblanched frozen peas stored at -17.8°C. It was proposed that lipoxidase and lipase are responsible for the progressive deterioration of lipids in raw peas during frozen storage.

These researchers also reported that a considerable loss of chlorophyll and carotene occurred during the protracted storage of frozen unblanched peas. However, no significant changes were observed in the reducing and non-reducing sugar fractions and in the starch fraction. Thus it appeared that these components of the carbohydrate fraction did not contribute to the development of off-flavour in the frozen unblanched peas. In addition, no changes were observed in total nitrogen content, such as would have occurred had ammonia, or volatile amines, or other volatile nitrogenous compounds been evolved during frozen storage.

Wagenknecht (1952), working on frozen raw peas, reported that marked changes occurred in the lipid fraction. He considered these changes as being mainly responsible for the off-flavour and odour of the peas frozen for an extended period of time (five years at -17.8°C). In raw peas, frozen and stored for 5 years,

17

TA .

1.5

Muchan Landard

a loss of more than 50% of the chlorophyll and carotene was observed. However, no changes in proteins, starch, and sugar fractions occurred. Blanched peas stored under identical conditions showed very little loss of chlorophyll.

Lee (1954) conducted a study on the crude lipids extracted from asparagus, corn, Lima beans, snap beans, spinach and peas, after frozen storage. As a result of this study, he proposed that enzymatic oxidation of lipid matter is the actual cause of off-flavour in these frozen vegetables, since the acid numbers increased after 1 week and peroxides appeared after 1 month of storage at -17.8° C.

Lee <u>et al</u>. (1955) undertook a study to determine the length of time unblanched vegetables could be held in frozen storage before undesirable changes could be detected, and to determine the cause of the development of the acids and peroxides during the storage period. Unblanched peas, corn and snap beans were investigated. The results indicated that definite off-flavour could be detected in all three vegetables after 2 to 4 weeks of storage and also that peroxides could be detected in peas after 3 weeks, in snap beans after 1 month, and in corn after 2 months. It was suggested that, since off-flavours increased in intensity in the raw vegetables with increasing storage time, and since peroxides started to accumulate later than acids, a sequence of enzyme actions was involved in the development of the more disagreeable off-flavours and off-aromas of the unblanched vegetables during extended storage. The milder offflavours were said to be brought about, at least partially, by an increase in acid. They reported that the changes in lipids, characterized by increases in titratable acidity and the development of peroxides, and the loss of chlorophyll, closely parallelled the progressive development of off-flavour.

The presence of peroxides in blanched sweet corn after one and one-half years was also reported by Lee <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. (1955). This was first reported by Lee (1954) and he suggested that it occurred as the result of nonenzymatic peroxidation.

Wagenknecht and Lee (1956) established the presence of lipoxidase in fresh and frozen raw peas. They obtained the enzyme in partially purified form from fresh and lyophilized raw peas. They demonstrated that the two major actions of lipoxidase in peas were peroxidation of lipids and destruction of chlorophyll, and proposed reactions through which lipoxidase may

19

N S

h

20

contribute to off-flavour formation and other changes in quality of raw peas.

Siddiqi and Tappel (1956) reported that pea extracts contained an enzyme that behaves like a true lipoxidase, in that it did not possess fatty acid oxidase or fatty acid dehydrogenase activity, and yet it oxidized linoleate but not oleate. They proposed that, in the intact pea, lipoxidase may react with the unsaturated fatty acids present to form hydroperoxides which in turn decompose to give aldehydic compounds. Thus lipoxidase could cause off-flavour by lipid oxidation, and this in turn could be used to explain the accumulation of aldehyde as off-flavour develops.

Lee (1958) stated that lipoxidase and lipase are responsible for the development of off-flavours in raw and underblanched vegetables during frozen storage at -18°C. In reviewing the practice of adequate blanching for the inactivation of catalase and peroxidase enzymes, he proposed the use of the time required for catalase inactivation plus 50% of this time as a safety factor for good results. He also found that rancidification of the lipid material, as evidenced by increases in the peroxide and acid numbers of the extracted lipids, had a great deal to do with increases in off-flavour, the

Ť

effect increasing with longer storage times.

Lipoxidase, lipase, peroxidase and catalase, the four enzymes thought to be associated with quality changes during frozen storage, were studied by Lee and Wagenknecht (1958). The enzymes were obtained in partially purified form from lyophilized raw peas. Addition of these partially purified preparations of native pea enzymes to blanched peas resulted in the production of off-flavours, following prolonged frozen storage. The greatest flavour change was associated with added catalase, but lipoxidase and lipase produced pronounced off-flavour. Peroxidase produced only a mild change in flavour which was not objectionable. Changes in green colour were brought about by the addition of all four enzymes, with the greatest change being produced by lipoxidase and lipase. The deterioration of lipids was also evidenced by the formation of peroxides and by moderate increases in acid number. As a result of their findings they concluded that it seems likely that offflavour production in frozen raw vegetables is quite complex in nature and that the concerted action of several or many enzymes is involved.

Earlier work by Wagenknecht and Lee (1958) using model systems to study the action of catalase, peroxidase,

T

T

lipase and lipoxidase had shown that the addition of these enzymes to blanched peas resulted in off-flavours following frozen storage. The lipase-treated peas gave the most disagreeable flavours, while lipoxidase. catalase and peroxidase produced only mild flavour changes. Changes in green colour were produced by the addition of all four enzymes. Lipase caused the greatest losses of chlorophyll, evidenced by the formation of pheophytin. The deterioration of lipids was caused by lipase and lipoxidase and resulted in large increases in the acid number and the development of peroxides. As a possible mode of action of lipase, they proposed that it may serve as an adjunct to lipoxidase in off-flavour development through a labilization of substrates, i.e., the lipase splits the triglycerides into free fatty acids which are apparently more readily utilizable as lipoxidase substrates than the intact triglycerides. During the progressive development of off-flavour in frozen raw peas during storage, the increase in acid number invariably preceded the development of peroxides detectable in the lipids.

The carbonyl content in the crude lipid of peas, prepared from blanched and unblanched peas, held in frozen storage at -17.8° C for 5 years, and from fresh

22

Ĩ٨

peas, was studied by Lee (1958). The stored unblanched peas yielded crude lipids which contained appreciable amounts of unsaturated carbonyl compounds. Unsaturated carbonyl compounds were not found in the crude lipids extracted from material blanched prior to storage, or in fresh material, either raw or blanched. However, the crude lipids extracted from the blanched peas contained more saturated carbonyl compounds than that extracted from the corresponding raw peas, fresh or stored. From these results, it was thought that a possible connection between the development of peroxides and the formation of unsaturated carbonyl compounds might exist.

 $\left\{ \right\}$

The fatty acids of peas and spinach were investigated by Lee and Mattick (1960). They found significant differences between raw and blanched samples when stored at -17.8°C for extended periods of time. In peas, the raw samples showed large losses in the fatty acids from the neutral fats, when compared with blanched samples. In spinach, it was determined that the total free fatty acids increased in the raw samples during storage. Palmitic acid increased during storage, whereas the longer chain fatty acids, particularly linolenic acid, decreased.

23

Wagenknecht (1963), in a study on green beans, found that they contained 2.6% lipids on a dry weight basis. Varying amounts of chlorophyll and its degradation products were present in all lipid fractions and complete removal of these chlorophyll pigments was not achieved.

The glyceride fractions of Lima beans and four other types of beans were reported to consist mainly of palmitic, linoleic and linolenic acids, together with smaller amounts of stearic and oleic acids (Korytnyk and Metzler, 1963). The Lima bean lipid fraction included n-pentadecanoic and n-heptadecanoic acids. A very high proportion of linolenic acid, associated with a high iodine value, was noted in all beans investigated. An unusual characteristic of the bean lipids was the almost complete absence of higher saturated fatty acids. Fatty acids with an odd number of carbon atoms were also found in beans.

Lundberg (1956) stated that the main products of the lipoxidase-catalyzed oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids were optically active cis-trans conjugated diene hydroperoxides. He also stated that the lipoxidase oxidation may involve some type of chain oxidation which must differ from that involved in autoxidation.

24

Contraction of the
(The second seco

Loury (1963) suggested that, in autoxidative rancidification of fats, the peracid formed cleaves into the next lower aldehyle and HCO_2H which further oxidizes to CO_2 and H_2O . The new aldehyde is then oxidized to peracid, which undergoes the same cycle.

Lipid hydrolysis in unblanched frozen peas, in the range of -5° to -20° C, was reported on by Bengtsson and Bosund (1966). The Q₁₀ value for the formation of free fatty acids in this temperature range was about 2.5 and the corresponding value for off-flavour development was 3.0. At the lower temperature range a definite preference for hydrolysis of polyunsaturated acids was reported, with a corresponding increase in the proportion of saturated acids in the unhydrolyzed fat. Changes in the lipid fraction of vegetables were shown to contribute to, and possibly be one of the major components of, off-flavour development in raw frozen peas.

Acetaldehyde and Alcohol in Plant Tissues

The accumulation of volatile aldehydes in the tissues of frozen raw and underblanched beans was first reported by Bedford and Joslyn (1939). They found that as the duration or temperature of blanching increased the acetaldehyde content decreased and the quality of

the product improved. Joslyn (1949), in a review paper, pointed out that glycolytic changes leading to the accumulation of acetaldehyde and alcohol were related to enzyme activity and off-flavour formation in frozen unblanched and underblanched vegetables.

(internet)

1

The correlation between off-flavour development and production of acetaldehyde and alcohol was thoroughly investigated with peas (Arighi et al., 1936; Gutterman et al., 1951; Moore, 1951; Joslyn and David, 1952; Lovejoy, 1952; David and Joslyn, 1953; Kramer, 1954; Wager, 1958; Ralls, 1960; Matthews, 1961; Pendlington, 1962; Self et al., 1963; Bengtsson and Bosund, 1964). Acetaldehyde was proposed as an objective measurement of off-flavour for frozen peas (Arighi et al., 1936; Gutterman et al., 1951; Lovejoy, 1952; David and Joslyn, 1953), Lima beans (Kohman and Sanborn, 1934), artichoke hearts (Joslyn et al., 1938), and asparagus (Joslyn and Bedford, 1940; Lovejoy, 1952), and it was adopted by the AOAC (1955) as the official method for peas and asparagus. However, other investigators found the correlation unsatisfactory (Moore, 1951; Kramer, 1954; Fuleki, 1961; Smith, 1966).

Alcohol content, rather than aldehyde, was found to be in good correlation with off-flavour in broccoli (Buck and Joslyn, 1953).

Fuleki (1961) studied the effects of blanching. storage temperature, and container atmosphere on acetaldehyde and alcohol production and off-flavour formation in frozen green snap beans. He found that aldehydes, determined as acetaldehyde but not identified as such, accumulated in green snap beans but that its accumulation could not be suggested as an objective measure of offflavour development. He also reported that the amount of acetaldehyde which accumulated over the initial content depended on three main factors: extent of blanching, length of storage and temperature of storage. Fuleki found also that the ethanol content of green beans was decreased by blanching but that raw or lightly blanched beans retained their ability to produce alcohol. The factors affecting alcohol accumulation are the same as those reported for acetaldehyde accumulation. Fuleki concluded that acetaldehyde and alcohol accumulation did not provide an objective measurement of off-flavour development in frozen green snap beans.

 $(\rightarrow$

()

Smith (1966) found that no relationship could be established between aldehyde and ethanol production and off-flavour development in frozen raw cauliflower. He concluded that neither aldehyde nor ethanol content provided a satisfactory objective method for the determination of off-flavour development.

27

浦

No. of the local sectors of th

Use of TBA in the Study of Oxidative Rancidity

1

x :

 \bigcirc

That a reaction occurred between TBA and a number of aliphatic aldehydes, to form highly coloured derivatives, was first reported by Dox and Plaisance (1916). Kohn and Liversedge (1944) observed that various animal tissues, after incubation under aerobic conditions, produced compound(s) which gave a colour reaction when heated with TBA. Although they did not demonstrate the nature of the colour producing compound(s), their research established the absorption spectrum of the colour complex and certain chemical characteristics of the colour reaction. They reported that the responsible compound(s) were carbonyl in nature, since semicarbazide and phenylhydrazine blocked the reaction. Research by Bernheim et al. (1948) revealed that the colour-producing materials in various animal tissues were lipid in nature and, more specifically, that egg lecithin or fatty acids isolated from it, brain lecithin, fatty acids from linseed oil, cephalin, and brain protein-lecithin complex, gave colours with TBA after aerobic incubation with ascorbic acid. The absorption spectra of the colours obtained from these materials were shown to be identical with that described by Kohn and Liversedge (1944) and that obtained with linolenic acid. They also suggested

28

特別の言語

that a three-carbon compound containing one oxygen is involved in the TBA reaction to form the coloured pigment. Wilbur <u>et al</u>. (1949) further explored the TBA colour reaction with regard to certain sugars and aldehydes, as well as to the oxidation products of linolenic and certain other unsaturated fatty acids. They could not find any specific compound giving a colour spectrum identical to those obtained from oxidized lipid materials in aerobically incubated animal tissues, the latter showing a single peak at 532 mµ, characteristic of the colour from oxidized lipid materials.

(

1

()

Patton and Kurtz (1951) reacted a number of compounds with TBA, in addition to those investigated by Wilbur <u>et al</u>. (1949). They also developed a suitable method for the application of the TBA test in the measurement of milk fat oxidation. They showed that malonic dialdehyde yielded a red colour when heated with TBA reagent. Spectral analysis of this colour revealed it to be identical with that obtained with oxidized milk fat, and to resemble closely colours secured in like manner from a number of oxidized lipid materials and animal tissues containing unsaturated fatty acids such as oxidized methyl linolenate (Wilbur <u>et al</u>., 1949), oxidized phospholipids (Bernheim <u>et al</u>., 1948), and

aerobically incubated animal tissues (Kohn and Liversedge, 1944; Wilbur <u>et al</u>., 1949). They concluded that malonic dialdehyde may be a compound of significance in food fat rancidification and in the biological oxidation of unsaturated fatty acids. They also proposed that the TBA test could be used advantageously in measuring oxidative deterioration in a wide variety of fats and fat containing foods.

(

1

Ð

A good correlation between the TBA test and numerical flavour scores of milk samples, having oxidized flavour of varying intensity, was reported by Dunkley (1951). He also reported that the TBA test was, in fact, slightly more accurate in determining the percentage of oxidized milk. Dunkley and Jennings (1951) presented a procedure for the application of the TBA test to oxidized fluid milk.

The TBA reaction has been studied as a measure of oxidative rancidity in a wide variety of food products by a large number of investigators. Biggs and Bryant (1953) modified the TBA test to detect oxidative rancidity in cheese, butter, and whole milk powder and concluded that this test was more sensitive than conventional tests such as iodine value and Kries test. Tanaka <u>et al</u>. (1955) found that the TBA test satisfactorily

established the intensity of oxidized flavour in whole dried milk. Sidwell <u>et al</u>. (1955) applied the TBA test to dried milk products. They employed steam distillation to separate the products of fat oxidation from dried milk products in order to avoid interference from the lactose and protein constituents. Their results correlated well with sensory evaluations.

()

()

()

Turner <u>et al</u>. (1954) described a method using TBA for the determination of rancidity in frozen pork. They reported that the TBA test gave a more reliable index of age and quality of frozen pork than other chemical tests. Zipser <u>et al</u>. (1964) also reported favourable results with the use of TBA with cured and uncured frozen cooked pork.

The application of the TBA test as a measure of fat oxidation in vegetable oils and lard has been reported by numerous investigators (Sidwell <u>et al.</u>, 1954; Romero and Gonzalez-Quijano, 1956; Schmidt, 1959; Khomutov and Garkusha, 1960; Szilas-Kelemen and Bereczky, 1962; Mihelic, 1963, 1964; Pohle <u>et al.</u>, 1964; Wyatt and Day, 1965).

Yu and Sinnhuber (1957) proposed a TBA method for the measurement of rancidity in fishery products. They performed the TBA test on the intact sample eliminating

31

ih:

the fat extraction step which is often times difficult, incomplete, and time-consuming. Their procedure was simple and gave reproducible results on fish oil, fish meal, and canned and frozen fishery products. Their results indicate that it can be used as a measure of oxidative rancidity in fishery products. Sinnhuber and Yu (1958) later suggested a TBA method for the measurement of rancidity in fishery products, using 1,1,3,3tetraethoxypropane (TEP) as a standard for the TBA determination of malonaldehyde (MA), by which the MA content of fishery products could be quantitatively measured, and the degree of oxidative rancidity expressed in milligrams of MA per 1000 g of sample. Other researchers on fishery products include Schwartz and Watts (1957), Palmeter <u>et al</u>. (1960), and Munker (1962).

(:

(

Caldwell and Grogg (1955) found the TBA test in cereal and baked products to provide a more sensitive and reproducible means of detecting and recording incipient oxidative rancidity than the peroxide value technique.

The TBA test has also been used in the measurement of oxidative rancidity of cooked stored meats (Fujimaki and Yoshimatsu, 1960); stability of ascorbic acid solutions (Smoczkiewiczowa and Grochmalicka, 1961);

cooked mullet (Zipser and Watts, 1961); roasted Macadamia nuts (Winterton, 1962); fresh pork, ham, meat, bread, potato chips, and lard (Tarladgis <u>et al.</u>, 1964); milk, meat, fats and oils, fish, soups, cereals, baked goods, and walnut kernels (Purr, 1964). Tarladgis and Watts (1960) employed the TBA test to study MA production during the oxidation of pure unsaturated fatty acids under controlled conditions.

ł.

{

(

In this laboratory, Smith (1966) used the TBA test as a means of following the development of offflavour in frozen raw cauliflower and found a satisfactory correlation between TBA values and organoleptic testing of off-flavour.

Efforts to characterize the TBA pigment have been reported by several investigators. Patton <u>et al</u>. (1951) pointed out the similarity between epihydrin aldehyde and malonaldehyde. They reported that the TBA reactive material from oxidized milk fat was a water soluble, low molecular weight, Kreis positive, carbonyl compound similar to malonaldehyde. In addition, they postulated that malonaldehyde would be strongly acidic, enolic, and relatively stable upon heating with dilute mineral acids.

Kurtz <u>et al</u>. (1951) tentatively identified the compound in oxidized milk fat which reacts with TBA as

33

Tih

malonaldehyde and postulated that the reaction occurred between the monoenolic form of MA and the active methylene group of TBA, followed by ring closure.

Using a spectrophotometric technique, Jennings et al. (1955) suggested that the MA-TBA pigment was formed by an equi-molar reaction without the loss of water. They reported that, although the pigments prepared from TBA and oxidized milk fat, MA and 2-sulfanilamidopyridine, exhibited the same spectral characteristics in the visible range, this did not justify the conclusion that they were identical.

Sinnhuber <u>et al</u>. (1958) prepared the pure pigment from both malonaldehyde and rancid oil (salmon oil). On the basis of elemental analyses, absorption spectrophotometry, and paper chromatography, they concluded that pigments from the two sources were identical and suggested a structure in which two molecules of TBA condense with one of malonaldehyde. This structure was confirmed by Schmidt (1959) (as quoted by Brownley and Lachman, 1965).

More recently, Taufel and Zimmerman (1960, 1961) published results on the chemistry of the colour reaction between TBA and carbonyl compounds. They found that the formation of malonic dialdehyde during oxidation is not

34

confined to the nonconjugated unsaturated fatty acids, but occurs with saturated and conjugated acids. They also reported that the reaction of one molecule of TBA with one molecule of aldehyde gives a colourless compound which is analogous to an aldol. This could further substantiate the reaction proposed by Sinnhuber et al. (1958).

()

(

()

The application of the TBA test to food products has varied widely, with several modifications being proposed by various investigators.

Individual methods of performing the TBA test have been outlined by several investigators (Bernheim <u>et al.</u>, 1948; Wilbur <u>et al.</u>, 1949; Dunkley, 1951; Dunkley and Jennings, 1951; Patton and Kurtz, 1951; Biggs and Bryant, 1953; Sidwell <u>et al.</u>, 1954; Turner <u>et al.</u>, 1954; Caldwell and Grogg, 1955; Sidwell <u>et al.</u>, 1955; Tanaka <u>et al.</u>, 1955; Romero and Gonzalez-Quijano, 1956; Schwartz and Watts, 1957; Yu and Sinnhuber, 1957; Sinnhuber and Yu, 1958; Sinnhuber <u>et al.</u>, 1958; Schmidt, 1959; Palmeter <u>et al.</u>, 1960; Tarladgis <u>et al.</u>, 1960; Munker, 1962; Zipser and Watts, 1962; Tarladgis <u>et al.</u>, 1962; Purr, 1964; Brownley and Lachman, 1965; Smith, 1966).

Tarladgis et al. (1962) classified the method

35

٦٨.

a aliana bata da antara da alianda da

6 m 4

ୁ

under two categories: (a) A solution of TBA in a strong acid is added to the food product, and the whole mixture is heated for periods of 10 to 35 minutes in a water bath to obtain maximum colour development. The red pigment is then extracted with a suitable solvent and measured in a spectrophotometer; (b) The food product is first steam distilled with acid, and the TBA acid solution is added to a portion of the distillate, which is then heated for 35 minutes for maximum colour development. The red pigment is measured directly in a spectrophotometer.

All the proposed methods for performing the TBA test invariably employ the addition of TBA dissolved in acid. The two methods outlined by Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1962) are similar in that they both employ heating of the food at a low pH which is claimed to be essential for the liberation of MA from some precursor, as well as for its condensation with TBA. The differences in the methods employed, however, are many.

Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1960) proposed a distillation method for the quantitative determination of MA in rancid foods using TBA. Their distillation method appears to have advantages in that prolonged heating of the food product is avoided, thus keeping to a minimum any further

oxidative or decomposition changes during the test. The acid-heat treatment necessary to effect the liberation and distillation of MA from the sample is less drastic than that required for maximum colour development with the TBA reagent. Furthermore, only the volatile constituents of the food are distilled over, thus avoiding any possible reaction of the TBA with nonvolatiles in the food. In addition, the acid in the TBA reagent is diluted as equal amounts of the reagent and the distillate are mixed before the heating begins. Finally, when a distillation method is used, the product reacting with TBA does not have to be extracted with solvent, since the MA is obtained in a clear aqueous solution.

Ę

()

()

Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1962) investigated some of the conditions under which the structure of TBA may be altered because of hydrolytic or oxidative changes. They also ascertained the significance of these changes in the quantitative aspects of the test for the determination of MA in rancid foods. They presented evidence from ultra-violet, visible, and infra-red spectra as well as from paper and column chromatography of the various TBA reagents, that the structure of TBA is altered by acid-heat treatment. A more pronounced but similar effect

resulted from the treatment of the TBA with hydrogen peroxide. Some of the degradation products of TBA were found to absorb at the same wavelength as the TBA-MA complex, as do many of the compounds which are reported in the literature to react with TBA. In general, their results indicated that TBA should not be heated with acids or in the presence of oxidizing agents. Their results pointed out that more care should be taken in the running of the TBA test and in the treatment of the blank so that the results obtained are really quantitative for MA in rancid foods.

()

()

()

Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1964) showed that acid-heat treatment is not necessary for the condensation reaction of TBA with MA, or for maximum colour development. They also demonstrated that free MA is produced as a result of the oxidative breakdown of the unsaturated fatty acids of food products, and that acid-heat treatment is not required for the liberation of MA from a precursor. The amount of free MA produced can be measured without acid-heat treatment. The reaction between MA and TBA in water or 90% glacial acetic acid was investigated and the results showed that acid-heat treatment of the reaction mixture should be avoided, since the E_M^{530} of the coloured complex was considerably

affected by the acid. On the contrary, heating without acid accelerated the condensation of TBA with MA without affecting the E_{M}^{530} . As a result of their work they proposed a modification of the distillation procedure (Tarladgis <u>et al.</u>, 1960), in which distillates of food products are reacted with TBA without the use of acid. Smith (1966) noted no significant difference between TBA values obtained with or without acid. Thus he concluded acid was not required for maximum colour development.

1

()

Kwon and Watts (1963) investigated the ultraviolet absorption of MA, as the basis of a new method for its quantitative assay. They reported that MA existed in aqueous solution mainly as the enolic form, β -hydroxy acrolein (CHOH = CHCHO), and that its ultraviolet absorption spectrum was pH-dependent. Below pH 3.0, the compound was believed to be s-cis-, planar, having an intermolecular H bond, with absorption maximum at 245 mµ and molar absorptivity (E) = 1.34 x 10⁴. Above pH 7.0 the compound was completely dissociated and the maximum absorption of the enolate anion occurred at 267 mµ with E = 3.18 x 10 . They suggested that the absorbance difference between acidified and basified MA solutions at 267 mµ could be used as a measure of MA, even in the presence of other compounds that absorb in this spectral

39

١Ņ

region, provided their absorption is not pH-dependent. This difference is directly proportional to MA concentrations from 5 x 10^{-8} M to 3 x 10^{-5} M. They applied this method successfully to the assay of MA in distillates from rancid foods and although its sensitivity was only about 40% of the TBA test, it was sufficient to detect threshold levels of rancidity. They found the test to be simpler, much more rapid, and more specific than the TBA test. These findings on the configuration of MA at different pH's were substantiated in research done by Saunders and May (1963). j)

40

When distillation is employed to separate MA from other food constituents, maximum volatilization, even of free preformed MA, would not be expected at pH values above 3, since the volatile hydrogen-bonded ring form undergoes progressive ionization with increasing pH from 3 to 6.5 (Kwon, 1963), as quoted in Kwon and Watts, 1964). To test this assumption, Kwon and Watts (1964) distilled the same amounts of MA (3.6 x 10^{-6} moles/100 ml) at different pH*s. Below pH 3 recovery of the compound was constant at about 65%, while above pH 6.5 the recovery was negligible. Between pH 3 and 6.5 the recovery depended on the proportions of the volatile chelated form and the nonvolatile enolate anion. They reported

that when extraction, rather than distillation, was used as the initial separation step, water seemed to be an adequate solvent for free preformed MA or its metal complexes. They proposed that the fact that higher yields of MA were obtained in fish by acid extraction or acid distillation was evidence that the acid treatment either produced more MA from a precursor, or that preformed MA was freed from a secondary combination with some other food constituents by the acid treatment. Kwon and Watts (1964) felt that the high correlations between MA content and rancid odours appeared to be limited to moist foods, especially animal tissues. They reported that in the pH range of such tissues, MA produced from lipid oxidation is mainly dissociated into the norvolatile enolate anion, and might conceivably be stabilized against further irreversible reactions by the formation of metal chelates, from which MA can be recovered by acid and heat. In dehydrated foods the MA produced would be expected to be in the volatile chelated form, which would not be held in the food by metal chelation, thus explaining the low MA content of dehydrated foods.

T

T

Kwon <u>et al</u>. (1965) investigated the reactivity of MA with food constituents. They found that free MA is readily converted into its volatile form by acidification

only, whereas both acidification and heating are necessary to volatilize bound MA from its reaction products with proteins. Although Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1960) stated that maximum recovery of TBRS in the steam distillate from oxidized food was obtained only at acidic pH, they also reported preparing simple aqueous extracts from foods for the TBA test (Tarladgis <u>et al</u>., 1964).

T

()

 $(\dot{})$

Kwon <u>et al</u>. (1965) were of the opinion that such a procedure would be useful only in the initial stages of lipid oxidation when insoluble TBRS-protein products are unlikely to occur. From their experiments water extraction could not be considered satisfactory, since aqueous extracts contained only the free TBRS and watersoluble products, but did not include TBRS bound to water-insoluble proteins and other food constituents.

Kwon <u>et al</u>. (1965) suggested that in the pH range of moist foods, especially animal tissues, free TBRS produced from lipid oxidation would not volatilize and that probably hydration of the TBRS alone, as with the MA anion, could lead to the accumulation of the compound at low concentration. When the TBRS concentration in foods increased with advanced lipid oxidation, the anion could react further with amino acids, peptides, proteins, glycogen and other food constituents. If the

TBRS concentration was further increased, binding sites of the proteins may be saturated by the compound. Eventually, cross-linking with the other protein molecules could occur with resultant loss of solubility and recoverable TBRS. The ability of the compound to combine with proteins even at -18°C, as indicated by the <u>in situ</u> formation of TBRS-protein product in frozen tuna, accounts for the fate of some of the compound in the moist food systems.

Ĩ

()

Kwon <u>et al</u>. (1965) concluded that the absolute magnitude of the TBA number produced during oxidative rancidity of a foodstuff depended upon the composition of the lipid contained therein. For the proper use of this index of rancidity, one must take into account the reactivity of TBRS with the food constituents enumerated above, and the conditions necessary for its quantitative recovery. Indeed, the accumulation of the compound through its interaction with food constituents makes this test more desirable than others in assessing rancidity in foods.

The above discussion is predicated on the assumption that the reactions of TBRS are similar to those of MA. However, several lines of evidence suggest that the two are not the same. Saslaw and

Waravdekar (1965) presented evidence, from thin-layer chromatography studies of extracts of irradiated fatty acids, that none of the TBRS was MA. Nevertheless, MA and TBRS were alike in being water-soluble, dialyzable, TBA-reactive, able to react with proteins, and having a pH-dependent volatility. However, with respect to the final evaluation of TBRS as an index of rancidity in foods, the possibility that it may be liberated from an unknown precursor by acidic steam distillation, or that it may be formed by some hitherto unrecognized biochemical mechanism, unrelated to oxidation of unsaturated fats, must be taken into account (Kwon <u>et al.</u>, 1965).

(

()

()

It has been strongly suggested by Kwon <u>et al</u>. (1965) that the prevailing concept that MA is the sole end product of lipid oxidation needs careful re-evaluation.

The TBA assay for lipid oxidation often involved the use of lipid solvents (Dahle <u>et al.</u>, 1962; Tarladgis <u>et al.</u>, 1960). In experiments using the TBA reaction, it was noted by Ho and Brown (1966) that a variety of solvents would, alone, react with TBA. They found that pigments with absorption maxima at 450 and 532 mµ were readily formed from petroleum ether and diethyl ether. Methyl alcohol, ethyl alcohol, chloroform, and hexane reacted, but to a lesser extent. The production of these

MA-like compounds, presumably from contaminants in the solvents, was increased by heating. They concluded that since TBA is a very reactive compound every precaution should be taken in the use of the TBA reaction where lipid solvents are involved. Thus for the quantitative determination of lipid oxidation by the TBA method, not only should acetic acid be purified but the lipid solvents also. They proposed doing this by refluxing the solvent with TBA to obtain purified distillates.

Most workers report values for the TBA reaction in arbitrary absorbance units which, in view of the diversity and empirical nature of the methods employed, cannot be compared from one laboratory to another. Sinnhuber and Yu (1958) proposed the use of 1,1,3,3tetraethoxypropane (TEP) to prepare a standard curve for the TBA determination of MA. Acid hydrolysis of this acetal yields MA which reacts quantitatively with TBA and affords a procedure for the determination of this carbonyl compound. The results of TBA tests on various food products may be quantitatively measured by this method and the degree of oxidative rancidity expressed in milligrams of MA per 1000 g of sample. The use of TEP for a standard curve has been reported by several investigators (Taladgis et al., 1960; Zipser and Watts,

()

()

1961; Tarladgis <u>et al</u>., 1964; Kwon and Watts, 1963; Dahle <u>et al</u>., 1962; Smith, 1966).

T

(

Separation of 2,4-DNPHs by Thin-layer Chromatography

Among the reagents suitable for the identification and characterization of carbonyl compounds, 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine (2,4-DNPHine) has often been recommended and used (Allen, 1930; Brady, 1931; Strain, 1935; Campbell, 1936; Allen and Richmond, 1937; Braude and Jones, 1945; Roberts and Green, 1946; Stadtman, 1948; David, 1949; Neuberg <u>et al.</u>, 1952; Fuleki, 1961; Maruta and Suzuki, 1961; Meijboom and Jurriens, 1965; Smith, 1966; Whitfield and Shipton, 1966).

Pool and Klose (1951) developed a quantitative procedure for the determination of monocarbonyl compounds in rancid foods, based on the formation of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones (2,4-DNPHs) of the monocarbonyl compounds in a crude benzene extract of the rancid food. They found that the carbonyl content of rancid foods did not show any consistent correlation with peroxide contents, the ratio apparently being dependent on the stage of oxidative deterioration and the conditions under which deterioration took place. However, it was a simple accurate method for determining the gross aldehyde

content of rancid foods and was superior to the peroxide test for chemical determination of fat deterioration, since aldehydes contribute much more to off-odours and flavours present in rancid fat than do the relatively non-volatile peroxides.

In the chromatophoric separation of coloured compounds a number of methods have been explored. Earlier research workers used adsorption chromatography on columns, with a number of different substances as adsorbents: talc, alumina, aluminum phosphate, magnesium phosphate, and fuller's earth (Strain, 1935); alumina (Lucas <u>et al.</u>, 1935; Johnston, 1947); silicic acid (Roberts and Green, 1946; David, 1949; Pippen <u>et al.</u>, 1957; Fuleki, 1961); magnesium sulfate (Wahhab, 1948; Stadtman, 1948); Volelay bentonite (White, 1948, 1950); and magnesia-celite (Schwartz <u>et al.</u>, 1962).

More recently, the thin-layer chromatography (TLC) of 2,4-DNPHs of aromatic carbonyl compounds has been reported by Dhont and DeRooy (1961) and DNPHs of simple aliphatic carbonyl compounds have been separated by Rosmos and Deyl (1961). 2,4-DNPHs of hydroxycarbonyl compounds have been separated by Anet (1962). Urbach (1963) reported the separation of mixtures of 2,4-DNPHs of the homologous series of n-alkan-2-ones, alk-1-en-3-ones,

T

alkanals, alk-2-enals, alka-2,4-dienols and alka-2,6dienols on kieselguhr impregnated with phenoxyethanol, and aluminum oxide impregnated with silver nitrate. Denti and Luboz (1965) described a method for the separation of DNPHs of aldehydes and ketones by TLC. Byrne (1965) described the TLC technique for the separation of a 4l mono-, bis-, and tris-2,4-DNPHs derived from simple saturated aldehydes and ketones, unsaturated aldehydes, di-, bis-, and hydroxycarbonyl compounds, and ~-ketoacids. Meijboom and Jurriens (1965) used TLC for the separation of the positional and geometrical isomers of monoenic aldehydes via the 2,4-DNPHs. Schwartz and Parks (1963) separated the aliphatic carbonyl 2,4-DNPHs into classes by TLC.

Whitfield and Shipton (1966) found the volatiles from stored unbleached frozen peas to contain 12 carbonyl compounds: ethanal, propanal, hexenal, pent-2-enal, hex-2-enal, hept-2-enal, oct-2-enal, non-2-enal, hept-2,4-dienal, non-2,4-dienal, dec-2,4-dienal, and propan-2-one. The identifications were based on the thin-layer partition chromatography and infrared, ultraviolet, and visible spectra of the 2,4-DNPHs. These carbonyl compounds were thought to be involved in the formation of off-flavour in frozen raw peas.

48

-

In TLC, the adsorbents employed, their preparation, the thickness of the adsorbent on the plates, the activation of the adsorbent, the solvent system(s) used, and the method of preparation of the 2,4-DNPHine derivatives vary from one worker to another.

(

()

(.)

Anet (1962) used aluminum oxide G (Merck) and silica gel G (Merck) mixed with water in a ratio of l g of adsorbent to 2 g of water as adsorbents. These were applied as slurries, 1.5 min after mixing, with an applicator giving a film of 0.25 mm thickness on glass plates. Some of the plates were air dried and, in some cases, were activated further by drying at 100°C for 2 h. For some separations the plates were deactivated in an atmosphere of 70% relative humidity at 20° C for a few hours. To obtain reproducible R_f values, he indicated that the water content of the adsorbents must be constant, since water lowers their activity. Anet (1962) found that mixtures of toluene and ethyl acetate were the most useful solvent systems. Increasing the proportion of ethyl acetate resulted in increases in eluting power. The mixture used depended on the compounds to be separated, the adsorbent, and its degree of activation. Both one-dimensional and two-dimensional separations were carried out. The developed chromatograms

were sprayed with a 2% solution of NaOH in 90% ethanol, to give intense characteristic colours, the blue or purple colours being apparently specific for the 1,2-bis-hydrazones. Most of the hydrazones were prepared by the general procedure of Neuberg <u>et al</u>. (1952), and dissolved in acetone for application. The mono- and bis-2,4-DNPHs derived from hydroxycarbonyl compounds were chromatographed by Anet (1962).

()

Denti and Luboz (1965) used layers of silica gel G (Merck), alumina G (Merck), silica gel G (Merck) + 25% AgNO₃, and alumina G (Merck) + 25% AgNO₃ at a thickness of 0.3 mm on glass plates. The plates coated with silica gel G and silica gel G + 25% AgNO3 were air-dried for 5 min, then oven-dried for 30 min at 110° C and stored in a desiccator over CaCl, before use. The plates with layers containing AgNO3 had to be kept in the dark. The plates coated with alumina G and alumina G + 25% AgNO_3 were air-dried for 5 min, then oven-dried for 30 min at 110° C and subsequently deactivated for 12 hours by exposing them to air at room temperature and approximately 60% relative humidity. The plates carrying a layer containing $AgNO_3$ were kept in the dark. Several solvent systems were used with the most useful being benzene-petroleum ether, chloroform-petroleum

50

Th

ether, benzene-hexane, and cyclohexane-nitrobenzenepetroleum ether. The plates were developed onedimensionally at a temperature of $18^{\circ}-22^{\circ}$ C and, following development, were sprayed with a 2% solution of NaOH in 90% ethanol, to obtain more easily seen spots (yellow to a more or less dark brown). Special care was taken to standardize the techniques for layer deposition and activation of plates in order to obtain reproducible Rf values. The 2,4-DNPHs were prepared by the method of Brady (1931) and recrystallized twice from methanol. All the data reported by Denti and Luboz were internally standardized $R_{\rm f}$ (formaldehyde) = 1 and they found low concentrations of compounds were best detected on AgNO₃ treated adsorbents.

Byrne (1965) reported the use of silica gel G and aluminum oxide G (Merck) as adsorbents mixed with water in a ratio of l g adsorbent to 2 g of water. These were applied in a layer 0.25 mm thick on glass plates by means of a Desaga spreader. The plates were air dried for 30 min at room temperature and then activated by heating at 110° C for 2 h, or dried without heating. The solvent systems found suitable for the separation of all the DNPHs examined were: $80-100^{\circ}$ C light petroleumdiethyl ether, benzene-tetrahydrofuran, and benzene-

tetrahydrofuran-glacial acetic acid. The plates were developed by normal, multiple, two-dimensional and continuous horizontal development and, following development, were sprayed with ethanolamine to obtain characteristic colours for different classes of 2,4-DNPHs. Most of the hydrazones were prepared from the parent carbonyl compounds by the method of Neuberg <u>et al</u>. (1952). The hydrazones were dissolved in benzene, or dissolved first in ethyl acetate or tetrahydrofuran followed by addition of benzene for application on the plates.

Meijboom and Jurriens (1965) used silica gel impregnated with 30% AgNO3, at a thickness of 0.5 mm on glass plates, for their work on the separation of positional and geometrical isomers of monoenic aldehydes via the 2,4-DNPHs and TLC.

()

()

The importance of having a small starting spot in TLC in order to obtain good resoltuion of the compounds involved was pointed out by Byrne (1965). The relative humidity in the laboratory and/or in the developing chamber has been reported to be significant by a number of investigators. Anet (1962) found a loss of activity of plates took place during handling in hot, humid weather. Geiss and Schlitt (1960), working with polyphenols found the results depended markedly on relative

humidity and that most of the difficulties caused by relative humidity could be overcome by introducing the coated plates into the developing chambers after they had been heated to 90° C. That relative humidity played an important part in the separation of hydrazones was also reported by Badings (1961).

C

()

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

()

 $\left(\begin{array}{c} \\ \end{array} \right)$

Preparation of Material

The beans used in this investigation were obtained from three different sources. Those in Series I were obtained from Green Giant Co. Ltd., Ste. Martine, Quebec, while those used in Series II and III were obtained from the Berlet Fruit Co., Montreal, Quebec. Beans from the A & P Food Store, Ste. Anne de Bellevue, Quebec, were used in the work on the identification of the 2,4-DNPHs.

In Series I the beans were harvested and transported on September 7, 1965 from Green Giant Co. to Macdonald College where they were stored overnight at 1.1°C. In this series, the beans had been previously snipped, while in the other two series whole beans were used. In Series II and III, the beans were processed immediately rather than being stored overnight.

The beans were handled as follows in the three series. They were divided into two lots. One lot was left raw and the other was blanched for 3 min in a cabinet-type steam blancher. This was followed by spray cooling with tap water, after which the material was spread out on paper and allowed to drain for 30 min.

The beans were then placed in 20-oz sanitary cans using 125 g of material per can. After closing the containers the covers were perforated with a single hole to permit evacuation and replacement of the atmosphere, to study the effect of composition of the atmosphere.

The cans were placed in a vacuum desiccator and evacuated, using a Cenco Pressovac 4 vacuum pump, to a pressure of about 0.5 cm in one min and maintained at this level for another 4 min. The vacuum was released slowly with oxygen, nitrogen, or air to provide different atmospheres. When oxygen or nitrogen was used, a slight positive pressure was allowed to build up in the desiccator before lifting the lid, to prevent air getting into the cans. The hole in each can was immediately sealed with solder.

In Series I, the containers were taken to the freezer after each hour of operation and placed on plates at -25° C and held for 24 h after which they were subdivided into 3 temperature groups and stored at -9.4° , -15.0° , and -20.6° C.

In Series II and III, the containers were taken to the freezer after each hour of operation and held at -20.6° C for 24 h after which they were subdivided into

55

ih :

Survey Summer Starter

3 temperature groups and stored at -9.4° , -15.0° , and -20.6° C.

()

()

Initial determinations for TBRS were carried out on the same day as the material was processed and subsequent determinations were carried out at regular intervals throughout the storage period.

Two other lots of material were handled similarly for use in identification of the 2,4-DNPHs.

Organoleptic Tests

Organoleptic tests were conducted on all the samples throughout the storage period on the same day the TBA determinations were carried out. Flavour scores were assigned as follows: "A" good, "B" slightly off, "C" off, "D" very off. These tests were carried out on both the frozen and the thawed material.

Extraction of TBA Reactive Substance

The method of Smith (1966) was used with some modifications for the extraction of TBRS from beans. The first series ran for 76 days. The second and third series were run concurrently using the same blanched material. These series were run for a 42-day period. The procedure used was as follows: 100 g of material were blended with 100 ml of 95% ethanol in a Waring blendor at high speed for 2 min. The slurry was filtered through Whatman filter paper Number 3 in a Buchner funnel, using a vacuum of 3 pounds. The blendor was washed twice with 25 ml of 95% ethanol. These washings were added successively to the Buchner funnel to rinse the residue. When filtration was complete, the filtrate was transferred to a 250 ml volumetric flask and made up to volume using washings of 95% ethanol from the suction flask.

The filtrates were stored for 18 h at 5°C. They were removed from the storage and shaken. An aliquot was taken and centrifuged to remove any precipitate. No dilutions of the filtrate were made.

()

()

The TBA test was carried out using 5 ml of TBA reagent and 5 ml of bean extract. The samples were prepared in duplicate. A reagent blank was prepared using 5 ml of TBA reagent plus 3 ml of 95% ethanol and 2 ml of distilled water. The reagent blank was used to adjust the instrument to 100% T. The sample blanks contained 5 ml of bean extract and 5 ml of reagent, which did not contain any TBA reagent. The sample blank was used to eliminate any natural colour in the system or

colour production during heating which might absorb at 520 mµ, but which was not due to the TBA reaction. The TBA reagent used was made up as follows: 0.67 gm of TBA was dissolved in 140 ml of distilled water and 60 ml of glacial acetic acid. The flask was held in hot water to facilitate solution. In the sample blanks the reagent used was 70% distilled water and 30% glacial acetic acid.

()

()

Absorption readings were taken using a Coleman Junior Spectrophotometer Model 6A. Maximum absorption was found to be occurring at 520 mp on this instrument. However, several other workers have all reported absorption maxima occurring at 530-538 mµ for a number of products (Patton and Kurtz (1951) 532 mµ for oxidized milk fat; Wilbur et al. (1949) 532 mp for oxidized methyl linolenate; Sidwell et al. (1955) 530 mp for oxidized milk powder; Turner et al. (1954) 535-538 mu for rancid pork; Romero and Gonzalez-Quijano (1956) 530 mµ for rancid lard; Sinnhuber and Yu (1958) 532-535 mu for rancid salmon oil; Schmidt (1959) 532 mu for oxidized lard; Khomutov and Garkusha (1960) 531-535 mu for oxidized fats). Thus an oxidized oil sample was used to check the readings obtained on the Coleman Junior Spectrophotometer. This sample also showed a maximum absorption at 520 mp. The same material was

then tested on a Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505 and a Beckman Model DU. Both instruments showed an absorption peak for the sample between 530 and 535 mp. Since the grating on the Coleman Junior Spectrophotometer is not as fine as that of the Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505 and the Beckman Model DU, this difference could be attributed to the difference in gratings. The absorption curve obtained on the Spectronic 505 showed a shoulder at 500 mp, exhibited by the normal curve in this vicinity. This could move the absorption maxima of the Coleman Junior Spectrophotometer to the right.

(

()

(.)

A heating time of 35 min was chosen. This was based on a comparison carried out between fresh material and unblanched material stored at 17.8° C under oxygen for 3 years, to see if the differences between the absorption values of the samples became constant after heating for 30, 35, 40, and 45 min. From these results a heating time of 35 min was chosen. A 35-min heating time was also used by Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1960).

The samples were heated in a glycerine-water bath. The temperature of the bath was set at 100°C. An electric stirrer was used to maintain the temperature of the bath constant at all points.

The reactivity of the lipid solvent used, 95%

ethanol, with TBA was tested according to the method of Ho and Brown (1966).

Most of the results reported in the literature are reported as TBA numbers. The TBA number is defined as the number of mg of MA per 1000 g of material. Since MA could not be detected in the bean samples, this definition does not apply. In this investigation, the TBA number might better be described as the number of mg of TBA reactive substance (TBRS) per 1000 g of material calculated as MA.

A standard curve was prepared as proposed by Sinnhuber and Yu (1958), using known amounts of 1,1,3,3-TEP. On hydrolysis, one mole of 1,1,3,3-TEP produces one mole of MA.

Preparation and Separation of 2,4-DNPHs

As indicated in the review of literature, one of the most suitable reagents for the identification and characterization of carbonyl compounds is 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine (2,4-DNPHine). Thin-layer chromatography has been used for the separation of the 2,4-DNPHs of carbonyl compounds by Anet (1962), Denti and Luboz (1964), Byrne (1965), and Meijboom and Jurriens (1965).

T

1

60

11 ::

and the second second
The use of 2,4-DNPHine has many advantages. Its derivatives are very insoluble in water and can, therefore, be isolated from dilute solutions. They are easily crystallized from alcohol. The relatively high molecular weight of 2,4-DNPHine makes it possible to obtain a reasonable amount of the derivative from small quantities of carbonyl compounds.

()

()

The 2,4-DNPHine was made up according to the method of Neuberg <u>et al</u>. (1952) using 1.2 g of 2,4-DNPHine dissolved in 50 ml of 30% perchloric acid (HClO₄) solution.

The hydrazones examined in this investigation were prepared mainly from the ethanol extracts of the beans. The bean extract was filtered through Whatman filter paper Number 5 under a 5-pound vacuum, to remove any precipitate present. One hundred and fifty ml of the extract plus 50 ml of the 2,4-DNPHine solution were placed in a round-bottom flask and refluxed for 30 min, using a Glas-Col heating unit. After cooling, the material was placed at 5° C for 18 hours. The crystals formed were filtered off, under high vacuum, using Whatman filter paper Number 50, and washed twice using a HClO₄ solution (30 ml of 60% HClO₄ in 220 ml of water). The crystals were then dissolved in 50 ml of acetone.

In some cases the 2,4-DNPHs were made from steam distillates of the beans. Two hundred and fifty g of beans were blended with 300 ml of water in a Waring blendor at high speed for 3 min. The slurry was transferred to a distilling flask, using 100 ml of water. Dow Corning Anti-Foam A was used to prevent any foaming.

()

()

The distillate was collected in a 500 ml flask containing 25 ml of water, the tip of the condenser dipping in the water. The receiver was kept in an ice bath to minimize losses by volatilization. A total of 250 ml of distillate was collected in 30 min. Twentyfive ml of the distillate were stored at 5° C for 18 hours, for the determination of TBRS. The 225 ml of distillate plus 50 ml of 2,4-DNPHine solution were placed in a round bottom flask and refluxed for 30 min using a Glas-Col heating unit. After cooling, the material was placed at 5° C for 18 hours. The 2,4-DNPHs were recovered by the method previously outlined.

The plates for thin-layer chromatography were prepared according to the method used by Byrne (1965). Thirty g of silica gel G (E. Merck, A. G. Darmstadt) were mixed with 60 ml of water. After shaking vigorously for 3 min, the slurry was applied at a thickness of 0.25 mm using a Shandon spreader. The plates were air dried

for 30 min, followed by oven drying at 110° C for 70 min, and stored over anhydrous CaSO, until used.

()

()

The amount of material spotted varied in each series from a minimum of 5λ per spot to a maximum of 15λ per spot. When the plates were to be photographed, a single spot was employed and the chromatograms were developed two-dimensionally using two solvent systems. For identification and comparison work, a number of spots were placed 1.5 cm apart and one-dimensional chromatography using one solvent system was carried out. The solvents were allowed to travel the full length of the plates in both cases.

The chromatograms were developed in Desaga developing tanks, using the ascending technique. In order to achieve saturation conditions in the developing chamber, it was necessary to line three sides of the chamber with Whatman filter paper Number 1. The solvent system was placed in the tanks at least one hour before developing the chromatograms. The tank covers were held tightly in place by several 2-pound lead weights. The temperature of the chromatography room was kept at 20°C.

Several solvent systems were investigated. Chloroform-ethanol (5:1)(V/V), (10:1)(V/V), (15:1)(V/V), chloroform-methanol (10:1)(V/V), (15:1)(V/V), and

64

toluene-ethyl acetate (1:1)(V/V) resulted in very fast movement, but the separation was incomplete. Chloroformethanol (20:1)(V/V) and toluene-ethyl acetate (2:1)(V/V)gave a fairly good separation but still too rapid. With chloroform-ethanol (25:1)(V/V) and toluene-ethyl acetate (4:1)(V/V) the movement was a little too slow for good separation.

()

()

The solvent system found to give the best development of the 2,4-DNPHs from the ethanol extract was chloroform-methanol (22:1)(V/V) and toluene-ethyl acetate (3:1)(V/V). The chromatograms were first developed in chloroform-methanol. After thorough drying the plates were turned 90[°] and developed in the toluene-ethyl acetate.

The chromatograms of the 2,4-DNPHs of the steam distillates were developed using the same solvent systems and the same methods.

Chromatograms of the 2,4-DNPHs from 95% ethanol and 2,4-DNPHine, without bean extract, were developed in the same solvent system. This was done to determine what spots if any, on the chromatograms, were due to these compounds.

Identification of 2,4-DNPHs

An attempt was made to identify some of the 2,4-DNPHs of the ethanol extract of beans, in Series I. The 2,4-DNPHine derivatives were made from ethanol extracts, both blanched and unblanched, stored under the three atmospheres at -9.4°C. These samples were used because it was assumed that they would contain the largest amounts of carbonyl compounds.

Twelve spots of $10 \ rml{n}$ each, were plated 1.5 cm apart and at a distance of 2 cm from the edge of the plate. The chromatograms were developed one-dimensionally in chloroform-methanol (22:1)(V/V) and the solvent travelled the full length of the plate. After drying, the chromatogram was divided into six well-defined areas. The material from each area was then collected and eluted with acetone. Nine plates were developed and treated in this manner, for each sample.

The six elutions were in turn spotted and developed one-dimensionally in chloroform-methanol, to permit collection of the individual chromatogen spots in a pure state. These spots were then eluted with acetone, dried and dissolved in 95% ethanol.

The absorption spectrum of each of these solutions was determined using the Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505.

1

65

TA.

The absorption spectra obtained were compared with those found in the literature for known carbonyl compounds (Braude and Jones, 1945; Roberts and Green, 1946) in an effort to characterize them.

66

An attempt was also made to identify the 2,4-DNPHs from beans by using the 2,4-DNPHs derived from the steam distillate of beans stored under oxygen at -9.4° C for a long period of time, and comparing them with the 2,4-DNPHs of known carbonyl compounds. The 2,4-DNPHine derivatives of acetaldehyde, diacetyl, glyoxal, valeraldehyde, anisaldehyde, benzaldehyde, butyraldehyde, n-hexaldehyde, formaldehyde, hexanal, 1-heptanal, and propionaldehyde, were prepared by adding each compound to a small amount of 2,4-DNPHine solution. After allowing 24 hours for the formation of the 2,4-DNPHs, the crystals were filtered off, washed with water and recrystallized from hot ethanol and water. They were dissolved in acetone for spotting on the thin-layer plates.

The 2,4-DNPHs of the steam distillates were obtained as follows. Two hundred g of beans were put through a meat grinder, while in a frozen state, and transferred to a distillation flask, using 125 ml of water. Four hundred ml of distillate were collected in a 500-ml round-bottom flask. The receiver flask, held

I

Ŧ

in an ice bath, contained 50 ml of water, the tip of the condenser dipping in the water. These measures were taken to minimize losses by volatilization.

(

()

()

The steam distillate obtained was redistilled in an all-glass apparatus, using a fractionating column. The distillate was collected into a receiving flask containing 50 ml of a saturated 2,4-DNPHine solution in $HClO_4$, the tip of the condenser dipping into the solution to prevent losses by volatilization. The distillation was stopped after about 100 ml had distilled over. The solution was stored for 24 hours to allow the formation of the 2,4-DNPHs. The 2,4-DNPHs were filtered off, washed with warm water and dissolved in 25 ml of acetone. This technique is similar to that used by David (1949), Fuleki (1961), and Whitfield and Shipton (1966).

The 2,4-DNPHine solution used in this preparation contained 1.6 g of 2,4-DNPHine per 50 ml of 30% HClO₄. This is in accordance with the suggestion of Neuberg <u>et al</u>. (1952) to use the reagent in higher concentration if it is to be employed for the precipitation of the hydrazine derivative from dilute solutions.

The plates were spotted at a distance of 2 cm from the edge using 15λ of the 2,4-DNPH solutions of known and unknown compounds. The spots were spaced

1.5 cm apart. The chromatograms were developed in toluene-ethyl acetate (3:1)(V/V) one-dimensionally.

(

()

Recovery of Volatiles for Ultraviolet Absorption Studies

An attempt was made to obtain the volatiles of beans using a different steam distillation procedure, in order to study their characteristics. A 100 g sample of beans, stored at -9.4°C under oxygen for 10 months, was blended with 150 ml of water at high speed in a Waring blender for 3 min. The slurry was transferred to a distilling flask using 50 ml of water and acidified with 10 ml of 3 N HCl to obtain a pH of 1.5. The acid pH was used since Tarladgis et al. (1960) found that maximum recovery of TBRS from oxidized food by steam distillation was obtained only under acid conditions. The use of this pH was also advocated by Kwon and Watts (1964). Kwon et al. (1965) stated that free MA is readily converted into its volatile form by acidification only, whereas both acidification and heating are necessary to free the protein-bound MA.

Dow Corning Anti-foam A was used to prevent any foaming. The distillate was collected in a 100 ml graduated cylinder, the tip of the condenser dipping

into 25 ml of water. The receiver was kept in an ice bath to minimize volatilization.

Í.

()

Fifty ml of distillate were collected in 10 min. The distillate was adjusted to pH 1.5 using 3 N HCl since Kwon and Watts (1963) reported that at pHs lower than 2.5 MA exhibited maximum absorption at 245 mµ. The absorption curve was determined from 220 mµ to 520 mµ on the Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505. A water blank adjusted to pH 1.5 with 3 N HCl was used.

Comparison of Steam Distillation and Ethanol Extraction

The two methods of extraction were employed over a period of time in order to compare the results and to see if any correlation were present.

The beans used in this series were obtained locally. They were divided into two lots. One lot was blanched and the other left unblanched. The material was placed in cans and an oxygen atmosphere was introduced by the method previously outlined. The material was held overnight at -20.6° C, following which it was transferred to the -9.4° C storage temperature. Determinations were carried out initially, and after 13 and 20 days. These intervals were chosen since they

69

ih o

allow sufficient time for off-flavour development.

The ethanol extraction method was the same as that previously outlined. Steam distillation was carried out as previously outlined without acidification. In both methods the final volume was 250 ml. An aliquot of 25 ml was used for the TBA test and the remainder used to prepare the 2,4-DNPHine derivatives, using the procedures described previously. 1 .:

70

After obtaining the results of the TBA test, the TBA solutions were run through the Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505, in order to obtain the absorption curves of the solutions over the period of off-flavour development. Absorption curves of both steam distillates and ethanol extracts were obtained.

The 2,4-DNPHs of the steam distillates and ethanol extracts were spotted on thin-layer plates. The plates were developed two-dimensionally using a single spot per plate at a distance of 2 cm from the edge. The ascending technique was employed. The first solvent system was chloroform-methanol (22:1)(V/V), and the second, tolueneethyl acetate (3:1)(V/V).

Photographs of the developed plates were taken. A Polaroid Land MP-3 camera was used at first. The plates were photographed before and after spraying with

\$--\$

a 2% solution of NaOH in 90% ethanol as suggested by Anet (1962). However, the pictures obtained were considered unsatisfactory on the whole.

()

()

(

71

The work was repeated using plates developed as described but omitting the alkaline spray. Satisfactory photographs were obtained using an Ikoflex camera and PX professional 120 black and white film, with photoflood lighting and an exposure of 1/50 at Fll. Colour photographs were taken with Kodacolour X film with an exposure of 1/100 at Fll.

III. EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

()

()

()

2-Thiobarbituric Acid Test

A heating time of 35 min in a glycerine-water bath at 100° C was decided upon after carrying out a comparison of the colour development in alcohol extracts obtained from fresh beans, and alcohol extracts from unblanched beans stored at -17.8°C in oxygen for 3 years. The results are reported in Table 1. This 35-min heating time was found to give good colour development and was therefore employed throughout. Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1960) also proposed the use of a 35-min heating time in a boiling water bath to develop the colour of the TBA complex.

A standard curve was prepared from 1,1,3,3-TEP according to the method proposed by Sinnhuber and Yu (1958) and is shown in Figure 1. The mg of TBRS were estimated from this curve using the 2-log G values for the samples.

Glacial acetic acid was used throughout in the preparation of the TBA reagent at 30% concentration. Although Tarladgis <u>et al.</u> (1962, 1964) criticized the

	(0.3		
Heating time in minutes	Sample stored in oxygen for 3 years	(2-log G) Fresh material	Difference (2-log G)
30	.319	.194	.125
35	•345	.198	.147
40	•385	.240	.145
45	.423	.305	.117

TABLE 1

DETERMINATION OF HEATING TIME FOR THE TBA REACTION

use of acid in the preparation of TBA reagent, the writer felt that better colour development was obtained with the use of acid. Also since an acid blank was employed the side effects of the acid would be cancelled out.

TBA Experiments on Stored Beans

In Series I the TBA test was used for the analysis of blanched and unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen and air at -9.4° , $\sim 15.0^{\circ}$, and $-20.6^{\circ}C$. The results are reported in Tables 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 and plotted in Figures 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7. The values obtained at the 3-, 6-, and 9-day intervals in Series I were excessively high. This is likely due to improper



مقدوناه والقسقية

								TABLE	2						
	EFI	FECT	OF	STORAG	E TEMP	ERATURI STOREI	E ON T D UNDE	BA NUM R. OXYGI	BERS AL EN, SEI	ND FLA RIES I	VOUR O	F UNBL	ANCHED	BEANS	
Store	age						S	torage	time :	in day	S				
ture	oC	Init	ial	. 3	6	9	12	15	18	21	27	34	41	48	76
- 9.	.4	1.0	DOA	2.18A	1.55A	1.64A	1.47A	1.52B	1.54C	1.530	1.53D	1.51D	1.51D	1.56D	1.57D
-15.	0	1.0	AOC	2.69A	1.72A	1.48A	1.46A	1.47B	1.530	1.530	1.56D	1.55D	1.58D	1.53D	1.56D
-20.	6	1.0	AOC	3.18A	1.74A	1.32A	1.03A	1 . 26B	1.24B	1.26B	1.220	1.35D	1.34D	1.36D	1.42D
<u></u>	Fla	vour	sc	ores:	A = g	ood;	B = s.	lightl	y off;	C =	off;	D = 7	very o	ff	

 \sim

TABLE 3

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER OXYGEN, SERIES I

Storage				Storag	;e time ir	n days			
tempera- ture oC	Initial	6	12	18	27	34	41	48	76 ·
- 9.4	0.78A	0.86A	0.71A	0.78A	0.77A	0.73A	0.73A	0.73A	0.68A
-15.0	0.78A	0.75A	0.71A	0.67A	0.70A	0.76A	0.75A	0.71A	0.69A
-20.6	0.78A	0.93A	0.67A	0.71A	0.78A	0.75A	0.78A	0.74A	0.73A
Fla	vour score	es: A =	good; B	= slight	ly off;	C = off;	D = ve	ry off	

C 77	<u></u>			<u>و</u> ب		5	T		555	1.1	T			1					Tion-	1	ार जन्म			<u>pere</u>	, ()	*	1		-	1	<u></u>	1	1	1.2.2		1 -1-1-1	T					r ⁱ	<u>.</u>	Ţ
						<u>Si</u>				齳				围				1.51	辪					6								- 5											ļ	
									围	E						Ĩ	ļļ.							il s	ι.									8.5							· [· · ·			_
			ļ÷.															1 E				7 1												-						-				_
		誦	i i										11				59		65					德				纽	日時	160					grill.		1.1							
			Ð.						<u>ê</u> it					100		<u>i</u> ti	誹		陸				<u>ĝe</u>						66					5.5	11.2		6.							
	Ē		E		6	Ē			運	i.								伯										¦																
	ij.								۵						l ri															e cie			13€						朣					
			E					Ť.	日		Ð		胞				山		ЦĻ					副				臣		朣	H.E	15					ŧ.		199					
			H	L .	0	15			•	ii:					2		5			}	-	1-1	- <u>C</u>		-	0	-		0								=	=	-	+ \$				-
			ЕÌ,			ήł						0	The	6					謓				開	国					15			围						[c-]		-				
		r Fr			4		F		/				i Eir irri					여					-						4				1963	中总			曲	t i						T
Ē	Ħ		臣			æ		1	H-1		H			4-	5	72	3	ήĤ					44			1-s		1			670	14						EFE						
			E.	L •	2	1	Ĩ		/	\mathbf{F}	7															計算													庸	膨				1
		RS				Þ						\$					ці.			1.						FS																6.3		
		Ë		L.	θ-	曲			PH	i i		朝													Li.																			
		F۲			Ŧ.				H4			邗					÷Ę,		H													[6]		6.6	用	E.	菌		雨	1	围	12.2		Ì
		\circ		Э.	8	<u> </u>			臣			拼		臝			ET.	計算	山																						庙			Ì
		g				印			ЪĤ		л.	群						1																			TE:			福				t
		11		Э.	6	49						井井							Π¢.				日															冊						
			E.							F									E1				FIII							E B		5			-t					6	H H		<u>li</u> r	i
				Э.	4	30																												– •				-	-9-	4	1			i
						鬪											<u>I</u>			115									1.5	25							0		± 5-	θ [≃] (
				Э.	2			-																												-	A -		20-	6 ≚(}			1
Ħ													H.																								197.3							
H H				9.	0) - H			3 년년 4년년	9 1 1 1 1	1 0			1994		20	-2- 35	noų. Vied			2				1	6			5	6			6	5			7	<u>6</u>	<u> </u>					Ť
						Н-Н					Ť			105						- 	Ŧ	M	ال ا الا		<u>т</u>	M		n	<u>_</u>	Ψ.				Ĭ				¥		+				
													<u>9315</u> 101							-	+									1								<u>101</u> 년동	<u>9.22</u> 21-12		<u>(195</u>			-
		neit Feis				Fi	g		2.		Ŧ	f f	ec	ţ	of_	_\$1 3	to	ra	ţe.	te	эфį	pe	ra	tur	e_	φn	TB	A_ 1	hum	þei	s_	φ£	un	þl a	ncl	hed	↓-b	ear	ns_			1 <u></u>	6-	-
世	<u> </u>	曲	臣	<u>t</u> †!			垣	4	<u>tit</u>	官	\$	co	re	μ. 1	ync	1¢1	r	$\mathbf{o}\mathbf{x}$	γge	۶n,		>e	r_1	FS.	μ.	1		1				ri	100		<u>teri</u>	1.34	<u> </u>	133	<u>4</u>	<u> 165</u>	<u>q:::!</u> :	<u>Fi</u>	11	4

.

)																				•													(;		
田田	TE	目	曲		围		翦		曲	雨		邗	iiii		曲	闘	E.			間	11		ST.			39					łeg.							45
	限				围		١.	聑													讎				ŝą				ĿЙ		199							-H
						齨	樹							耕				朝			詽	44		15	Ξĝ			걸려	86.									
		TH	钳		国		迅					HB	曲			調調	68	H-(Б.	5 id	时	掛			193		μH)			115-1	h S			-96				
目前			89	樹	88	油	団	計	闘	HH.	逆			33				調			<u>1</u>	陆	HB.			1		44			油油						Çф.	
翻調	曲		麒		围		闼		闄		të F			哥	四	旧	闼		田	田			邸															
田山		• 6	白白			ŧΒ				計) E f															部	
田田	撺	6	斑		11	開	群			田	簱		徣	曲	灦		韗	睅				E B	山		趣	扣	白		南		191 1		担		84	報題	a the second se	
開調		E-0	印	山	開	臣	山		田				讲			詣	樹		肼	朝	斟		中										<u>E</u> E					
朝井		围			曲	臣	斟							莊	串		韢	田	詳		辯		瞱				田		国	闄						血		1ĒŦ
		•	田	铅		i fri	田井			はは	曲	雷	甜	商	拱		戡		語音		詽							副	臣臣	韵			留				菫	部
		5			甘井	即	朣		白苔		凷		餌		掛		串		鸖				瞱				28	樹	園		囸			樹				
Hà			ЭÐ.	詽	斟	門	麒		Ħ		副		哥	迅	趣	甜	韵		8-B.		詩					調件			门		部						調	計
田市			專	潮	闼	田	譾		康		<u>e i</u>			車	日																		i ii		臣任		闯	
E E	調題			爵	Δ	南	蕸	計	翧	围		詽趶				翻					ŝ					-				副					94		部	調
	退	8	闼	躢	•	瞱	臣		麒	曲			趣			品	遊				时	樹	趣		甘		題	跑	國								调	
				99.49 19.49	-		- 9					4.1				8						<u>}</u>							9 Q		1314454	najan) L	S_			周		
開き	野		翻	愚	围	印			副	0	樹		<u>1997</u>	勏	<u>di</u>		甜	計			法法	極度	强			di)	<u>1945</u>										趣	
	世		選			団	閗	斑	曲	串		離	野	副	翹			間	掛	間到			脚					걸					23			韵	開	韻
		更		雦	闘	問	斟	啦			群	譿	莊		翧	围	翻	围	菣		副		围			詽			國		围	9	10	C		<u> 19</u>	退	
出出	职		1 <u>7</u> 3	印	围	蹰				印		趶	莊		甜			瞶	間				臣	運		聁	- 0		88		<u>#8</u>	75	00	- €	-133		말랐	
	旧		理				国				理		塵	瑚					朣		斑	町	聑	阳	遐	19		頿	17-22	<u> </u>		20	60	G				
日日日	Ĩ		231												邗月			印辞		圍		豈	创									~~						鮒
				協	閉	湖	鼲	間	調	帀		韬	영화	朝	国	调	133		围	朝	i de	周期	85		ΗS.						÷							
			<u>Þ</u>	樹	⑬	1	Þ		33	20	p ⊣⊧∣	羂		3	þ	30		4	Þ			50	Þ			60	Þ	· ,		70	Þ.		1 					
	抑狂		臣	瞤	围				臣	雦	日			T+	L _ №	E		I.I	N		D	A	r s				664	<u>ij</u> ()	e.e		<u>168</u>	isti	F ₂₀	d di				
	瞄		Fi	E.	3.		Eff	ec		\mathbf{f}^{\parallel}	sto	\mathbf{r}_{a}	re-	te	npe	\mathbf{ra}	Lur	e_	bn_	TB.		um	ber	s(f_{f}	bl:	hnc	he	1_t	ear	ns-	st	pre	d_		22		
開始	間題				16th		und	er	ох	уg	en,	S	ēri	es	Î				目		樹		<u>Ci</u>										333					
世祖	旧社	間					围	副		臣		翻	ET.		印印		随		膨	調視								집값							· · ·			
開開	旧道	齨		掛		臣	i de la	瞄	E	計	<u>lei</u>		臝	臣前	ET						<u>iĝ</u>														N ₁₁	<u>.</u>		

.

אבטדיבו א ג אבטדיבא כי א צ

E	FFECT OF	STORAGE	TEMPI	ERATURI STOREI	E ON TI D UNDEI	BA NUMI R NITRO	BERS AL	ND FLA SERIES	VOUR O	F UNBLA	ANCHED	BEANS	
Storage	*, <u>_,_</u> ,_*_				S	torage	time :	in day	S				
ture oC	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	27	34	41	48	76
- 9.4	1.00A	1.83A	1.32A	1.71A	0.93A	1.04A	1.37B	1.38B	1.37B	1.37B	1.380	1.40D	1.400
-15.0	1.00A	2.88A	1.48A	0.96A	0.92A	1.10A	1.2 6B	1.21B	1 .2 6B	1.240	1.220	1.220	1.210
-20.6	1.00A	1.69A	0.89A	0.87A	0.71A	0.90A	1.04A	1.04A	1.04A	1.05B	1.04B	1.07B	1.04B
	avour sco	res. A	= 000	nd• I		ight]v	off	C = c	 ∋ff∙	D = ve	erv of	р 	

TABLE 4

TABLE 5

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER NITROGEN, SERIES I

Storage				Stora	ge time i	in days			
tempera- ture oC	Initial	6	12	18	27	34	41	48	76
- 9.4	0.78A	0.96A	0.71A	0.74A	0.69A	0.79A	0.72A	0.68A	0.75A
-15.0	0.78A	0.92A	0.74A	0.71A	0.69A	0.72A	0.78A	0.75A	0.72A
-20.6	0.78A	0.79A	0.68A	0.65A	0.73A	0.69A	0.73A	0.67A	0.66A
Fla	vour score	es: A =	good; B	= slight	ly off;	C = off;	D = ve	ry off	

1

78

` **-**.

																																				1	<u>\</u>		
		<u>.</u> Ючн	圃									闘		ind 1911		193				199-																[ka]			
		團						围	關					斟		围																t si				应应			
						56							臣	는 민준						89				<u>89</u>		8g	-334					$\dot{a}\dot{a}$	an t	23				일을.	
由	斟	運				澍								193	周	南			<u>.</u> 16	93												副		<u>89</u>					
					162			89				垨科		88					19	89 19					Sigi								44						
亩		E.	ТŊ						म	鼲																	99			635				. la					
读 异												344														999. 1999:				1934	1		<u>99</u>						
		闀	12	<u> </u>					團																			ΈĒ.				36				N.			3
	557		÷Ð						園														:: () :: ()		금락			23				93		36.				- 7	
						0										-31				F-1		244				66													
			•4	98	同				13		•	0		0					:66	C	1999		0			29 9	신다				393		$\lambda_{i,k}$	- o				i i	
44	BRS									-33 J	6	0		-0	i de la composición d Esta enclara de la composición de la com	in the	0							10 DC		111111 111111								-0					
23	E -		• ~	- 4						1		Fic.				<u>198</u>				Щ.				- 5				43				`÷∳						190	
)F					199				3		5			1.1		Δ			Δ.			Δ											-					
			-0	\sim			~		1					330		995														-		i.a.		· · .					
	NG	-11		34		<u>A</u>	4		666			54		193					E				-993			24	- 44	i.H	Sigr		sith	ыğ.	444	1993	-935	(479) (479)		i in	
		Ē	}-8	83					192	83			3:1		ц.,					342								33				-							
臣			雨									19B		11		部		693		53	调																		
			-0			跱											伟直									<u> 19</u>					s î l			H g		i c			
								臣臣						13F					([]]		-13											<u>i i i</u>		0					
			-4	88																i de la		984	计		1373	33		(ـــــد ا		 ر		9-						
		部		2.6		識										63	调				E E	िंदे		i de la composition de la comp				(- (ti IV	<u>-</u> 1	う・)=(/0,					
			-2				團			23						123		114	调	199						1)	2	θ-	p=6					
	崩									1933						1-91		副		E B							19	600	-			t e							
莊		tin (}-0	p,			1	þ			2	p :	1.2.1	1944	3	þ		論	- 4	þ			5	p			6	p			7	C							
	開		66	88	İ										T	I I	E		I	N.		D A	Y	S				<u>Se</u>									·		
				F	i o	<u> </u>		F.f.			f	at a	re	7 0	t 0	mn	Inn	+ 11 -	Δ	hn	ΨP		11m	her	e e	h	<u>11</u> 2	h1-	nc		h								
							Hin.	sto	re	d i	ind	er	ni	tro	ge	n,	Se	rie	S	E i				1901						ueu		- <u>a</u> 1	<u>.</u>				79		
												關																				ç				ii			
	And a second second				1		1.1.2.2.2.2		A 1 4 4 4 4					 Interfactor 					1.1.1.1.1.1	1							1. A.	1.1.1.1.1.1					1.1.1.1		4	4 1.1.1.1			

.

KENELER & ESSER CO. N. Y.

. . .

-<u>--</u>--

.

							刵	肼				山井						B		<u>er</u>			1994	<u>i</u>		196		ng di							
																				<u>i E</u>															
								鸖				55				圃						- 19	1994 1994												
				d is				671						選		时															i lig				
	88 Ar		-1+1	86	街街	抽			alait.	时间				84	승규	33		1 T	臌	τų.			ria. Far												24
	国历	6.64								部	- 55	主							68	臣		88		193		招	朣	l:ii		注					
		间						抑			韻	38		ョ									33										63		
	國语				围			田	屈	面		由			曲		訪	鸖						围		樹			揠				35		
O					褟						邗	田		也	周	園		串	誦		翻				职			Ħ1			雷	물문			
				语					11	捆			围	团				斟	围	趐		湗		语音	韻										
	建電			臣	浙	田		印		詽			朝						田						高			詞		÷ 6				新	
	調調		鼎	BE	泪			翧				周				斟				翩					191	1858					1101。 2月11				
		開	迅	白	計						詽	田		Б÷;				韻			辯			22		<u>1</u>							調	招告	
DERG																83																			
		0			當					Ha		諨	11												신신										
6 O O	調査				詽				闄	39	園	剧		围			商	85	蘏	樹										<u>Ei</u>					
			-				<u></u>	村也	물극	· · ·		1465	0			Å	ie.	1990) 19	0	tilig.	33		dia 1	94.9	49	<u>ine</u>			<u> </u>	-3					許
N N N					諧	耕	Δ	БЯ Ц			naka i	jarnaj.		- 		1 1-2-1-1		24-14 24-14	8_		117. 171. 171.			14-14 14-14	स्तर सन्दर			1201		hs					
	幽南			鄩	奲			封								誧	翻	揖	掛						樹	詽			문왕				論		
	感毒	南						斟	調	斜		選		斟		麒	諨	闘	諱	斟		11 1	ТБ)		9.1				0	, 0				<u>B</u>	
								群		閧		<u>t</u> ii		鸖	邗	井井			詛	191									5	0	Ĺ				
	创建		訆		串			選	田	뙘		灌	邗	閧	鼦	山			13				<u>19</u>	Ň	집관	ies.	Ň.	134	5.	60	Ĺ				
			澎											臣臣			副					<u>B</u> H	卻		11				20.	0	ſ				
	國政	開閉	Hq		爵	阆	<u>19</u>	財	樹	韬		樹			영화					1001. 10077	围				414					्य	관련				
	p ::::::	国法	1	0			2	0			:: 3	0		94	1	0			5	0			6	0			. 7	0							
	中中市		朣			麛		甜	掛	憅	r I	M	\mathbf{E}_{\parallel}		I	N	韻	\mathbf{D}	A Y	S	tig.				睛		相	64		173	譋			23	
	Fig.	5.	E	$\mathbf{f}\mathbf{f}$	ect	0	ິ່ງ	to	rag	e	ten	pe:	rat	ur	e c	n	ГВА	i n	umt	er	s c	\mathbf{f}	pla	ncl	ned	b	ear	s	stc	re	la 🗄	ç	B		
			ų	nd	∍r	ni	tro	ge	h,	Se	ri,e	S			E F	撞	国	ЦЦ Ц	睴	問	闘		哥	眰									563		
			÷Ľ,			进										皆日		时		樹								28							
		(<u>a</u> g			山			聠		冉		闾	臣臣	闘		i II	南			. 21															

KENLEEL & CO CO N. K

:

 \frown

EF	FECT OF S	STORAGE	C TEMPI	ERATURI STOI	E ON TH RED UNI	BA NUMI DER AII	BERS AN R, SERI	ND FLAV IES I	VOUR OI	F UNBLA	ANCHED	BEANS	
Storage					St	torage	time :	in day:	5				
ture oC	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	27	34	41	48	76
- 9.4	1.00A	1.78A	1.31A	1.42A	1.14A	1.07A	1.26B	1.26B	1.26B	1.370	1.43D	1.44D	1.46D
-15.0	1.00A	2.21A	1.40A	1.14A	1.09A	0.99A	1.23B	1.25B	1.270	1.30D	1.32D	1.30D	1.34D
-20.6	1.00A	2.114	1.42A	1.31A	1.16A	1.04A	1.14B	1.15B	1.200	1.180	1.190	1.180	1.160
Fla	avour sco	ores:	A = gc	ood;	B = sI	Lightly	/ off;	C =	off;	D = 1	very of	f	

TABLE 6

TABLE 7

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER AIR, SERIES I

Storage				Stora	ige time ir	ı days			
tempera- ture ^o C	Initial	6	12	18	27	34	41	48	76
- 9.4	0.78A	0.93A	0.71A	0.77A	0.56A	0.79A	0.67A	0.68A	0.79A
-15.0	0.78A	0.86A	0.74A	0.69A	0.69A	0.68A	0.77A	0.73A	0.78A
-20.6	0.78A	0.99A	0.75A	0.71A	0.76A	0.67A	0.67A	0.73A	0.67A
 F1	avour scoi	res: A	= good:	B = sliø	htly off.	G = of	ידי D =	very off	

ورجانا ومستسبب والأنط فالا عاقبت وتقلق

.

Ц8

(

団		F			間	围			印	闘						副		ing Sig	- 361					34					10										
Ηİ.				樹		闘							묌	铒			間							idii. 111		19						63							
				樹						89		ΕĦ.																233			: :								
闼		謝	団	邗				题	朝	膨				83		團		73				e ir	356		5.6							혵		ES.				清朝	掘
						19		錮	油					냈				59			i la f				朝	68	34												
臣			3	54		調												ιda.							間		48												
			••			胡花								293			10	17						i.															
				-8		谢											<u>he</u>					83	88). 1993			揻		632						4				25	
			-0-	<u></u>				副											문				<u>19</u> 34		1943 1943			<u>1</u> -1.			199	88							
					田						時					55				6				cej)	ice:									•				100	
			•4	98		6 -		朝				28				극복	0				353			146	44							200	111	-0					
		85		油						123	0	\$	\leq	-0		an)	-0 -	-33	13	28			<u>0</u>				435	nie											
			-2-				0	6			R A	4		<u> </u>			-	· · · · · ·		\wedge			<u>A</u>											₽			50		
	3RS			63					E	5	-											Ця																	
	-Fi	.	-0-	÷Ę.	i de la com	Е. Ц			i i	出身								56		<u>.</u>																			
	E			雷								81				38		'nΒ	-94							28		部員		部的				<u>. 385</u>				114	
		+0	-8	333	HE-																								i, i										
	MG									国		5.5				Ē						88						12						ы Ц	1144			<u>с</u>	
		0	•6-	<u>.</u>												695	ifii		33	ЦĞ				24															
0.0		1.13		<u>.</u>	H ii						-94			- Tridair		39				÷.F.	5.	00									:			. 0					
		-0	-4-	-19										Earl								1.3						— (}	<u> </u>) -		-9-	4 <u>~</u>	C				
		ЬÐ			-61			76 H											H.										<u> </u>	(15	00	G—				
		-0	-2-					8.5	i i d							4.3	전하											-4			<u></u>		20-	6 -	G —				
Erti					194					- C		<u>, 9</u>							30																				
e a		-0	.0			i de tete	1	5		india:	20)			30)			40	5			5(5			60	5			70	5							
		ΗB								ies.					 Тр	M	ਸ	6.8	Τ	M		п.	<u>م</u>	r s															
								2-0		協力	<u>1997</u> - 1997				±		<u>بد</u> ز.ب:																					<u></u>	
				$ $ \mathbf{F}	ig-	6	•	Ef	fe		of-	st	ora	ge	-te	mp	era	tu T	re-	on	-TI	BA	nur	nbe	rs-	of	l-ui	1bl	and	he	d-t	þea	ກຣ-			<u>, et s</u>	3		
												LGT	<u>a</u>			• <u> </u>	<u>3</u>									<u>- 문</u>					· · ·						<u></u>	<u></u> [1년년]	
																													<u>i de la</u> e dese										

7

KEUFFEL & ESSER CO. N.Y.

 \sim

								35			1 4.141 1. UQI 1. UQI																			
					. 180 1900												ioter itter			ioni. Vitil				:12 				5		
-	11.																										- 8	3		
							.517 					83											- - -							
																									•	333		bg		
	2000 1991					阀				韻			l bice): Qui r		citat 1993		Ci Ci	∮		0	+ 0 0))					ore		
						11														- c								st		
			ad 참고			遡		部		部	ictor Scittor		idari Hist		paist Taisi							,	1		0		दर्द - म्	ns		
:																3)(6			pea		
			400.7 1973 -							88													- 53. 2007		.:		147 1493	Ø		
					325		35	जाते इत्यू															<u>,</u>			- E		che		
		333			0000. 2002	뼚	<u>68</u>				12557 1915		otitje) udžive												0		i dirin DCC	a n		
					관람						67. 1																	<u>a</u>		
:						133				3Ê										12								of	1207 1775.	1909) 1909)
				臣																						<u>ہ</u>		۵. ۲۱		
				闘				湖								虚									20	X		u De		
			33																							A	1	กัน		
					認		<u>部</u>									-(9		B A		
								.::::: 																				F -		
ſ						应					湖						0	19							9	N N		ō		
			t.o		<u>1955</u>		<u>89</u>																olisti. 2007 - 2007 -					0		
				333									19. 													E	iter.	9 5		
					6.729. 21.329 21.329					33) 							0						22.30 	<u></u>		×		er		
		1551			38 						566 13-4	15-6.				1334 15			3668) 1999 - 1999	58					000	н		lu e		
				2000) 2002 1200 1200													4	d	G		음문 위문	1.000 1.000 1.000 1.000 1.000				F		+ + +	 	
			(BE) Trees	928 1959		PEEL mo t e	ran i. Mitte	8.84 1.000		166		1958) North		1993). Htteler	1393 577 - 5	-6-8 			l::E		(drb) Tritor						- 55 	60 ·	5 <u>-</u>	
				10-0 1000			1111 1.000		<u>, 199</u> 1000			:#3 :#8							tite tite		arter artific							10	5	
				1410 1720			영방 도파		地址		地数 行金数	200) 2007			dda Geo			165 110			istici Tala	19世 1997	ttii Tir	1825) 1963	8			ທັ		defini Secto
				1200 1200	ing Taga												0 <	þ				anda 1956				indri:	i 1993 Jacobi	Ч, Ч	[
					対			niti Nota				1111. 1530	1211. 1755								lifte 1776	ittiği Tatlır						10		
				itata). Ngang			licitei Licitei								ita. Ett		×.			다. 고급:								сн 7 Сн 7	1	
		patié: Listoi		papi Tria		prick). Typic:							ndi. Grad			papa: 1977							isidd. Tafw	uite Ieta	음		ndar 1955	<u>ы</u> :	5	
																	╞╢╴									9-14-		~	i a za Izrazy	ः स्टब्स् स्टब्स्
XE															20		$\ $		1943 2017								intri Etti	50		
UFFE	на Проф		1993) 1993		11.C (133)		-333	田田						1433 1335									u din Natio					art (Ta)		
۲ م			1940 1949			1995 1995		1999) 1999)		ncais: Stati			1929 1929		1000 N 600			1.00 1.233	<u>ا</u>	1000 1999)/100 + +		v t.		0					
ESSE					1979										-		5)		6	1997 1997				
ີສົ່										999 1999	1990) 270			\$ময	L -	E.		DW											.4.19 1956	
							12																							
Υ.	ttti	<u></u>	<u>1371</u> 2	<u>1:11:</u>	t >+++	HH	tith:	i:th	1-++-	<u>ti+ti</u>	1444	- <u> -</u> - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	tidiki	t tic t	Her-He		1::	1:1-1-1-1	tititi:	Itti	- <u> -</u> -	<u>rrt</u>	tette	<u>1997</u>		Li ju	14-1-14 1	<u>H 11</u>	Hereig	

ł

ĩ٨

mixing of the reagents before taking the spectrophotometer readings, with the result that these readings were taken on the more densely coloured solution at the bottom of the colourimeter tubes. Thus while the 6- and 9-day values for Series I are shown they were not used in plotting the results. A comparison of the results for oxygen, nitrogen and air is found in Table 20 and plotted in Figure 20.

(

In Series II and Series III the TBA test was used for the analysis of blanched and unblanched beans stored under oxygen, nitrogen and air at -9.4° , -15.0° and -20.6° C. The results are reported in Tables 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13, and Tables 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19, for Series II and Series III, respectively, and plotted in Figures 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13, and Figures 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19, for Series II and Series III, respectively. A comparison of the results for oxygen, nitrogen and air is found in Table 21 and in Figure 21 for Series II, and in Table 22 and in Figure 22 for Series III.

Storage					Storage	time i	n days				
tempera- ture °C	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.95A	0.97A	1.17B	1.28C	1.38D	1.45D	1.53D	1.53D	1.54D	1.52D	1.52D
-15.0	0.95A	0.95A	0.99A	1.13B	1.200	1.33D	1.34D	1.35D	1.34D	1.29D	1.32D
-20.6	0.95A	0.96A	0.88A	0.97A	1.05A	1.15B	1.26B	1.21B	1.250	1.24C	1.240
-20.6	0.95A	0.96A	0.88A	0.97A : B =	1.05A slight	1.15B	1.26B	1.21B	$\frac{1.250}{D = ver}$	1.24C	

TABLE 8

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF UNBLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER OXYGEN, SERIES II

TABLE 9

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER OXYGEN, SERIES II

Storage			Stora	.ge time i	n days.		
tempera- ture °C	Initial	6	12	18	28	35	42
- 9.4	0 .6 5A	0.61A	0.56A	0.61A	0.60A	0.60A	0.60A
-15.0	0.65A	0.65A	0.58A	0.62A	0.62A	0.60A	0.60A
-20.6	0.65A	0.66A	0.59A	0.55A	0.60A	0.59A	0.59A
Flavou	r scores:	A = good;	B = slight	ly off;	C = off;	D = verv off	

																															_					:	}		
围													闘	樹		訷				曲												89g.							
雨		臣		强				團		1B						樹																						1-91	
	同	28									- 741		66					團			山谷		副				÷					13							
	雨											巓		184			調	64		読得		j: E				88								- eq					
康				(注)		80		剧	112	83			144		ála).	1994		84	: Hat		-10	部	181							Ц.		:der	191	:A.).					
Ē				88	相																			膨						i H			Ш÷,						
			5-8						35	間						計算						朝												韓祖					
			顾	園								翦								顶	99			F-				翩		1933	潮	詽							
			-0-								6	-0			0											韻						調							
lit.				謿								14	记员	部				E:f				Ę.																	
			4					1	li hi		0	0			0						30																		
					Hit		10		1		Δ	H.			Δ	a.e.		2								1.5										53			
		23				9	0	1		5		部	i i i											· · · · - ;															
	RS	1:56		8.8	1	1		1 A	\checkmark						53															199									
	E		-0		10	0	A																															i set	
	E	53				15			46			H		5.4		周日		園								康	5					BB							
		-(.8													部								台目												1944			
	g	рÈ)														BB.			油油	<u>Eur</u>				22					r E.i										
			1.6															34						33				39											
					itti				H F	Ē		訩				齳						13							88	194				.0					邗
臣		(1-4		翻								南	掘				訷								田山					°			4	6	1218			
雇	南		듉	88		園	南																				164				0 		15	20	6-			b.j	
	南		1.2	89				南				訪	副	-8-8		2.H	<u>1</u> 21		걸음											1 A.	<u></u> _		20	-0	6				
										镇						1.33													191										
			}. 0	b - ;	諊		1	0			20	D			30	5		200	4	þ			50	Þ			60) : : :			7)							
	南			南		協				協					T.	ĘΜ	E		Ţ	N		D	Α	ŢΞ		拍		E S		પ્રકો		24				12:13			1日
				F -1		l a				阗	f		2				2				ΠD		lin				un		nol								20		
			廍					sto	re	a i	nd	er	ox	ýge Vge	n,	Se	ri	es.	II					間															
										臣								14-11																					
		18.H												F.F.																	 		151						
<u>territ</u>		1.1.1.1	1	1	+	1	<u>Littl</u>	1000-04	<u>u tr</u>	1.11	<u>e e e e e</u>	<u></u>	<u> 111111</u>	J		L	فتقت	1	<u>urani</u>	<u> </u>	Little		1	I	1	L	لمنتنا		للنسله	<u>ا</u> مب ا	L			L	أستشمط	1 <u></u>	Line and	التشييب	لتستبيه

a.e. •

.

.

- - - - -

. . . .

.

KENFFEL & EVALA CS. N. Y

. -

.

詯	詽			걸음.				翻				詽			愇	謝		闀			盘	詇																	
町	瓹															巐				臣			臣						집광									198	
				84														齨	iθ.	<u>88</u>				88															
				樹		69	Ha	阆	帽			88	H.			閲		膨	1433	EE.		鼮					98			ÉĘ.		(iii)							
					锁	招		松井		ΠĤ:	र्वत	印		铀			樹			頿	樹	出計	<u>111</u>	前幕						응더	김영		аў.						
		<u>s</u>	đ	84																		<u>該</u> 自										88				194			
		誦				調												111																					
ц†						蓈				田	串				勘	翻						άŬ	韴				H.											l i i	
		品	•0	日日		留	语				詽				副	翻	1 d	訪	部				韻				김희							144					
			- 43	团				H			訊		山	围				国			汕	辧	祖			<u>E</u>													
	-t	前	-4-			88			潮	扭												荷																	
					朝			围			崩	謓									詞			蘏								te l						8.9	1.50
翦		訪	•			24					拍				計	围							讀																
	BRS			88		6H										<u>is</u>												5		10						1.5			
	Ē	虚	-0-																											1995 A									
	E							協								13														<u>191</u>									
			-0-								祖祖														33														
	R		†: ;			8			114	1.15					~	日日																34							
			-0-	<u>u</u>				-8		तिसम् सम्बद्ध		550,53 											111								22	題				86		團	
			<u>19</u>											詽								韻	翻	181	翻		调							0					
		0	•4								<u>B</u>			湖	语								計		湖		14-5. 1601						9	00	2				
						臝						臌						闘			博		詽						H		○— ∧		1-2. bn	60	7				
		11	•	19			13		14F			詽	甜	H						1631																			
匪		题					湖				ПЦ.						訮			謓	<u>J</u> FT			î (99										
HI			.0	0	1911	1. Hit	1	0	清計			0	33	194	3	0	33		2	0			5	0		승님	6	0			7	0							
		御				围		勏			計計				Т	I	М. І			, N	<u>i si si</u>	D	A	Y.	S .					-23	i i i	633							
邗		計		न म	ie	0		Ef	fer		hf	st	hre	σe	+ c	mn	57.	+ 11	re	0n	ΨF	Δ	1117	he	re	Of	<u></u> Ъ1	an an	che	Ъ	hee	ne	et	Or	64		<u>8</u>		
퇺				Ηġ.			開	un	der	o	xy {	en	, c	er	i.es	Ĩ	Ĩ												~++ C										
ΒŔ																		带				3267																	
		訊								詩員										<u>i</u>																			

-

.

=)

KENELER & ""SEB CO" N' X

.

 \sim

	\bigcirc	
ŗ		
2		

0

مند مدارق بماينونوجلة بالداورة في

TABLE 10

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF UNBLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER NITROGEN, SERIES II

Storage					Storage	time i	n days				
ture oC	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.95A	0.84A	0.99A	0.95A	0.95A	1.01A	1.17B	1.21B	1.240	1.210	1.240
-15.0	0.95A	0.88A	0.87A	0.87A	0.90A	0.94A	1.03A	1.02A	1.05A	1.14B	1.15B
-20.6	0.95A	0.87A	0.86A	0.84A	0.85A	0.87A	0.96A	0.99A	0.97A	1.00A	1.04A
Flavo	ur score	з: А	= good;	B =	slightl	y off;	C = 0	ff; D	= very	off	

TABLE 11

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER NITROGEN, SERIES II

Storage			Storag	e time i;	n days		
tempera- ture °C	Initial	6	12	18	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.65A	0.63A	0.59A	0.61A	0.58A	0.58A	0.58A
-15. 0	0.65A	0.66A	0.60A	0462A	0.53A	0.56A	0.54A
-20.6	0.65A	0.68A	0.59A	0.62A	0.60A	0.60A	0.61A
Flavou	r scores:	A = good;	B = slightl	y off;	C = off;	D = very off	

وروارية العبر والمعافة الدوم ومتأميه

88

															1															313
										다다 가격	775 																	1975) 1975		
,~																											80			
															<u></u>						140 1977 - 197				-19 -					
					dh:					665										2	5	<u>ر :</u> د	5							
					1007 1007 1007				itter Ritei								nat Ng			0	4	P. \	0							
ļ																					ر م		D X		ĺ		ns			1 2 2
												itar ac													Q		0e2			
														.							5	<u>}_<</u>	<u>}</u>		5	.201. 11.21	g			
					otici otiti		activa posrale															be:					- ų	10 T 10 T		
	ġç.													1205													- B			
		100 100											.051 .001		1001 1151			1100. 1100.) < [_dr			
	0134 172														-										9		ຸ 			
	ited Cital					htid 이	部			iziji 1940.								<u>.</u>					.0101 (1201)				ō	2012 2000	nor Jaci	
							353		蕸																		2 2 2			
				1000 1000	-072) -000,																	iberii Mili				2	np.			
																i E				000	<u>38</u>	50			5	A	2 2	20.		<u></u>
		ġ.	्यतः सन्दर्भः	nda. Sta	335) 335(.000 1995	ictor Tipo Tipo				A	BA			
					- 4.5 - 1 - 1							55											0.5							
1	<u>90</u>	30					9940. 1994 -	ndin. Kolog			00.) 00.)		Ĭ	Ì				170074 17.000			1.000) 1700)	493) (193)	-999 -976		0	Z	ဝိ	H		
(7		л Ч	e S		
ļ			17040 17170		1001 1002			1001	nastri Tritti			5]			88				163					a t	ч		
								- Ω														55				E E	De Y	ທ 		
			.531 .531					39				圈			1 000. 11 1										0	L-F	em	en		,,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,-,
	8.3	38			12							c		0	٩		5								<u> </u>	E-I	4	00		
			10000 1000										2000 (2000)						n.							- E	 ញ	े। नि	- 11. - 11.	
		<u>-18</u>												\prod				••••					5.6	:1-; :;-;-;			- To	ਮ ਜਿ		
													5	þ	1						部		i Epol		0		_ v	Це		
									<u>88</u>				6	0	<u> </u> []				4 <u>0</u> -) 			0	ີສ		
	Tati			遡		63				出		斑		\square		4				88			393				C t	e Q		
					÷.		SE.			臌					$\frac{1}{2}$	1										- (1)	Lf.	ų Į		
					38	芭					赳	斑	盘	jigi L	ľ					189					0_		E	<u>0</u>		
					選						55			臣	9						曲						-0			
Ŧ												应		協	0	11							E				-			
EUFF																po											<u>م</u>)		
							litte: Litte:			欲	枕的	之	80		1						法的				6		E.			
r r						α		x	þ	-:- - - - -*	3	(×	(<u>}</u>	t	0 - 1	N	þ		†		<u>\</u>	(þ				1	
ς Έλ							1		H			7	۲÷		 −	((P		P : :	:: (P	(р .	<u> </u> (P	出		-991 		
C ² .														585	14 	<u></u> н(UM H									扫			
z ⊀				田	白					樹		湖				臣	臌	臣侍	E:B	蘭		闼				ГЩ.	臣		<u>hii</u>	53

Th

KEUFFEL & bosen ca. N. Y

												Ξ.						115								jetel.				
	67			103																										
													. 61	400. 7 (1)					12								00			
										N.C.				<u>.</u>				H.,		c	5 C	b c	े	.44			С С	5		
						创	式 1950						가다 신라			193				0	÷ 0		þ				Ę			
								÷												. C			D N				Ű			
					-705) 272			inter Interio	inter This												ate. Still			201	0		, u			
						127.5 5175							ΞĒ						1.		ļ,	<u>ا</u> <			2		ل م	}		
														4 <u>43</u> . 444													р С			
							<u></u>												nici:					-2011 -1777		1907 - 1-20	ے ۔ ر			
					107 		isisi Birt	<u>88</u>				rata). Misi	9917 200			ian Sil			action Patrici) :: (م <		1000) 1703	a		្តិ			55
					101.0 101.0 101.0 101.0			rch:																	9		م. پ			
			.700) 60							67	nder Hele						119 2010.				aditek Stirkki						ſ			
																				list.						<u>.</u>	2			
						83		 												EU.					0	21	L L L			
																									41	A	- F			
		<u>. 9</u> 2										un Hah Suu 2 Suu 2														Р	L RA			
				ntiti) <u>inter</u> veneti			alani Arren Territor			1000) 								-4	00											
ſ	1968) 1979			<u>988</u>	त्यत् जन्म			333. 1973				inite Materi													d	Z	- c			
<i>. .</i>					-02 -110		dige Viciar							1000.									.ictici .cicti			-tit. Soot	<u> </u>			
		ictu.	네다. 고등	4954 1997				武士 도도					didi Silati		and Totta		oide Catha		<u> </u>		tettir Titter					E E	4 1 1	н		
			inter Teter				unita). Utati							littiga Hactik		tire.		and t							4.72	z	0) 4 0)		inter Frant
				1010 1540												totb) (1977)		1930. 1999		tică. Nă		iù.ù 사람	.00		0 M	н	- 0 +	<u>ੇ ਜ</u>		
					arti:			: The							343			<	Зр Пр		-9949 				- 52 - 525		- d 5	ۍ مرد		
·				 1957								出出															<u>م</u>	, r		
		iter Set		 			<u></u>								걸려		20										ť			
							1997 1997										표								20		<u>ب</u>	<u>רי</u> רי		
															.500. 							-11	<u>str</u>					, u		
					副	÷								197								100					ںر بر	de c		
						<u></u>	-27F		5											蕸		E					ې تا	Lu		
					ii:							38	ŗ						Ē						Т					
						蕸									방송			QC		許							- - -			
KEUF																	idit idar			鎶							<u> </u>	0		
FEL				翦	掍		166 260	皷	utti titi	99 19	部					999 1997	曲		तेत्वत्त जन्म		莊	瑕		Ē.			÷.		uiter Poite	
¢ (``;						α					•	Ċ	2	¢	5	- 0	3 1		b		1	- 0	2	ď					<u>36</u>	
ER						r		5.	4	E.	-	먨	H	<u>88</u> -		Ċ	200	C	Þ.	<u>ا</u> با	b ⊞	TT C	2	:::: :	2			ΞĒ.	. 110) 1212 121	
C 2.													Ś	BR	L	0E	<u> </u>	JM			臣臣									
z. K									韬															H.		毌		礥		

у

مستند مساجد والمراجع تكافر الترافي المتشهدين وأيا

EFFEC	TOF	STORAGE	TEMPERAI	URE ON TORED	TBA NUMI UNDER AII	BERS AN R, SERI	D FLAVOU ES II	R OF	UNBLANCHED	BEANS	;
çe					Storage	time i	n days				
C I	Initi	al 3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	-

TABLE 12

F

DITIDOT OF DIGITION	THIT WILL OID OIL 1.			0.1.2.2.1.0.1.2.2	
	STORED UN	DER AIR, SERIES	II		

Storage					Storage	e time i	n days				
temperative ture oC	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.95A	0.92A	0.96A	0.99A	1.05A	1.01A	1.20B	1.24C	1.28D	1.32D	1.33D
-15.0	0.95A	0.91A	1.02A	0.99A	0.99A	1.00A	1.05A	1.14B	1.11B	1.120	1.130
-20.6	0.95A	0.90A	0.88A	0.87A	0.85A	0.91A	0.91A	0.97A	0.97A	0.94A	0.95A
Fla	vour scor	es: A	= good	l; B =	slight	ly off;	C =	off;	D = ver	y off	

TABLE 13

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER AIR, SERIES II

Storage			Stora	ge time i	n days		
ture °C	Initial	6	12	18	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.65A	0.73A	0.60A	0.63A	0.61A	0.61A	0.61A
-15.0	0.65A	0.67A	0.58A	0.65A	0.61A	0.54A	0.59A
-20.6	0.65A	0.66A	0.59A	0.63A	0.56A	0.55A	0.55A
Flavou	r scores:	A = good;	B = slight	ly off:	C = off:	D = verv off	

16

.

×

		ዛ																																					
		印			樹			躍		44																													
																		33		抽	- 1			63															
		曲			臣臣	199			par d	巂						F F		法法		1974 I				1994]		
					09			臣臣					ide de	<u>- 11</u>									문년					<u>문단</u> 교묘	문	8.9	+								
		1	8			凷	樹																							5.5									
				趪					塵							9 H 						與							지역										
			6													343		938 	拱		199																		
									田	部		涟					49				938) 1 - 9	걸린				田田	<u>.381</u> 343												
	坦	1	4	EB S				<u> 0:0</u> :		題		69	<u>3134</u>													1999. 1710:					599. G G	18-51. 1991							
				39										88	0)	ng ar Litth	0						1884 7686	가라 다음의					12.Hr 1355							
		-1-	2	68			1.57			BH	<u>ح</u>	5					<u>. 191</u>		1314. 11 - 1	litti Esti		1848) 1955-1		1931 1930				8-4 <u>1</u> 70.0		<u>469</u>		6-3			['				
	ŝ											0		19479 	e	0264£ 10153		>		0			नन्तुः चन्द्राः	je se recin									lind. Na Gr						
58 58	IB	1	0			0	5		4	5	σ	$\mathbf{\Delta}$		<u>) 5</u> 115	Δ	2.6						6명) 고려		desid. Hecks	rten. Niek	문학 (학교	n thi Name												
	<u>г</u> .				žΕ			<u> </u>	-4	<u> </u>	≙—	17.4 1866		i Uch				<u>i titic</u>	 Ning																				
	<u>ठ</u>	- 0	-8-	iett; Toch		i dagan nangati				ittida Trictic		1514 1755						iterit 1000	공부는 기고			<u>199</u> 1			<u>1915</u> 1915 -														
	ङ्घ	ात्रात्वे. विद्यवे	17(2).) 2012-20			22位 13月17日			tici : ticici	合け		<u>133</u> 1991			<u>idan</u> 1.22					<u>iocat</u> Gistri		<u>요</u> 한 문화								<u>eriad</u> Lapija	sint Sing								
		-0	-6-			<u>时</u> 11日 11日		<u>中寸</u> 471					지기							9294 4444		이다 기다	20-01 121-01		EUR HH			1999) 1999											
								同時		<u>1431</u> 1635								<u>1:20</u> 1910			<u>1144.</u> 1451	124					e en Telefol			1912									<u>.</u> 1999
	<u>- 110</u>	-0	.4	10 (3 12 (3		<u>1997</u> 1914				中正				<u>.</u> 	-11-14 - (14-14						<u>999</u> 991					- <u></u>					<u> </u>		9.	4-1	<u>}</u>				
				<u>- 14</u> 1413		1994 1974																						0		T	—		-5-	04					
		-0	2	299 1997										<u>17 - 1</u> 3 - 1																(3.) (3.)	<u>A</u> -		50 .	6-1	}				
誧		574	19	- 8										99						1938	<u>941</u> 13 2																		
		0	0	5			1	Ō			2	0	1993) 1993 (J.		3	0	i. Arta		- 4	0			5	0	d di		6	0			7	0							
				6.6								6.ET			. T;	ΓI	ИE		- I	N	34	D	A	Y :	5			88		38		124				64			
				त्र म			 	7			A f			2		om	hor	2+1	inc		<u>л</u> п	RA .	nu	mh	are		h ,,	nb	lan	ch	ha	be	ans				0,	संस	
			THE		10	14		s	Lor	ed	un	de	r a	$\frac{ab}{ir}$, S	er:	ies	I	L L						Ĩ											hed.			<u>in</u>
																				ЬÚ,				-															
																																			间				

KENELER & SEG CT. N. K

			1)							-									(3		
														a E E FF										<u>artir</u>							. 1 . 1								
										<u>gu</u>	計																												
																				Ŧ			불음 취음			ini Hiti						명령							
副用				13 H		E.		蕄									ĮĔĮ							膨胀				韵创											
	臣	樹		行社	樹	13		ŧβ	御	韻		88				<u>a</u> p				封接				詩															
副排			8-			E.				間		脚										<u>B</u> B						88					H.						
							問	暾	詞			翻								81			12	建的								영화	ÌÈ			45			
山市				日	围	脚		翧	ЦП.	臣	13	南		齨									-61	1EE		選				88		36			a jac grafi				
			U E	翧									出				韻							88		신다					백기					이상			
		组	期		聝	睴	歯	暳	虛		閮	E#		臣	莳		<u>19</u>	旺		53			. H				14			8.9									
		<u>Er</u>	44	<u>F</u>		国					113						ΞĘ.						34			<u>3</u> 31													
			2			国		壆								EE						<u>13</u>		88		124							销	833					
				声响		쒈		日日							釽							88	<u>471</u>					<u>1955</u>											
H H		3	0	闘		图		圉	韻					1.5		<u>88</u>		656		89						5.8	17			6, 8	· · · · ·								
С С		θ.	8-	間		臣		世	叫	<u>E B</u>	at l	麒		部計										曲				湖											
						0		斟				謹																8-9								공문			
ž		Ó,	6_			Les_					<u>a_</u>				<u></u>	irizer David					-1-1		計							14					-				
			Ha.	牌		樹								T	Δ_{-}			<u>} </u>		~																			
		0	4	脚				部	印			瞱					詽		曲											EE.	o		9.	4 ⁰ (<u>.</u>				
						甘井								<u>84</u>		甘口															₀		-5-	0 ⁰ (3				
		0	2	83		耕		睦				田田		Ret.		<u>195</u>		011							-15		160	<u> </u>			≙		so -	6 <u>°</u> (<u>}</u>				
									EF.											89																			<u>38</u>
		0	0	8月	中時			樹	中央	<u>E9</u>	出版			<u>1959</u> 	ंतित									~		i Corre					-	<u> </u>							
			1995 1994	P	32		L ₁ 1	0			<u> </u>	0			3	0			4	0				0			d	0				0				+			<u></u>
			曲	E#	的		田	633		134					T	<u>I l</u>	M E	H T	<u> </u>	N		D	<u>A</u>	<u>Y .</u>	3	<u>15-5</u>		53		83	<u>+111</u>	13-13 		<u>.</u>					
	井井		邗	F	lg.		}	-E	fſε	ct	l o f	_s	Lor	ag	∋—t	em	per	a-t-	ıre	-0	n—1	BA-	-nu	mb	\mathbf{srs}	_0	<u> </u>	la	ıch	od	-be	an	se	to	ed	2 35(2) 1775-5	23_		
				印印	<u>199</u>		臣臣	u	nde	r	air	•	Ser	ie	s I	I						RC He		<u>434</u> जन्म												18.3. 1749			
																						1993 1718		20년 1993년			318 1911	14.3											
电中却				1							间门			C:F	剖	樹		出日	围	8.9	胡拔	53			山井		(F)	E len,								2.0	1255	903	

سري المحد ومحمط فتراسم سريفيته يترز والمحمد والمحر

,

No.

والمحاجب فالمحاج فالمحاج والمحاج والمحاج والمحمد والمحاج والمراجع والمراجع والمحاج والمراجع

			STC	RED UNL	DER OXYG	EN, SER	IES III				
Storage					Storage	e time i	n days.				
tempera- ture °C	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.95A	0.95A	1.10B	1.18B	1.250	1.31D	1.36D	1.38D	1.51D	1.49D	1.49D
- 15.0	0.95A	0.99A	1.06A	1.12 B	1 . 16B	1.260	1.31D	1.33D	1.37D	1.37D	1.37D
-20.6	0.95A	0.96A	1.01A	1.01A	1.07A	1.12B	1.210	1.260	1.210	1.240	1.240
Flay	vour scor	es: A	. = good	l; B =	slight	ly off;	C =	off;	D = ver	y off	

TABLE 14 EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF UNBLANCHED BEANS

TABLE 15

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER OXYGEN, SERIES III

Storage			Stora	ige time i	n days		
tempera- ture °C	Initial	6	12	18	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.65A	0.61A	0.56A	0.61A	0.60A	0.60A	0.60A
-15.0	0.65A	0.65A	0.58A	0.62A	0.62A	0.60A	0.60A
-20.6	0.65A	0.66A	0.59A	0.55A	0.60A	0.59A	0.59A
Flavou	r scores:	A = good;	B = slight	ly off;	C = off;	D = very off	

المتحد المتحديدة وتركانية والم

94

` -

			(and)			
			日間推進部			<u> 28 12 명</u> 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28
合語初期相				新福建制度		
新日朝神日日月			品 (A) 標準 (A) (A)	建品建物		
	e esta declarat de la comp	翻行过度自			発行法に対象されたもの	
			흔별물 좀 길		調査を	建油合作品
			섥볋펞햳잋		書調製造要約	
	00			電磁機構		홍말 관광 안 이 같은
000		팬말란관물				
A A		전화적회				
8-1-1-						
			한 문화 <u>위</u> 기 위한 시간			
		영광 옷이 알을 통				
		11 유지 관리				
		超新感。				-17.00
						· 20 0 0
10	20	30	40	50	60 70	
		TIM	EIIN	DAYS		
$g \cdot 14 \cdot -111$ sto	ed under or	age-tempe kvgen. Se	erature-on-fi eries III	ba-numbers	-o1-uno1ancned-p	Cans G
		F. 14 Effect of stor stored under o	$F \cdot 14 \cdot - Effect of storage temperature of year of the storage temperature of year of the storage temperature of the storage t$	$\frac{1}{p_{1}} = \frac{1}{p_{1}} = $	Image: Section of the section of th	1 1

a an ann an an an an an an an an an a

KEUFFEL & ESSER CO. N.Y.

Annalis Statistics of the other

.

Carlos a conservation de la cons

and the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second

							1 d 				ntie V					17 97 70 9													
~~		 											ale Mitor			···			 		: 77 		<u>.</u>			.96)		
{							unteri. 1951-																	-					
																						11	:				11 a.		
															2000 1868:				0		0) >				2			
	-											нана Карал Карал							<u> </u>	, 2		,	-			_10			
				100	.5.55 		2057) 1320 1320		tini Sta							2012). 1912) - Ale								0	19	ц ц			
									Н		E.									<u>.</u>		1		2		he			
									. <u>1417</u> . 2000																	С С			
																										لم ان			
			 														1227. 1001 -				<u>م</u>			Ó		ີດ			
																								9	-199 	- £			entre The second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se
		utri. 1991 -																								C			
																									τ <u>ρ</u> -	ں ج			
					골		谜				選			nondi Linitati										0	Ы			3	
					3																	-			A	Ē			
								itti ttili	biy Hill							65									Ω	ВА			
											<u>.</u>															- F			
ŕ						1175 1111												<u>اتھ</u>		1171. 3101				Q	Z	C	ΙI		
ί,																	• :C:							7		<u>د</u>	5-05	-	
																		<u> </u>								+ π	0		
			<u>1950</u>												22										H		5 0 407-		
															1001 1212									<u>o</u>	н	e me) 		
																	{}								E-1		ы Б		
													1940 1940											<u>.</u>		6			
																										- i		33	
							Cepe																	8		Ű	o que		
			<u>-</u>					fou.										k								c	3		
											با وليانية : كمرسانية : مساعر :													1		- t	ued		
								d:-1.										5								4 4	0		
				83			53		.734 															0		1	- 03		
													- 15									<u>.</u>			•	c			
2				572) 							53																		
EUFF																	Ľ#									b	0		
5							<u>1533</u>				25.7					200	₩	 						0			EES:		
ES		 			0	þ 	N	þ		4	<u> </u>	¥ 		Þ.	li-⊡ t	р •		þ 		1 	<u> </u>	2-	(P					
SER					5	1	[] [r	†		12					:=; (- ^	P =		P =k		<u>}</u>	<u> </u>	P	1	<u> </u>			进		
C 2.													288	Ц. 	L 보 C		υNi 								0				
			<u>1984</u>		田					<u>PHZ</u>	::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::							F.I.			岛			<u>192</u>	<u>[</u>]	礠		di i	

·····

71. .

-
Storage					Storage	time i	n days				
tempera- ture oC	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.95A	0.93A	0.91A	0.92A	1.04A	1.00A	1.15B	1.200	1.210	1.270	1.270
- 15.0	0.95A	A88.0	0.91A	0.95A	1.00A	1.00A	1.03A	1.02A	1.16B	1.19B	1.19B
-20.6	0.95A	0.88A	0.87A	0.94A	0.94A	0.94A	1.02A	1.03A	1.09A	1.04A	1.04A
Flav	vour scor	es: A	= good	; B =	slight	ly off;	C =	off;	D = ver	y off	

TABLE 16

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF UNBLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER NITROGEN, SERIES III

TABLE 17

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER NITROGEN, SERIES III

Storage-			Stora	ige time i	n days		
ture °C	Initial	6	12	18	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.65A	0.63A	0.59A	0.61A	0.58A	0.58A	0.58A
-15.0	0.65A	0.66A	0.60A	0.62A	0.53A	0.56A	0.54A
-20.6	0.65A	0.68A	0.59A	0.6 2 A	0.60A	0.60A	0.61A
Flavou	r scores:	A = good;	B = slight	ly off;	C = off;	D = very off	

-

Ē																																						:
																								调									;;;.]				<u>.</u>	
			開	诩				樹	樹																													
Ηų			邰					뤰		围					30	86							44	89						<u> 1</u>				-944				
茸	崩	时	8		閲					閮		旧日				<u>88</u>																<u>i</u>						
			1			樹				鯯						39																						
计		31	6	调		阳		邸		围									10		<u>991</u>																	
				<u>198</u>	樹																		i ii															
33		- 1 -		84				臣	曲					龃						104		5	98															
										邗								17-1-1 																				
			2-	849		山						<u>~</u>			0				i log	0 0										<u> </u>								
	5	45									5				<u>∧</u>			1999					5									i i de la composición de la co	-			·		
	IBR	1	.0-			놜	訩	8			0	\$						<u> </u>		<u>~</u>					[
		병성		1	0	ŝ	3			<u>}</u>																-				-								
	Ы	-Θ	8-	<u>889</u>													<u>igni</u> Stati																				<u>े । २</u>	
	ପ୍ର			31	品														<u>1967</u> 1967																			
	2	-0-	-6-																																			
	99) 994		65) 75													8:8: 13:3:			1001 1923							13.01 1967 -					1							
		-0-	-4-			844 1311												<u>65</u> 91.										0			°—		-9-	4°	;			
izal Ecol	i den. E den									<u>注注</u> 法内容										<u> </u>											o—		-5-	⊖ <mark>≏</mark> ¢	;			
		-0-	-2							ntelar 10.15																					<u>ه</u>		20-	6°	;			
	i urt. Histori	icco di S				occia: 1-14								<u>10138</u> 2014		<u>1999</u> 1994		<u>- 1</u> 2 8																				
		-0-	-0-	्टन स्थि		्रत्यम् दिवस्	1	0		이는 2014년 - 1414년 - 1414년 - 1414년 -	0	anna. Na t		<u>, з</u>	0	<u>99</u> 33		:	0			<u>ہ</u>	0	<u> </u>		6	0	 		7	0		<u></u>					
		印度													ノ T	TI	1 F	<u>-0000</u> 860	 	N		D		Y	s :					aan Tido								<u>-154</u> 633
바라				園		말라								신다																							9	
				<u>+</u>	₽g•		p=	(=Ľ. s	tie tor	ct. led	Lo1 un	s de	or	age iti	è_t rop	em en)er S	ati er	ire es	 T	11 []	BV⁻	_nu	mb	ers		v	nb.	an	ché	ed	bea	ans				∞	副
바바 도타		말망																												-								
nd Not																					1-1-1							 										

.

KEUFFEL & 255ER 02. N.Y.	\bigcirc	(
		通路路路 提路長
$\Theta_{\rm F} L$		<u>-9.4°</u> c
		1.5.0°C
0.2		·20.6°¢
		1 - 1 - 28 전망 전의 관련 것을 하는
		1 - 1 · 1 · 2 · 1 · 2 · 2 · 1 · 2 · 조율 운영
		a stat later stat west stat defe state s stat state state state state state
Fig. 17Effect o	of storage temperature on THA numbers of blanched beans	s-stored
		가 같다. 한편한 이상, 전체 가장은 가장한 것을까. - 이상 이상 가장은 가장은 가장은 것을 수 있다.

Sec. 1.

حالا المحاد المتعاد المعادية متصامعا والمراجعا والمحسو مترار

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF UNBLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER AIR, SERIES III

Storage-					Storage	e time i	.n days				
ture oC	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.95A	0.91A	1.00A	1.00A	1.15B	1.22C	1.250	1.270	1.280	1.30D	1.31D
⊶15. 0	0.95A	0.86A	0.97A	0.95A	1.02A	1.04A	1.10B	1.09B	1.190	1.190	1.190
-20.6	0.95A	0.92A	0.96A	0.99A	0.99A	0.97A	1.00A	0.99A	1.01A	1.02A	1.02A
Fl	avour scor	es: A	. = good	l; B =	slight	ly off;	C =	off;	D = ver	y off	

TABLE 19

EFFECT OF STORAGE TEMPERATURE ON TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF BLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER AIR, SERIES III

Storage			Stora	ige time i	n days.		
tempera- ture ^o C	Initial	6	12	18	28	35	42
- 9.4	0.65A	0.73A	0.60A	0.63A	0.61A	0.61A	0.61A
-15.0	0.65A	0.67A	0.58A	0.65A	0.61A	0.54A	0.59A
-20.6	0.65A	0.66A	0.59A	0.63A	0.56A	0.55A	0.55A
Flavou	r scores:	A = good;	B = slight	ly off;	C = off;	D = very off	

-

TABLE 18

100

3

` -.

						1. ₁₁				(
.) 		; ;	i i	 	:						<u> </u>						14									10			
						 															447	1 2 4								
								• •																				•		
	 	<u> </u>																		0		0) 		1.					
																				с С	7.1	h (5				_ยน			
										-											-	1	N				0ea			
																			1				ļ		i.		ر م			
							- 17						-								Í	Í	,				che			
	[127	an			
											iles Neti									G) 			0		n b l			7557 1563
																									Ō					
		- 				1								- 1200. 101.													0			
																							63				rs 1			
														E.		1:500 1:500									0	~) >1	mbc			
					-																				4	V	2 L			
																						1996) 1996)				D.	BA			
																											5			
r	201								aar Son		ſ			4				12.00 12.10			r 1997) Victoria				0	Z	õ			
(<u>78</u> 2																					7	H.	lre	ΤŢ		
						12.0 				riteri 1935															ana Ng	0001 1010)	a C	H	- 10	
														Ĩ												H	Jer	ies		
				•250) (.0000 10000			101 1													0	H	emi	er		
												้ว	ļ	<											m	E-I	<u>د</u>	<u>م</u>		
																									10 ⁵ 1911		ុង ស	ਮ ਜ		
					1																		1.73			102	tor	-10- 		33
												ŀ		o <	1			iich: Nach	ini 1935)						0		О	de	±or Titl	
			2			<u> </u>						0		<u>) <</u>								22					-0	'n		
			udur) 1960)					1 TT) 1				7	urint Lince	\int	4	india 1949 -						:000 :655				33	с С	eq		
	-											Ň		Ţ							35						f f	10.		
													~	76	1	10000 10000		35	1000.0 10000					ndari Kozo	0		1	Ω		
														\geq	JP												-70			
	9											:000) 			2												1			
KEUF							-								X	0			195								. d			1011 1111
FEL									1000 12.01		. (22.6) (nem				Į										0-				-0,27 5000	
R R						∞		<u> </u>	.		ł	ſ	2	C	2	ά)		b		}	C	2	C						
SER								1	H 1927 1920 - Colorador 1921 - Colorador		(H	liter I	H H	9) 	C	D	Ċ	Р —	- C	P	C				: 1010 : 1022	197 204	
C º.													{	BRS	T	ΟE		DM												
N. K											11000 4144															ur. q.g.		遐	- 4-1-1 - 4-1-1	

1

٦ħ.

				83. 1													• : : : :						271							
																				ionii 1111						83				
<u></u>									-700 -700																		10;	2		
J.																														
					•												1.1							1						
													2009 1997 -							0			ر ر				(<u>}</u>	00 1	
																<u>.</u>				0	<u> </u>		5					2		
			-		- वृत्तविः - वृत्तवः		.0.0). 1903		-95														<u> </u>		0					
															:						>(<u>}_</u>	1		6		<u>م</u> م ا			
							ictor ictor																							
											- 7																2			
		10000 2020					. 510.7 1770.			itini Vicit		: 2500 2.005													0			5		
					<u> 198</u>															.0000 000				17	Ō.		- 4			
										55													1009 1005				(
													17.0														5	5		
		<u>is</u>	.000) 1990				icită roșidi									.68) (.:::::: ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::				liter Staty								udzi) Mulu	
													22. 22.		<u> 16</u> -						<u>999</u>				5	A	Ś		-	
			103 1000										icitan Herei					1010								Ω		運		部
					E																.588						5			
ſ					33		icchi: Chici		500) 15.0	<u>19</u>		5	aciant Sebio						Ĩ		्वताते इत्यत्वे					z				
					175) 858	rtisti. Cont																			7	H		Ţ		
							55			邀		1535			00004 17 120	133		<u> </u>	Щ				1,00, 1,00,	1307. 1919	000. 7012			¢ -		
			-6								18-18 19-29															되		2 24		
					raciae Restato											-28		<u>itt</u>										ЪП Н		
	E.E.						1									12-3		<u> </u>	4					1000	ŝ	FI		b Q		
						393	nard Tradi		-010 -010		1000. 1310,	83						羂							10000 10000			Ŭ H H		
		500							5.0	38		<u>8</u> .															4	2 or		
											<u>99</u>			53							2007) 201				0		<u> </u>	ĺ.,		
												83		123	19			¢							Ñ			רי ר <u>ק</u>		
						÷.																			2000) 2000	222		5 <u>5</u>		
							6-5		5070														682				4	nd		
								1			변경							题	8		36				0	33	ц. 1			
									- 63				30												-		с. С	<u>, </u>		
				E		- 120 - 20					串	<u>R</u>			26		•	4												
KEUF					謳							123							微			theiri Tirk			蕸			10 4		
FEL	1007) (100		l.cisti ichis			175				13	ticit ticiti	蕸	33	諁		躪	문망		藯	趨	癍			SS					137 	
¢ m			5			t	þ	183 183	¢.		4		<u>ب</u>		P .		0 •	N	ę) 	ſ	ř	<u> </u>	}					
SSER				13			1		膨				t ∷ ⊡		Ho.	围	P) 		<u>م</u>		}	155				
C 2.														SAS	<u>L</u>	F	<u>}</u>	MG				2002								
х х	ndina) Richa															協				83							躍			

Ņ

CC	OMPARISON	OF TBA	A NUMB NI	ERS AN TROGEN	D FLAV	OUR OF AIR AT	UNBLAI	NCHED I C, SERI	BEANS IES I	STORED	UNDER	OXYGE	Ν,
Storage					St	orage	time in	n days					
atmos- phere	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	27	34	41	48	76
Oxygen	1.00A	2.18A	1.55A	1.64A	1.47A	1.52B	1.540	1.530	1.53D	1.51D	1.51D	1.56D	1.57D
Nitrogen	1.00A	1.83A	1.32A	1.71A	0.93A	1.04A	1.37B	1.38B	1.37B	1.37B	1.380	1.40D	1.40D
Air	1.00A	1.78A	1.31A	1.42A	1.14A	1.07A	1.26B	1.2 6B	1.26B	1.370	1.43D	1.44D	1.46D
FJ	avour sc	ores:	A = a	good;	B = ;	slight]	ly off	; C =	= off;	D =	very o	off	

TABLE 20

6

TABLE 21

COMPARISON OF TBA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF UNBLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER OXYGEN, NITROGEN, AND AIR AT ~9.4°C, SERIES II

Storage				S	torage	time in	days							
phere	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42			
Oxygen	0.95A	0.97A	1.17B	1.280	1.38D	1.45D	1.53D	1.53D	1.54D	1.52D	1.52D			
atmos- phere Initial 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 28 35 42 Oxygen 0.95A 0.97A 1.17B 1.28C 1.38D 1.45D 1.53D 1.54D 1.52D 1.52D Nitrogen 0.95A 0.84A 0.99A 0.95A 0.95A 1.01A 1.17B 1.21E 1.24C 1.24C														
Air	0.95A	0.92A	0.96A	0.99A	1.05A	1.01A	1.20B	1.24C	1.28D	1.32D	1.33D			
Flav	our score	e s: A	= good	; B =	slight	ly off;	C =	off;	D = ver	y off				

.

£01

		4 T	·																				-						10	
																He											••			15
~									ç.					1		·			· •.•											
Ĺ		- 193																												
		20								1.1.1.1	· · · · ·	112	· 	·								2		1						
					• • • • •				0	0 <	a -					ner Ser				5			ນ ມີ							
									T			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									2 20 20		2 5				0 6)		
			17	 															<u>-</u>	ć		4 Z					X		•	
					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·																i				X		0 ਮ			
														÷						,	<u>/</u>	() 	ľ				Jde			
					•••••								· · · ·														ă			
					62.0° 11 1							2007 100		121						C)	' 				e d			
			-		• •										· - ·					1					0		t t			
		-157																			JÈ.								inter Hee	
																											a B C			
				222										T.					itist. Tanii							-02- >	þ			
															-				ieriji Rođi						5	A	ed			1151 1151
		1001 111																				· · · · ·				P	nch	5		
			385																								la	ie		
Ċ	22								c	q	ł						- 22) 1200				ndin Stati	1200) 1300			0	Z	nn	Ser		
(7	Η	<u>ب</u>			
			1071) (1111)			adı diğ													.00,7 10,7	齞							s S	2		
			38 88						j o		KI.									330				1973 1973	101. 101.	Т Е	ner Ler	6		
						int. Hiti																1001. 502	i data Jaciji		0		านม	t.	nati Refei	9027. 1921.
																									ŝ	E-1	P	0 L		
			500 1998						Î		∮.\	0			.0000 1000				idar Toru								TB/	17. 17.		
		1790) 1791)													· · · · ·												F	g		
									ရ		4	þ				1000) 1980)		ricci NGC							0		ď	ิตี		
	12754	5							d	195	$\mathbf{\lambda}$	e				45								todi 1970		. <u></u>	ိ	ü		
												Ì	\geq	~1			ndere Veneti				1000) 9-2-9						ੂਸ	ඩ 0		
			692				755) 2010							1	\		1000					1000					dud	t t		
					800) 1997					٩			ß		14							.000) 114		1001.) 1905	0		Ŭ	2		
							<	0		ဝဲ	7					.012 1971 -										5				
									0	ात्वती तंद्राइ	Ś	\sum		\sum											200). 1997	<u>.</u>	Ř	iar cea		
KEUF													\sum														6	Ξ		
FEL		-333	5		0009 23				<u>da</u> tir 1200.					\mathbf{X}	<i>\</i> /						tici) tilor		450 1990			Æ	۲щ.	ate)		
*						- a	<u>, </u>)		+	ি	2	C	.	ά	þ	- <u>`</u>	5		-	- c	2	- c	þ			36) 25) 25)		
-dER			1000) 1000)			- ا	1		<u>198</u>		 		1	5	H	С.	<u>}</u>	C)	C)	÷C) 	C) 					. १९२३ ः ।
C a.								64					S	BRS	L	0E	<u> </u>)W							迹					
N. K									natar Natar												1,510). 1,501).							card cape		

ĩ٨

λ

ſ						-							-	-						•				17						
			· 										- -				· · · · ·								1.					
					1.1										-						1.						7 (5		
									1117				1.						<u>.</u>		-,-									
ſ		· · · · ·												1.1	 															
1																				\$	1	1	2 20					d.		
										· · · ·		5									20,0		ר <u>ק</u>	 		·		9 3 2		
					1 I K 200												1997) 1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997				5	-T-W	4		0			No.		
																						5 <	1					4		
	•								1.55° 711.						• • •													ğ		
														· . · .											-			2		
																	-			(<u>}</u>	<u>ه (</u>						្ត្		
														- -											θ			ວ ວ		
								1120) 1110							}						1		7401 610					Ś		
												2 2														_0		n n n		
																									0	Y		5	i dha Riqe	
															. •		•								-47	<	270.7 27	а Н П		
						1 7 72 1910				1909) 3001		1		1999) 1993		रेका इ.स.										Ω		с и р	,	
																ð: E											ŗ			
			. 227 S . 337 S						Î	1000) 1.007	1								437 417			1.3. 1.12			0	Z		Se Se		
																									7		•		<u> </u>	
	- 111 	(1100) 			000	1900) 1900)				0000 (222)						33												00		1000-0 1000-
																										I N				
					-0004 -1944		3240. 3240						-010 1911 1911												0	н		t n		
									_c			01													1	÷			_	
			. 1920) 1940) 1940)									11_	.	-													р Со р	ם ה ק ה	\$	
												Ц															ر	h p c		
									4			4	<u> </u>								100) 1907				0		-	្រ ល ភ្ន		
									0			}	A.															ч о v п		
			1977. 1979.							<u> </u>			$\left \right\rangle$	λ_{q}				11110 1115										а о 1 д		
	<u>197</u>	1.400. 11.402.									2			\sum	-			0.67										E D		
				10 1001	200						\sum			ľ	5					5					0					
	5-5						. 14.			-		م			¶]	\		65.0 											10000	
_	36	ndod) Tribel						0.2					2		(0)											:		<u>ч</u>		
KEUFI		:- <u>-</u>													20	1				ter T								a0		
ΈL	-3660	33								-)/						ene e				0			1		
						α	þ	<u> </u>)	-	+ •	с. С	2	C) •	∼	2		•		}		2	C	<u>, </u>					
- <u>3</u> 7 - 1)					<u> </u>	1				† 				 	C)	C		C)			C	ت. ر					
¢₫.											1			SRE		ЯC		MG							- 50				2	
~ !		. بر المحر ال	·	م الراميني ما دو		والعراب مردا			Terrate in	Sec. al	11-1-1	1 1	1.00 -	بياند مر د			المعرب ا						1.00	الدام سرّسات ا			بخطوفت	1		a ten se se se a

ų-

TiA

۰.

COMPARISON OF T	BA NUMBERS AND FLAVOUR OF UNBLANCHED BEANS STORED UNDER OXYGEN, NITROGEN, AND AIR AT - 9.4°C, SERIES III
orage	Storage time in days

Storage													
phere	Initial	3	6	9	12	15	18	21	28	35	42		
Oxygen	0.95A	0.95A	1.10B	1 . 188	1.250	1.31D	1.36D	1.38D	1.51D	1.49D	1.49D		
Nitrogen	0.95A	0.93A	0.91A	0.92A	1.04A	1.00A	1.15B	1.200	1.210	1.270	1.270		
Air	0.95A	0.91A	1.00A	1.00A	1.15B	1.220	1.250	1.270	1.280	1.30D	1.31D		
Fla	avour sco	ores:	A = go	od; B	= slig	= off;	ff; D = very off						

لمصافقة محبد مستعد بعث وعوال حديثا والهيأ بترابق وألهي

· .

ار. محمد محمد المحمد المحمد والمحمول المحمول المحمد المحمد المحمد المحمد المحمد المحمد المحمد المحمد المحمد المحمد

TABLE 22

										·															1		:		:	
																		- . (1								 				
													 															-		
(••••	• • •	*** x														107			
															. (<u>}</u>							 -				-			
											<u> </u>	· · · ·						·		 		Q	ງ							
															•) ()		<u></u>							
												Ligi				<u> </u>		<u></u>			;:- > <		¹				A.N.			
																			-						10-		<u>਼</u>			<u></u>
				•					_			· · · ·			•	<u>.</u>		<u>.</u>	· · · · · ·		;(<u> </u>	l				Jd C		-	
	· · ·												 					•									-2			
							——) () <	1	•			e e	- 		
								146-51 1111 1111							-		 			ana Airte					90		t o i			
				· · ·) 																						01 ()		<u></u>	
									1-1-1-1 1-1-1-1-1 1-1-1-1-1-1									 								ທີ	a) (9	· · · · ·		
																										K	0		· · · · ·	
																									ч Т	~	e	H.		
																										<u>α</u>	- u C	E		
							• • • • •																				1.2	0		
<i>,</i> -										<u>γ</u>	G	4														Z T	cun	C e C		
×.			· · · · · · · · ·		· · ·													200			 						<u>۔</u>			
												-							16-15). 16-15).						•	<u></u>	 0	4		
										2	(Ň-														Z	er	6		
																									0	H	nm_			
					• • • •				6		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·														<u>er</u> ,	5-1-	-	.		
	111) 210		· · · · ·		::::: :::::			::55) NGC						14.2					rinsis North								TB/	e i		
																33											f	Jd		
		· . · · ·		-							Ş	0	1				1147 201										٦	ß.		
							<u></u>				λ	P	Å												20		S S	en.		
									in sior Residu		ľ								icto) Chiù						370		ar	30		
											۲	\backslash	$\left \right\rangle$	\sum							00504 2012	299 220					Imo	i tr		
								1 2 2 7 1 1 0 2 1 1				2	0	$\langle \langle \rangle$	$\sum_{i=1}^{n}$		3.53 1.1									. 71.21 2110	0	R		
													2		27										70		2	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
														2	<u>}</u>								2777) 1953				2		- 1177 305	
スアリテ									<u>, 5</u> 6.						Å?							j.					51 			
5	1.11						537		iotice Altr			iarti 1991			<u> </u>												Γ.			
۶۹ (.						D	þ	<u>.</u>	<u>.</u>		•	¢	2	C	<u>ہ</u>	i t) 	V	þ		;	<u> </u>	2		2					
ກິລ					-		1	5		5		-		5	<u> </u>	C			2	Ċ)	Ç	ρ.		Ρ					
C ?														SRS	T	ЭE)	MC												
z K																	.010. 	215). 1940												

.

ŧ,

Effect of Blanching Upon Production of TBRS

()

()

The results of analysis on blanched and unblanched material stored under various conditions are presented in Tables 2 to 19 and Figures 2 to 19. They show that in every series the TBA numbers of raw beans increased during storage at the temperatures used while beans blanched for 3 min showed no significant increase in TBA numbers. In fact, these values remained fairly constant throughout the storage period. This clearly indicates that the TBRS accumulates as a result of the activity of certain enzymes which are inhibited by a 3-min heat treatment.

Effect of Storage Temperature Upon Production of TBRS

The effect of various storage temperatures on the production and accumulation of TBRS was studied. The results of these experiments, presented in Tables 2 to 19 and plotted in Figures 2 to 19, indicate that the greatest production of TBRS occurred at -9.4° C, the highest temperature used, in all three series. A lower production was observed in samples stored at -15.0° C. At the lowest storage temperature, -20.6° C, an even lower production was observed and, in some cases, the

amounts were not enough to indicate off-flavour development.

()

The highest TBRS concentrations were reached most rapidly in the unblanched samples stored at the highest storage temperature. The rate of production in raw samples was highest during the first two to three weeks of storage. After the initial rapid increase in TBRS, there was a levelling off in production with only small increases observed as the storage period progressed.

The difference between highest TBRS concentrations obtained in the three series was quite small and would be due to the use of different varieties of beans and to experimental variance.

Effect of Composition of Atmosphere in the Container Upon Production of TBRS

The atmosphere of the container had a definite effect upon the production of TBRS during storage in all three series, the effect being most noticeable at the highest storage temperature, -9.4° C. A comparison of TBA numbers obtained at this temperature, for unblanched samples stored under oxygen, nitrogen and air, is found in Tables 20 to 22 and plotted in Figures 20 to 22. The effects of the gas treatments at all temperatures are

recorded in Tables 2 to 19 and plotted in Figures 2 to 19. A comparison of the different atmospheres used indicates that TBRS accumulated in the following order: oxygen > air > nitrogen.

Thus it appears that as the concentration of oxygen in the container decreased the amount of TBRS produced decreased. In all series the production of TBRS was highest in unblanched beans stored under oxygen (aerobic conditions) and lowest in unblanched beans stored under nitrogen (anaerobic conditions). The results obtained indicate that the production of TBRS is mainly an oxidative process but can occur under anaerobic conditions.

In the blanched material in all three series, the TBA numbers obtained fluctuated only slightly and could not be attributed to effect of storage atmosphere. The fluctuations could be due to biological variations in the samples.

Off-flavour Development

As indicated in the review of literature, a good correlation between off-flavour development and TBA values in a number of products has been reported by several investigators. The main purpose of this

110

Ţ

investigation was to determine the relationship between off-flavour development and TBA numbers in frozen green beans. Each sample was tested and the results are reported in Tables 2 to 19 and in Figures 2 to 19. Organoleptic tests were carried out simultaneously with the TBA test, and flavour scores were assigned them.

C

1

đ î

Relationship Between Flavour Scores and TBA Numbers

The off-flavour development of beans can be described as the formation and accumulation of malodorous bitter-tasting compound or compounds. In this experiment, four flavour scores were used: good, slightly off, off, very off. The last term was used for a very wide range of flavours ranging from a strong and definitely unpleasant bitterness to an unbearable bitter flavour. The term "off" was used in cases where the off-flavour was definite but still not very strong. "Slightly off" was used in cases where a mild off-flavour was noted.

In Series I it was difficult to establish a satisfactory relationship between flavour scores and TBA numbers due to the errors in method previously explained. However, at the end of the experiment, very pronounced off-flavours were present in the unblanched samples

111

TN:

under oxygen at all temperatures used while in nitrogen, the unblanched samples developed flavours which were "very off," "off," and "slightly off" at temperatures of -9.4° , -15.0° and -20.6° C, respectively. In air, the unblanched samples developed flavours which were "very off," "very off" and "off" at temperatures of -9.4° , -15.0° and -20.6° C, respectively. The TBA numbers for unblanched samples stored in nitrogen were 1.40, 1226 and 1.04, and for those stored in air, 1.46, 1.34 and 1.16, at temperatures of -9.4° , -15.0° and -20.6° C, respectively. This indicates that the TBA numbers increased as off-flavours developed.

(

The blanched material in Series I did not develop off-flavours as indicated by the flavour scores. This is in agreement with TBA numbers which remained fairly constant.

In Series II a very definite relationship existed between flavour scores and TBA numbers. For unblanched material stored under oxygen, nitrogen, and air, at all temperatures used, the relationship was: flavour score of "good" up to TBA number of 1.10; flavour score of "slightly off" from TBA numbers of 1.10 to 1.20, flavour score of "off" from TBA numbers of 1.20 to 1.28; and flavour score of "very off" from TBA numbers of 1.28 and up.

112

ţΪħ

In Series III there also appeared to be a very definite relationship between the flavour scores and TBA numbers. Beans stored in oxygen, nitrogen and air at all storage temperatures gave the following results: flavour score of "good" up to TBA number of 1.09, flavour score of "slightly off" from TBA numbers of 1.09 to 1.19, flavour score of "off" from TBA numbers of 1.19 to 1.28, and flavour score of "very off" from TBA numbers of 1.30 and up.

()

()

In Series II and III the blanched material did not develop off-flavours and the TBA numbers varied only slightly.

Commercial samples of frozen green beans were tested with the TBA test as outlined. TBA numbers of 0.62 and 0.54 were obtained. These values are lower than those obtained for adequately blanched beans in this investigation and are well within the range of TBA numbers associated with good quality.

The results of this investigation, using the TBA reagent on frozen green beans indicate that there appears to be a satisfactory relationship between offflavour development and the TBA numbers obtained. The TBA reagent could, therefore, be used to trace the development of off-flavour in frozen green beans.

Effect of Blanching on Off-flavour Development

(

()

The strongest off-flavour always developed in raw samples. However, a 3-min blanch was sufficient to inactivate completely the enzymes responsible for offflavour development.

Effect of Storage Temperature on Off-flavour Development

The strongest off-flavour always developed at the highest temperature in the raw samples, as indicated by the results reported in Tables 2 to 19. As the storage temperature decreased to -15.0° C the development of off-flavour slowed down and by the end of the storage period was not as great as that in the raw material at -9.4° C. At the lowest storage temperature, -20.6° C, the development of off-flavour was very slow and in Series II and III off-flavour did not develop throughout the storage period when stored in nitrogen and air. Furthermore, the most rapid development of off-flavour always occurred in the unblanched samples stored at the highest temperatures.

Effect of Composition of Atmosphere in the Container on Off-flavour Development

T

 $\left(\right)$

()

The atmosphere in the container played a definite role in off-flavour development of frozen beans during storage in all three series. This is clearly demonstrated when the effect of storage atmosphere at the highest temperature, -9.4° C, is examined, Tables 20 to 22. The effect of the gas treatments at all temperatures upon off-flavour development is recorded in Tables 2 to 19. The development of off-flavour is found to occur most rapidly in the atmospheres used in the following order: oxygen > air > nitrogen.

As conditions go from completely aerobic (oxygen) to completely anaerobic (nitrogen) the development of off-flavour slows down although it still occurs. This would suggest that a different mechanism is involved in the development of off-flavour in frozen beans stored in oxygen and nitrogen. In both cases, however, enzymic activity appears to be involved, since adequate blanching prevents the development of off-flavour and production of TBRS. In nitrogen, off-flavour formation is probably due to anaerobic respiration and the action of hydrolytic enzymes. In oxygen, the action of oxidative enzymes, such as lipoxidase, probably plays a greater role. This

would also hold true in samples stored in air but at a slower rate because of the lower concentration of oxygen.

()

()

Characteristics of TBRS

Malonaldehyde was prepared by the acid hydrolysis of 1,1,3,3-TEP according to the method of Kwon and Watts (1963). The ultraviolet absorption spectrum of the malonaldehyde obtained was recorded on a Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505, after adjusting the pH to 1.6, and is shown in Figure 23. The compound showed a peak at 245 mp. This is in accordance with the absorption maximum of 245 mp for malonaldehyde at pH lower than 3.0, reported by Kwon and Watts (1963).

The ultraviolet absorption spectrum of a steam distillate of unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 147 days at -9.4° C was studied and is shown in Figure 24. The steam distillation was carried out at pH 1.5 since Tarladgis <u>et al</u>. (1960) reported that maximum recovery of TBRS from oxidized food by steam distillation was obtained only under acid conditions. This is also in accordance with work done by Kwon and Watts (1963, 1964) and Kwon <u>et al</u>. (1965). The steam distillate was adjusted to pH 1.6 with 3 N HCl. Absorption maxima for the bean distillate were found to occur between 210 and

								Ì				 		ļ								l 					·		. <u> </u>	
(ļ									 			İ		 					ļ									
														 				`			<u> </u>									
										140					 												11	-7		
													·									1								
									•		- 1 - 1 - 1																			
		1									:																			_
				14.	12								·																	
	<u> </u>													1																
										1.1					/	5														
									-						7															
						5									I^{-}							ĺ								• • • •
														1			\mathbf{n}													
	100													1																
														1																_
						,								1				1												
						• 4														 										
									1																					
					E								T					T												
					BAR	2					·		1					T												
(E E E E	5							1																	
Ì		1			ABS									. .		1.1		'												
							1					1		1	1				\mathbf{h}											
											-	1				1		 .	$\left \right $											
						2						1		1					$ \uparrow\rangle$											
									1.				1						1											
							Λ			1	17								1	\mathbf{h}										
						-	T				1	1								\uparrow		 .		 ·						
								N			1					<u> </u>	-					1								
				1												1.11					\backslash) 								
									1			1										$\overline{\langle}$								
													-																	
						102	200			2	20			2	40			2	60			1	80			3	00			
					1.		1							WA	VE:	LEN	GTI	H	mμ					Ī						
KEU	-			1			Fi	P .	23		U	tra	vi	6] (1	ahs	or	h bt.i	Ion	91		ייי: † ד.דיו	im	of	1					
FEL		-	1			-	<u> </u>			1	sa	mp]	le	φf.	MA	ot	ta	ine	d	fro	m	the	a a	cic		; 	; 		 	
8°		1		1				1	····		hy th	e N	¥±γ ∕ίΑ	ad a	5-0 105	t] ter	;,1 i t.	;3,	1 3- 1.6	TEI	•	 T } 	ie-	p II-	hof:	 		 		
(7)		1			1					<u></u>		<u> </u>			[]			 	·		• ·						' 	•
2 F			1.			1			1				1			· ·			+				 	 						
2					1	1			-						-			<u> </u>		+ ·		+				 				
	سب ا	نعمه	مىشى <u>غ</u> بەل	بأميناهم	سيبك	نعبعك		<u></u>		Lui		-l		- I		سيسل		ينصل	سسنه	ممدميا		مسمعهم			4	L	احصحاً	1	سنسسه	

1

(

C

C

 \mathbf{O}

Fig. 24.--Ultraviolet absorption spectrum of a steam distillate obtained from a sample of acidified (pH 1.1) unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 147 days at -9.4°C. The pH of the distillate adjusted to 1.6. \bigcirc

()

 \bigcirc



)

Tih

225 mµ and between 278 and 288 mµ. Kwon and Watts (1963) reported that the saturated aldehydes, formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, propionaldehyde, butyraldehyde, and hexaldehyde show absorption peaks in the range of 278 to 288 mµ. They also reported that the α, β -unsaturated aldehydes, acrolein and crotonaldehyde, absorb in the region of 210 to 225 mµ. These absorption maxima are not affected by the low pH employed.

()

()

The absorption spectrum of the coloured complex produced with the TBA reagent and MA obtained by the method of Kwon and Watts (1963) is shown in Figure 25. The TBA-MA complex had an absorption maximum of 532 mµ. The absorption spectrum of the coloured complex produced by the reaction of TBA and TBRS from an alcohol extraction of beans had an absorption maximum of 535 mµ.

A comparison of the 2,4-DNPHs of the MA and of the steam distillate of the unblanched beans stored in oxygen on thin-layer chromatography was also carried out. Chloroform-methanol (22:1)(V/V) and 95% ethanol were used as solvents. However, in both cases the R_f values were different.

Thus a comparison of Figures 23 and 24 would indicate that MA is not present in frozen stored beans. This is supported by the results obtained with thin-layer

(). . د افران ۱۹۹۵ و این ایندیک در از در ا ۱۹۹۵ و ۱۹۹۸ در از ایندیک مکرد ۱۹۹۰ و ۱۹۹۵ در ایندیک مکرد ۱۹۹۰ و ۱۹۹۸ مکرد ایندیک مکرد ٠ ٢ 2 t ·

ſ

•

121

• . .

Fig. 25.--I. Absorption spectrum of the coloured complex produced with TBA reagent and MA obtained from the acid hydrolysis of 1,1,3,3-TEP. II. Absorption spectrum of the coloured complex produced with TBA reagent and TBRS obtained from the alcohol extraction of unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 147 days at -9.4°C.

()

 \bigcirc

()

. .



A.

T,

chromatography. However, the TBA-TBRS complex is quite similar to the TBA-MA complex and would seem to indicate that the compound or compounds reacting with TBA resemble MA.

Identification of 2,4-DNPHs

In Series I an attempt was made to identify the 2,4-DNPHs of the carbonyl compounds in the ethanol extract of unblanched and blanched beans by the use of thin-layer chromatography.

The 2,4-DNPHs were separated by TLC, as previously outlined, until the individual compounds were separated. They were then collected and the absorption spectra were determined from 200 to 800 mµ, on a Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505. The absorption spectra were compared with the spectra of 2,4-DNPHine derivatives of known carbonyl compounds. A total of 49 individual spots was collected and their absorption spectra determined. However, in the majority of cases, due to the minute amount of material collected it was not possible to compare the spectra of the unknown derivatives with those prepared from known compounds. Satisfactory peaks were not obtained in the visible range where the peaks of the 2,4-DNPHine derivatives of known carbonyl compounds are

found, i.e., in the region of 350-385 mp.

E

(

Absorption spectra were obtained for the most dominant 2,4-DNPHs from blanched and unblanched beans. A comparison of the absorption spectra of a compound found in both blanched and unblanched beans, stored under oxygen at -9.4° C, is shown in Figure 26. A major peak at 444 mp was obtained for both derivatives. The unidentified compound thus appears to be present in blanched and unblanched beans after extended storage under oxygen at -9.4° C. This compound was also shown to be a bis-aldehyde since it turned blue in the presence of NaOH. Since the blanched beans had still retained good flavour and since the unidentified compound appeared to be one of the ones present in highest concentration it is assumed it did not contribute too greatly to offflavour development. However, it was present in greater concentration in unblanched beans. The compound would also appear to be quite complex in its make-up as evidenced by the shifting of the 2,4-DNPHine peak so far to the right. As the number of double bonds increases in a compound, the normal 2,4-DNPHine peak of 350 mµ is shifted to the right.

All of the absorption spectra obtained for the unknown derivatives showed strong absorption peaks in



<u>N</u>

Fig. 26.--Absorption spectra of 2,4-DNPHine derivatives of a compound found in the alcohol extract of beans. I. Unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 76 days. II. Blanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 76 days.

 $\left(\right)$

 \bigcirc

·



¥.

the region of 210 mµ and/or 225 mµ. Further investigation revealed that when Silica gel G was removed from the plates, after a two-dimensional run with the solvents and treated the same way as the spots collected, an absorption spectrum was obtained with peaks at 212 mµ and 225 mµ. This would indicate that the peaks found for the unknown carbonyl compounds in that region have no significance.

T

Since it was not possible to identify any of the 2,4-DNPHine derivatives of compounds present in unblanched and/or blanched beans in Series I, efforts to identify the carbonyl compounds of beans were repeated. The 2,4-DNPHine derivatives of the steam distillate of unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 147 days were used, along with the ethanol extracts of similar stored beans. They were compared with the derivatives of known carbonyl compounds, using TLC, as previously outlined. The unknowns and the standards were spotted on the same plates and developed and the R, values compared. The results obtained could not confirm the presence of the following compounds in stored frozen beans: acetaldehyde, acrolein, anisaldehyde, benzaldehyde, butyraldehyde, crotonaldehyde, diacetyl, formaldehyde, glyoxal, hexanal, n-hexaldehyde,

I

malonaldehyde, propionaldehyde, and valeraldehyde.

The 2,4-DNPHine derivative of 1-heptanal appeared to resemble closely one of the spots of the 2,4-DNPHs of the steam distillate, in terms of R_f value and colour appearance. However, when an absorption spectrum of the unknown was compared with that of the 1-heptanal derivative, it was apparent that the two were not the same.

The absorption spectrum of the most predominant 2,4-DNPHine derivative present in the steam distillate of unblanched beans is shown in Figure 27. The absorption maximum is at 374 mµ. Two sub-peaks, which are not shown, were observed at 280 mµ and 254 mµ. Although this compound exhibited absorption in the area expected for 2,4-DNPHs efforts to identify it were unsuccessful.

While the attempts to identify the carbonyl compounds in beans were unsuccessful, it was quite apparent that bis-aldehydes were present since a large number of spots changed to a blue colour upon spraying the chromatograms with a 1% alcoholic NaOH solution.



TA
Fig. 27.--Absorption spectrum of a 2,4-DNPHine derivative of a compound found in the steam distillate of unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 147 days.

)

()

()

13 1 - 1 - 1

								 								<u> </u>				·		; 			ļ					
																<u> </u>	<u> </u>			i 					ļ	; ;		t		
(<u> </u>					13	b		
`																ļ									1					
						 									<u> </u>	<u> </u>									<u> </u>			 		<u> </u>
					 											<u> </u>														
																								· ·						
						7																						· ·		
																														
											· .														 					
		 											-/-		-/-															
				<u>.</u>	,	6-							/		$\left + \right $									<u>.</u>	 			 		\square
					<u> </u>						· ·	/				<u>\</u>						 						<u> </u>		
												-		<u></u>		\uparrow						<u> </u>						 		
		 										- -													 	 		<u> </u>	 	
					.)	5				<u> </u>		\vdash																		
(:		<u></u>							\vdash		:			\setminus													$\left - \right $
				1	4						i-f		:		. 		\uparrow									<u> </u>				
					4 2												-\													$\left \right $
					Ц, с	4					f							-					-	<u> </u>						
				-	2				•					1 . 1				\uparrow			•••							1		
				C	0	 												1		 • • • •								 		
				f	9 - -	2	$\left \right $			7		. 1. 1																		
			 		••••••		$\mathbf{\Lambda}$		1										1					•						
																	1													
											:						·													
				- 44 		2											÷.	100 10		\backslash										
					•				\mathbb{Z}																					
										545) 14			1 / 1 1																	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								÷.,			 																		
		760) 2002				1									-							\sum								
																							\sum							
x				11.5																		ļ		7	[
KEUFF																					<u> </u>	<u> </u>								
Ē					0.	0_																						i 		
8		- 14 - 14 				3	00			3	40			3	80	. 		4	20			4	60			5	00			<u> </u>
ŚER					·									W		SLE.	NGT	'H	mp	1		ļ				 		<u> </u>		—
C.º.	en e Chire															Fig		-27				<u> </u>								<u> </u>
÷. K									<u>.</u>		L				<u> </u>		 		: 		I	ļ	L		L	L		İ		

Į,

Steam Distillation vs Ethanol Extraction

A comparison of the steam distillation method and the ethanol extraction method to obtain the TBRS was carried out on both blanched and unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4° C.

Part of the material extracted by each method was reacted with TBA and the absorption spectra were determined with the Bausch and Lomb Spectronic 505. Figure 28 represents a comparison of the coloured complexes produced by the TBA-TBRS reaction for the material extracted by each of the methods. It is quite apparent that the ethanol method extracted much more TBRS from the beans than did steam distillation. The ethanol extract TBA-TBRS complex exhibited absorption maxima at 328, 380, 418, 455 and 535 mµ, while the steam distillate TBA-TBRS complex exhibited absorption maxima at 327, 455 and 535 mµ.

As would be expected since the ethanol extract contained more TBRS from the beans it also contained a greater quantity of compounds reacting with 2,4-DNPHine. TLC of the 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the steam distillates and the alcohol extracts revealed that many more hydrazones were formed in the alcohol extract. This would be expected since only the volatile carbonyl compounds are

tih

•

 \bigcirc

()

 \bigcirc

Fig. 28.--A comparison of the absorption spectra of the TBA-TBRS coloured complexes obtained from beans. I. Alcohol extract of unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 20 days at -9.4°C. II. Steam distillate of unblanched beans stored under oxygen for 20 days at -9.4°C.)

 \bigcirc

 \bigcirc



ĮΝ

obtained by steam distillation. However, in the alcohol extract a wider range of compounds would be extracted and form 2,4-DNPHs. Photographs were taken of the developed chromatograms of the 2,4-DNPHs of the unblanched and blanched bean extracts throughout the storage period.

C

ſ

Figures 29 and 30 show that, initially, the unblanched and blanched beans contain an approximately equal quantity of reactive material.

After 13 days of storage at -9.4°C, photographs of the 2,4-DNPHs were again taken and are shown in Figures 31 and 32. They indicate that there was more reactive material in the unblanched samples than in the blanched. The spots located in the top left and bottom right sides of the plate show the greatest increase in intensity for the unblanched beans. No increase was observed for the blanched beans.

After 20 days of storage at -9.4°C, photographs of the 2,4-DNPHs were again taken and are shown in Figures 33 and 34. They indicate that the quantity of reactive material in unblanched beans had continued to increase, as indicated by the increased colour intensity of the spots situated in top left and bottom right sides of the plate. However, the quantity of reactive material in blanched beans did not appear to increase.





Fig. 29.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of fresh unblanched beans.

Fig. 30.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of fresh blanched beans.





Fig. 32.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of blanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 13 days.

Fig. 31.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 13 days.





Fig. 33.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of unblanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.40C for 20 days.

Fig. 34.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of blanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 20 days.

These findings parallel those obtained in the TBA test. The TBA numbers obtained initially, at 13 days and at 20 days were 0.740, 1.42 and 1.45, respectively, for unblanched beans and .587, .545 and .580, respectively, for blanched beans, stored in oxygen at -9.4°C. Thus as the TBA number increased in unblanched beans so did the intensity of some of the 2,4-DNPHs on the TLC plates. Furthermore, the TBA number for blanched beans did not change appreciably and increase in intensity was not observed on the chromatograms of blanched beans.

()

()

Colour photographs of the developed chromatograms of the unblanched and blanched beans were taken (Figures 35 and 36) in order to have a permanent record of the appearance of the spots obtained.





Fig. 35.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of unblanched beans stored under oxygen at-9.4°C for 20 days.

برز معا مما

Fig. 36.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of blanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 20 days.





Fig. 35.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of unblanched beans stored under oxygen at-9.4°C for 20 days.

مورد د.

Fig. 36.--Chromatogram of 2,4-DNPHs obtained from the ethanol extract of blanched beans stored under oxygen at -9.4°C for 20 days.

IV. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

(final) Carlor

> Unblanched and blanched beans were stored under oxygen, nitrogen and air at -9.4° C, -15.0° C and -20.6° C. Three different lots were investigated during 76, 42 and 42 days respectively. The development of oxidative rancidity was investigated, using 2-TBA as the reagent. Organoleptic tests were carried out concurrently.

The 2-thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBRS) was satisfactorily extracted from the beans, using 95% ethanol as the solvent. Ethanol extracts of the unblanched and blanched beans, stored under the above conditions, were analyzed at regular intervals. The results indicate that the TBA method is sensitive enough to detect changes occurring in raw beans, and that these changes parallelled the development of offflavour in the beans, as determined organoleptically. A satisfactory relationship appears to exist between the development of off-flavours and TBA numbers in frozen green beans. Thus the TBA reagent could be used to detect the development of off-flavour in frozen green beans.

The accumulation of TBRS and the development of

off-flavour were found to be influenced by handling methods and storage conditions. Blanching was found to prevent both TBRS production and off-flavour development. In unblanched beans the storage atmosphere and temperature used had a definite effect on TBRS production and off-flavour development, and this effect was exerted in the following order: oxygen > air > nitrogen and $-9.4^{\circ}C > -15.0^{\circ}C > -20.6^{\circ}C$.

()

 $(\cap$

The presence of carbonyl compounds in the beans was demonstrated by preparing their 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine derivatives and examining them by means of thin-layer chromatography.

A comparison of the steam distillation method of extraction and the ethanol extraction method was carried out. Results indicate that the ethanol extract of beans contains more TBRS and more carbonyl compounds than does the steam distillate of beans.

Malonaldehyde could not be identified in the blanched or unblanched beans after extended periods of storage. Thus it is assumed that the 2-TBA reacts with some other compound or compounds to form the coloured complex obtained.

REFERENCES

Allen, C. F. H. 1930. The identification of carbonyl compounds by use of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>52</u>: 2955-2959. Allen, C. F. H., and J. H. Richmond. 1937. Some limitations of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine as a reagent for carbonyl compounds. J. Org. Chem. 2: 222-226. André, E., and K. Hoy. 1932. The presence of a lipid oxidase in soy bean, glycine soja, lieb. Compt. Rend. 194: 645-647. cf. Chem. Abs. 26: 3004. 1933. The lipid oxidases of glycine soja, and Phaseolus vulgaris. Compt. Rend. 195: 172-174. cf. Chem. Abs. 27: 1378. Anet, E. F. L. J. 1962. Thin-layer chromatography of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine derivatives of hydroxycarbonyl compounds. J. Chromatog. 9: 291-294. Arighi, A. L., M. A. Joslyn, and G. L. Marsh. 1936. Énzyme activity in frozen vegetables. Ind. Eng. Chem. <u>28</u>: 595-598. Armstrong, H. E., and E. Ormerod. 1907. Studies on enzyme action. Lipase. II. Pr. Roy. Soc. <u>78</u>: 376-385. Asada, T. 1952. Lipoxidase. J. Japan. Biochem. Soc. <u>24</u>: 129-134. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>47</u>: 12452. Badings, H. T. 1961. Thin-layer chromatography under controlled conditions. J. Chromatog. <u>14</u>: 265-268.

- 3

T

Balls, A. K. 1940. Report on (the assay of) enzymes. J. Assoc. Offic. Agr. Chemists 23: 446-447. 1942. The fate of enzymes in processed foods. The Fruit Products Journal 22: 36-39. 1947. Enzyme action and food quality. Food Technol. 1: 245-251. Balls, A. K., R. A. Elrod, and M. W. Kies. 1943. Soy bean lipoxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 149: 491-504. Balls, A. K., and H. Lineweaver. 1938. Action of enzymes at low temperatures. Food Research 3: 57-67. Balls, A. K., and I. W. Tucker. 1938. Activity of lipase at low temperatures. Ind. Eng. Chem. 30: 415-416. Beale, W. L., and W. A. Gould. 1959. Adaptation of a quantitative peroxidase test to detection of quality levels of frozen corn-onthe-cob. Proc. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. 74: 465-471. Bedford, C. L., and M. A. Joslyn. 1939. Enzyme activity in frozen vegetables. Stringbeans. Ind. Eng. Chem. 31: 751-758. Bengtsson, B., and I. Bosund. 1964. Gas chromatographic evaluation of the formation of volatile substances in stored peas. Food Technol. 18: 179-182. 1966. Lipid hydrolysis in unblanched frozen peas (Pisum sativum). J. of Food Sci. <u>31</u>: 474-481. Bernheim, F., M. L. C. Bernheim, and K. M. Wilbur. 1948. The reaction between thiobarbituric acid and the oxidation products of certain lipides. J. Biol. Chem. <u>174</u>: 257-264.

<u>h</u> ...

144

h.

Biggs, D. A., and L. R. Bryant. 1953. The thiobarbituric acid test for butterfat oxidation. Can. J. Technol. <u>31</u>: 138-145. Boettcher, H. 1962. Elimination of the effect of enzymes in the coldpreservation of vegetables. II. Inactivation of enzymes by hot water blanching. Nahrung. 6: 325-345. cf. Chem. Abs. 56: 7683. 1962. Elimination of the effect of enzymes in the coldpreservation of vegetables. III. The effect of the enzyme activity remaining after blanching in the quality of frozen foods. Nahrung. 6: 446-459. cf. Chem. Abs. 57: 14249. 1962. Elimination of the effect of enzymes in the coldpreservation of vegetables. V. The importance of enzyme regeneration in cold-preservation. Nahrung. 6: 537-544. cf. Chem. Abs. 58: 9560. Brady, O. L. 1931. The use of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine as a reagent for carbonyl compounds. J. Chem. Soc. 1931: 756-759. Braude, E. A., and R. H. Jones. 1945. Studies in light absorption. II. 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones. J. Chem. Soc. 1945: 498-503. Brownley, C. A., and L. Lachman. 1965. Use of the 2-thiobarbituric-malonaldehyde reaction as a measure of antioxidant effectiveness in pharmaceutical oils. J. Pharm. Sci. 54: 1480-1487. Buck, P. A., and M. A. Joslyn. 1953. Accumulation of alcohol in underscalded frozen broccoli. J. Agr. Food Chem. <u>1</u>: 309-312. Byrne, G. A. 1965. The separation of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones by

thin-layer chromatography. J. Chromatog. <u>20</u>: 528-540.

Ĵ

- Caldwell, E. F., and B. Grogg. 1955. Application of the thiobarbituric test to cereal and baked food. Food Technol. 9: 185-186.
- Campbell, A. I. C. 1936. The use of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine as a reagent for carbonyl compounds. Analyst <u>61</u>: 391-395.
- Cruess, W. V. 1947. Blanching--Its frozen pack importance. Canner. <u>104</u>: 62-64.
- Dahle, L. K., E. G. Hill, and R. T. Holman. 1962. The TBA reaction and the Autoxidations of polyunsaturated fatty acid methyl esters. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. <u>98</u>: 253.
- David, J. J. 1949. Acetaldehyde and related carbonyl compounds in frozen peas. Thesis for degree of Ph.D. University of California Library, Berkely, California.
- David, J. J., and M. A. Joslyn. 1953. Acetaldehyde and related compounds in frozen peas. Food Research 18: 390-398.
- Denti, E., and M. P. Luboz. 1965. Separation of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones of carbonyl compounds by thin-layer chromatography. J. Chromatog. <u>18</u>: 325-330.
- Dhont, J. C., and C. DeRooy. 1961. Chromatographic behaviour of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazone chromatoplates. Analyst <u>86</u>: 74-76.
- Diehl, H. C., and J. A. Berry. 1933. Relation of scalding practice and storage temperature to quality retention in frozen pack peas. Proc. Am. Soc. Hort. Sci. <u>30</u>: 496-500.
- Diehl, H. C., H. Campbell, and J. A. Berry. 1936. Some observations on the freezing preservation of Alderman peas. Food Research <u>1</u>: 61-71.

145

J

T

Diehl, H. C., J. H. Dingle, and J. A. Berry. 1933. Enzymes can cause off-flavour even when foods are frozen. Food Ind. <u>5</u>: 300-301.

Dietrich, W. C., F. E. Lindquist, G. S. Bohart, H. J. Morris, and M. D. Nutting. 1955. Effect of degree of enzyme inactivation and storage temperature on quality retention in frozen peas. Food Research 20: 480-491.

Dietrich, W. C., M. D. Nutting, R. L. Olson, F. E. Lindquist, M. M. Boggs, G. S. Bohart, H. J. Neumann, and H. J. Morris. 1959. Time-temperature tolerance of frozen foods. XVI. Quality retention of frozen green snap beans in retail packages. Food Technol. 13: 136-145.

Dietrich, W. C., M. D. Nutting, M. M. Boggs, and N. F. Weinstein. 1962. Time-temperature tolerance of frozen foods. XXIV. Quality changes in cauliflower. Food Technol. <u>16</u>: 123-128.

Dox, A. W., and G. P. Plaisance. 1916. The condensation of thiobarbituric acid with aromatic aldehydes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>38</u>: 2164-2166.

Dunkley, W. L. 1951. Evaluation of the thiobarbituric acid test as a measure of oxidized flavour in milk. Food Technol. <u>5</u>: 342-346.

Dunkley, W. L., and W. G. Jennings. 1951. A procedure for application of the thicbarbituric acid test to milk. J. Dairy Sci. <u>34</u>: 1064-1069.

Fisher, W. B., and F. O. van Duyne. 1952. Effect of variations in blanching on quality of frozen broccoli, snap beans, and spinach. Food Research <u>17</u>: 315-325.

Fujimaki, M., and F. Yoshimatsu. 1960. Reaction of cooked, stored meats with 2-thiobarbituric acid. I. Changes of thio-barbituric acid values of cooked meats during storage. Nippon Negei Kagaku Kaishi 34: 518-523. cf. Chem. Abs. 55: 8690. Fuleki, T. 1961. Acetaldehyde and alcohol production in frozen snap beans and their relation to off-flavour. Thesis for degree of M.Sc., McGill University. Geiss, F., and H. Schlitt. 1960. The effect of relative humidity in the pretreatment and development of thin-layer chromatographic plates. Naturwissenschaften 50: 350-351. cf. Chem. Abs. 59: 2145. Gortner, W. A., F. Fenton, F. E. Voltz, and E. Gleim. 1948. Effect of fluctuating storage temperature on quality of frozen foods. Ind. Eng. Chem. 40: 1423-1426.

Gutterman, B. M., R. D. Lovejoy, and L. M. Beacham. 1951. Report on quality factors in processed vegetables. Preliminary report on correlation of acetaldehyde with off-flavour in frozen vegetables. J. Assoc. Offic. Agr. Chemists <u>34</u>: 231-232.

Heiss, R., and K. Peach. 1937. Comparative experiments on the freezing of fruits and vegetables. Z. ges Kalte-Ind. <u>44</u>: 188-194, 212-217. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>32</u>: 2239.

Ho, S. Y., and W. D. Brown. 1966. Reactivities of lipid solvents with thiobarbituric acid. J. fo Food Sci. <u>31</u>: 386-388.

Holman, R. T. 1947. Crystalline lipoxidase. II. Lipoxidase activity. Arch. Biochem. <u>15</u>: 403-413.

Jennings, W. G., W. L. Dunkley, and H. G. Reiber. 1955. Studies of certain red pigments formed from 2-thiobarbituric acid. Food Research <u>20</u>: 13-22.

147

1A:

1

ſ.

Johnston, C. D. 1947. Identification and chromatography of androgens as their 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones. Science 106: 91. Joslyn, M. A. 1930. Preservation of fruits and vegetables by freezing storage. Calif. Dept. Agr. Exp. Sta. Circ. <u>320</u>: 1-35. 1946. Enzyme activity-index of quality in frozen vegetables. Food Ind. 18: 1204-1210. 1949. Enzyme activity in frozen vegetable tissue. Advances in Enzymol. 9: 613-652. 1953. Evaluation of quality in frozen vegetables. World Refrig. 4: 21-24. cf. Chem. Abs. 47: 4008. 1957. (Determination of) Peroxidase in frozen vegetables. J. Assoc. Offic. Agr. Chemists <u>40</u>: 338-342. 1961. The freezing preservation of vegetables. Economic Botany <u>15</u>: 347-375. Joslyn, M. A., and C. L. Bedford. 1938-1940. Unpublished data. 1940. Enzyme activity in frozen vegetables. Asparagus. Ind. Eng. Chem. <u>32</u>: 702-706. Joslyn, M. A., and J. J. David. 1952. Acetaldehyde and alcohol in raw or underblanched peas. Quick Frozen Foods 15: 51-53, 151-153. Joslyn, M. A., and G. L. Marsh. 1933. Observations on certain changes occurring during freezing and subsequent thawing of fruits and vegetables.

Fruit Prod. J. <u>12</u>: 330-332.

5

Joslyn, M. A., and G. L. Marsh. 1933. The role of peroxidase in the deterioration of frozen fruits and vegetables. Science <u>78</u>: 174-175. 1938. Enzyme activity in frozen vegetables. Artichoke hearts. Ind. Eng. Chem. 30: 1068-1073. Joslyn, M. A., and H. J. Neumann. 1963. Peroxidase in frozen vegetables. J. Assoc. Offic. Agr. Chemists 46: 712-717. Kastle, J. H., and A. S. Loevenhart. 1900. Concerning lipase, the fat-splitting enzyme, and the reversibility of its action. Am. Chem. J. <u>24</u>: 491. Khomutov, B. I., and G. A. Garkusha. 1960. Use of 2-thiobarbituric acid for detection of oxidized fats. Voprosy Med Khim. <u>6</u>: 431-434. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>55</u>: 9532. Kohman, E. F., and N. H. Sanborn. 1934. Effect of respiration on vegetable flavour. Ind. Eng. Chem. 26: 773-776. Kohn, H. I., and M. Liversedge. 1944. On a new aerobic metabolite whose production by brain is inhibited by apomorphine, emetine, erogotamine, epinephrine and menadione. Cited by Patton, S., and G. W. Kurtz (1951). 2-thiobarbituric acid as a reagent for detecting milk fat oxidation. J. Dairy Sci. <u>34</u>: 669-674. Korytnyk, W., and E. A. Metzler. 1963. Composition of lipids of lima beans and certain other beans. J. Sci. Food Agr. 14: 841-844. Kramer, A. 1954. Mandatory standards program on quality factors for frozen asparagus and peas--an industry approach. III. Evaluation of results. Food Technol. <u>8</u>: 468-470.

149

1 ्

Ĩ

Kramer, A., and C. H. Mahoney. 1940. Comparison of organoleptic and physicochemical methods for determining quality in fresh, frozen, and canned lima beans. Food Research <u>5</u>: 583-592. Kuprianoff, J. 1961. Physical and biochemical modifications of frozen Rev. Conserve. 16: 35-45. cf. Chem. Abs. 56: 5167. Kurtz, G. W., E. F. Price, and S. Patton. 1951.

Studies on 2-thiobarbituric acid as a reagent for detecting milk fat oxidation. J. Dairy Sci. <u>34</u>: 484.

foods.

- Kwon, T. W. 1963. Studies on malonaldehyde in lipid oxidation. Cited by Kwon, T. W., and B. M. Watts (1964). Malonaldehyde in aqueous solution and its role as a measure of lipid oxidation in foods. J. Food Sci. 29: 294-302.
- Kwon, T. W., D. B. Menzel, and H. S. Olcott. 1965. Reactivity of malonaldehyde with food constituents. J. Food Sci. 30: 808-813.
- Kwon, T. W., and B. M. Watts. 1963. Determination of malonaldehyde by ultraviolet spectrophotometry. J. Food Sci. 28: 627-630.

1963. A new colour reaction of anthrone with malonaldehyde and other aliphatic aldehydes. Anal. Chem. 35: 733-735.

1964. Malonaldehyde in aqueous solution and its role as a measure of lipid oxidation in foods. J. Food Sci. 29: 294-302.

Lee, F. A. 1954. Chemical changes taking place in the crude lipids during the storage of frozen raw evegetables. Food Research 19: 515-520.

1958. The effect of blanching on the carbonyl content of the crude lipid during the storage of frozen peas. Food Research 23: 85-86.

150

X S

T

Lee, F. A. 1958.

1958.

The blanching process. Advances in Food Research 8: 63-109. Lee, F. A., and L. R. Mattick. 1960. Fatty acids of the lipids of vegetables. I. Peas. J. of Food Sci. <u>26</u>: 273-275. Lee, F. A., and A. C. Wagenknecht. 1951. On the development of off-flavour during the storage of frozen raw peas. Food Research 16: 239-244. Enzyme action and off-flavour in frozen peas. II. The use of enzymes prepared from garden peas. Food Research 23: 584-590. Lee, F. A., A. C. Wagenknecht, and J. C. Hening. 1955. A chemical study on the progressive development of off-flavour in frozen raw vegetables. Food Research 20: 289-297. Lindquist, F. E., W. C. Dietrich, and M. M. Boggs. 1950. Effect of storage temperature on quality of frozen peas. Food Technol. 4: 5-9. Lindquist, F. E., W. C. Dietrich, M. P. Masure, and

M. M. Boggs. 1951. Effect of enzyme inactivation on quality retention in frozen Brussels sprouts. Food Technol. 5: 198-199.

Lineweaver, H. 1939. The energy of activation of enzyme reactions and their velocity below 00. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>61</u>: 403-408.

Lineweaver, H., and H. J. Morris. 1947. Preliminary report on development of methods for catalase determination in frozen vegetables. J. Assoc. Offic. Agr. Chemists <u>30</u>: 413-416.

Loury, M. 1963. Mechanism of the autoxidative rancidification of fats. Compt. Rend. 256: 2870-2871. cf. Chem. Abs. 59: 843.

151

N

- Sundianasardaghan

T

T

Lovejoy, R. D. 1952. Report on quality factors in processed vegetable products. Acetaldehyde as a measure of flavour in frozen peas and frozen asparagus. J. Assoc. Offic. Agr. Chemists 35: 179-181. Lucas, H. J., A. N. Prater, and R. E. Morris. 1935. The reaction between oxygen and 2-butene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>57</u>: 723-727. Lund, A. J., and H. O. Halvorson. 1951. The effects of low temperature on enzymes and microorganisms. Proc. 3rd Conf. on Research, Am. Meat Inst., Chicago, 59. cf. Chem. Abs. 45: 8569. Lundberg, W. O. 1956. Lipoxidase-catalyzed oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids. Fette, Siefer, Anstrichmittel. <u>58</u>: 329-331. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>51</u>: 10602. Makower, R. U. 1956. Influence of enzymes on the quality of processed fruits and vegetables. Econ. Botany <u>10</u>: 38-41. Maruta, S., and Y. Suzuki. 1961. Analysis of aliphatic aldehydes. Kogyo Kagaku Zasshi. 64: 2129-2131. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>57</u>: 4038. Masure, M. P., and H. Campbell. 1944. Rapid estimation of peroxidase in vegetable extracts--an index of blanching adequacy for frozen vegetables. Fruit Prod. J. 23: 369. Mattick, L. R., and F. A. Lee. 1960. The fatty acids of vegetables. II. Spinach. J. Food Sci. <u>26</u>: 356-358. Matthews, R. F. 1961. Gas and paper chromatography of volatile flavour constituents of several vegetables. Dissertation Abs. 21: 1693. Meijboom, P. W., and G. Jurriens. 1965. Separation of positional and geometrical isomers of monoenic aldehydes via the dinitrophenylhydrazones. J. Chromatog. <u>18</u>: 424-426.

สนับรับสร้างเรื่องรู้สร้างเรื่องรู้สุดสร้างเรื่องจำนึงเราเรื่องรู้ได้เรา รู้เป็นรู้ ก็รู้รู้สร้างเป็น สีปร้างเรื่องรู้

Mergentime, M., and E. H. Wiegand. 1946. Low temperature characteristics of pea proteinase. Fruit Prod. J. 26: 72-80, 89, 91-92. Mihelic, F. 1963. Value of the thiobarbituric acid number in the investigation of vegetable edible oils and lards. Kem. Ind. 12: 147-150. cf. Chem. Abs. 60: 6138. 1964. Value of the thiobarbituric acid number in the investigation of vegetable edible oils and lards. Kem. Ind. <u>13</u>: 682-684. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>62</u>: 11072. Moore, R. E. 1951. Formation of acetaldehyde and alcohol in frozen peas and their relation to off-flavour development. Thesis for degree of M.Sc., McGill University. Munker, W. 1962. The application of the 2-thiobarbituric acid reaction (TBS reaction) in the fish industry. Fischereiforschung <u>5</u>: 25-28. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>61</u>: 16702. Neuberg, C., A Grauer, and B. V. Pisha. 1952. The precipitation of carbonyl compounds with 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine. Formation of isomeric dinitrophenylhydrazones. Anal. Chim. Acta 7: 238-242. Noble, I., and J. D. Winter. 1952. Is blanching necessary when vegetables are to be kept in frozen storage one month or less. J. Home Econ. 44: 33-35. Oser, B. L. 1946. How foods spoil. Food Industries 18: 1683. Palmeter, R. E., T. C. Yu, and R. O. Sinnhuber. 1960. An accelerated oxidation method for the estimation of the storage life of seafoods. Food Technol. 14: 528-532. Patton, S. 1960. Response of epihydrin aldehyde and glyceraldehyde on the thiobarbituric acid test for fat oxidation. Food Research 25: 554-556.

153

ih

ad services a subject of the state of the state of the state of the subject of the state of the state of the s subject of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state of the state

Patton, S., M. Keeney, and G. W. Kurtz. 1951. Compounds producing the Kries colour reaction with particular reference to oxidized milk fat. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. <u>28</u>: 391-393.

Patton, S., and G. W. Kurtz. 1951. 2-thiobarbituric acid as a reagent for detecting milk oxidation. J. Dairy Sci. <u>34</u>: 669-674.

Pendlington, S. 1962. Chemical changes in unblanched peas after vining. Proc. First Intern. Congr. Food Sci. and Technol. London (In press). Cited by Bengtsson, B., and I. Bosund (1964). Gas chromatographic evaluation of the formation of volatile substances in stored peas. Food Technol. <u>18</u>: 179-182.

Pinsent, B. R. W. 1961. Peroxidase regeneration and its effect on quality in frozen peas and thawed peas. J. Food Sci. <u>27</u>: 120-126.

Pippen, E. L., E. J. Eyring, and M. Nonaka. 1957. Chromatographic separation of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones. Anal. Chem <u>29</u>: 1305-1307.

Pohle, W. D., R. L. Gregory, and B. van Giessen. 1964. Relation of the peroxide value and thiobarbituric acid value to development of undesirable flavour characteristics in fats. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. <u>41</u>: 649-650.

Pool, M. F., and A. A. Klose. 1951. Estimation of monocarbonyl compounds in rancid foods. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 28: 215-218.

Purr, A. 1964.

Determination of the degree of oxidation of food fats and fat-containing foods with the help of the thiobarbituric acid test. Deut. Lebensm.-Rundschau. <u>60</u>: 269-277. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>62</u>: 4527.

Ralls, J. W. 1960.

Flash exchange gas chromatography for the analysis of potential flavour components of peas. J. Agr. Food Chem. <u>8</u>: 141-143.

154

T

Roberts, J. D., and C. Green. 1946. Separation of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones by chromatographic adsorption. Ind. Eng. Chem., Anal. Ed. 18: 335. 1946. Absorption spectra of some 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 68: 214-216. Romero, A. V., and R. Gonzalez-Quijano. 1956. The rancidity of lard. II. The thiobarbituric acid test. Grasus y Aceites 7: 229-233. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>51</u>: 7608. Rosmus, J., and Z. Deyl. 1961. Two improved methods for the separation of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones of carbonyl compounds. J. Chromatog. 6: 187-190. Saslaw, L. D., and V. S. Waravdekar. 1965. Behaviour of unsaturated fatty acids in the thiobarbituric acid test after radiolysis. Radiation Res. 24: 375-389. cf. Chem. Abs. 62: 13492. Saunders, J., and J. R. K. May. 1963. The presence of hydrogen bonding in malonaldehyde. Chem. and Ind. <u>1963</u>: 1355-1356. Schmidt, H. 1959. Thiobarbituric acid number as a measure of the oxidation of edible fats. Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel. <u>61</u>: 127-133. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>53</u>: 14374. Schwartz, D. P., and O. W. Parks. 1963. Thin-layer chromatography of carbonyl compounds. Separation of aliphatic carbonyl 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones into classes. Microchem. J. 7: 403. Schwartz, D. P., O. W. Parks, and M. Keeney. 1962. Separation of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazone derivatives of aliphatic monocarbonyls into classes on magnesia. Anal. Chem. 34: 669.

١

Schwartz, M. G., and B. M. Watts. 1957. Application of the thiobarbituric acid test as a quantitative measure of deterioration in cooked oyster. Food Research 22: 76-82.

Self, R., J. C. Casey, and T. Swain. 1963. The low boiling volatiles of cooked foods. Chem. Ind. (London). cf. Chem. Abs. <u>59</u>: 3263.

- Siddiqi, A. M., and A. L. Tappel. 1956. Catalysis of lincleate oxidation by pea lipoxidase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. <u>60</u>: 91-99.
- Sidwell, C. G., S. Salwin, M. Benca, and J. H. Mitchell. 1954. The use of thiobarbituric acid as a measure of fat oxidation. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 31: 603-606.
- Sidwell, C. G., S. Salwin, and J. H. Mitchell. 1955. Measurement of oxidation in dried milk products with thiobarbituric acid. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. <u>32</u>: 13-16.
- Sinnhuber, R. O., and T. S. Yu. 1958. 2-thiobarbituric acid method for the measurement of rancidity in fishery products. II. The quantitative determination of malonaldehyde. Food Technol. 12: 9-11.
- Sinnhuber, R. O., T. S. Yu, and Te Chang Yu. 1958. Characterization of the red pigment formed in the 2-thiobarbituric acid determination of oxidative rancidity. Food Research 23: 626-633.
- Sizer, I. W., and E. S. Josephson. 1942. Kinetics as a function of temperature of lipase, trypsin, and invertase activity from -70° to 50°C. Food Research 7: 201-209.
- Smith, G. N. 1948. Studies on lipoxidase. IV. Effect of changes in temperature and pH on lipoxidase activity as determined by spectral changes in methyl linoleate. Arch. Biochem. <u>19</u>: 133-143.

1

1

T

Smith, R. B. 1966. Off-flavour development in frozen cauliflower. Thesis for degree of M.Sc., McGill University. Smoczkiewiczowa, A., and J. Grochmalicka. 1961. Barbituric and thiobarbituric acids in evaluating stability of ascorbic acid solutions. Acta Polon. Pharm. 18: 515-519. cf. Chem. Abs. 57: 6024. Stadtman, F. H. 1948. The chemical deterioration of dried fruit during storage. III. Chromatographic separation of carbonyl compounds as 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 70: 3583-3586. Strain, H. H. 1935. 3-nitrobenzohydrazones, 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones and the separation of hydrazones by adsorption. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>57</u>: 758-761. 1941. Unsaturated fat oxidase: specificity, occurrence, and induced oxidations. J. Am. Chem. Soc. <u>63</u>: 3542. Street, J. P., and E. M. Bailey. 1915. The carbohydrates and the enzymes of the soy bean. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 7: 853-858. Sullmann, H. 1943. Lipoxidase. Helv. Chim. Acta 26: 2253-2263. cf. Chem. Abs. 38: 2671. Sumner, R. J. 1942. Lipid oxidase studies. II. The specificity of the enzyme lipoxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 146: 211-213. 1942. Lipid oxidase studies. III. The relation between carotene oxidation and the enzymic peroxidation of unsaturated fats. J. Biol. Chem. <u>146</u>: 215-218. 1943. Lipid oxidase studies. A method for the determination of lipoxidase activity. Ind. Eng. Chem., Anal. Ed. 15: 14-15.

Ţ

Szilas-Kelemen, M., and Z. Bereczky. 1962. Critical comparison of methods for detecting incipient rancidity (in edible oils and fats). Budapesti Muszaki Egyet. Exelm.-Kem. Tansz. Kozlemeny. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>59</u>: 5695.

Tanaka, S., K. Kuriiwa, and H. Ikegami. 1955. The estimation of oxidized flavour in milk and milk products with 2-thiobarbituric acid reagent. I. Adaptation of thiobarbituric acid to the estimation of oxidized flavour in milk and whole milk powder. Nippon Chikusaneaku Kaiho <u>26</u>: 63-66. cf. Dairy Sci. Abs. <u>18</u>: 90.

Tarladgis, B. G., A. M. Pearson, and L. R. Dugan. 1962. The chemistry of the 2-thiobarbituric acid test for the determination of oxidative rancidity in foods. I. Some important side reactions. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. <u>39</u>: 34-39.

. 1964. Chemistry of the 2-thiobarbituric acid test for determination of oxidative rancidity in foods. II. Formation of the thiobarbituric acidmalonaldehyde complex without acid-heat treatment. J. Sci. Food Agr. <u>15</u>: 602-607.

Tarladgis, B. G., and B. M. Watts. 1960. Malonaldehyde production during the controlled oxidation of pure, unsaturated fatty acids. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. <u>37</u>: 403-406.

Tarladgis, B. G., B. M. Watts, M. T. Younathan, and L. R. Dugan. 1960. A distillation method for the quantitative determination of malonaldehyde in rancid foods. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. <u>37</u>: 44-48.

Taufel, K., and R. Zimmerman. 1960. Reaction of 2-thiobarbituric acid with aldehydes. Naturwissenschaften <u>47</u>: 133. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>55</u>: 5511.

_____. 1961. The chemistry of the colour reaction between 2-thiobarbituric acid and carbonyl compounds. Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel <u>63</u>: 226-234. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>55</u>: 15964. Th

T

1933.

cold storage.

1933.

1939.

Urbach, G. 1963.

1963.

1958.

Wager, H. G. 1958.

Tressler, D. K. 1932. Chemical problems of the quick freezing industry. Ind. Eng. Chem. 24: 682-686. Changes which may occur in frozen foods during Food Ind. <u>5</u>: 346-347. Preventing changes in stored frozen foods. Food Ind. <u>5</u>: 410, 432. Bacteria, enzymes, and vitamins--Indices of quality on frozen vegetables. Refrig. Eng. 36: 319-321. Turner, E. W., W. D. Paynter, E. J. Montie, M. W. Dessert, G. M. Struck, and F. C. Olson. 1954. Use of the 2-thiobarbituric acid reagent to measure rancidity in frozen pork. Food Technol. 8: 326-330. Thin-layer chromatography of aliphatic 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones. J. Chromatog. 12: 196-207. Wagenknecht, A. C. 1952. Deterioration in quality of frozen raw peas during storage. Quick Frozen Foods 14: 49-51. Lipids of green beans. J. Food Sci. <u>28</u>: 489-494. Wagenknecht, A. C., and F. A. Lee. 1956. The action of lipoxidase in frozen raw peas. Food Research <u>21</u>: 605-610. Enzyme action and off-flavour in frozen peas. Food Research 23: 25-31. Determination of ethanol and acetaldehyde in plant tissue by low temperature diffusion. Analyst 83: 291-295.

Wahhab, A. 1948. Determination of dried fruit. II. Identification of furfurals. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 70: 3580-3582. White, J. W. 1948. Chromatographic separation of aliphatic 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazones. Anal. Chem. 20: 726-728. 1950. Composition of volatile fraction of apples. Food Research <u>15</u>: 68-78. Whitfield, F. B., and J. Shipton. 1966. Volatile carbonyls in stored unblanched frozen peas. J. of Food Sci. 31: 328-331. Wilbur, K. M., F. Bernheim, and O. W. Shapiro. 1949. The thiobarbituric acid reagent as a test for the oxidation of unsaturated fatty acids various agents. Arch. Biochem. 24: 305-313. Winterton, D. 1962. Use of the thiobarbituric acid number as a measure of the degree of oxidation of roasted Macadamia nuts. Queensland J. Agr. Sci. 19: 291-294. cf. Chem. Abs. <u>58</u>: 2783. Woodroof, J. G. 1931. Preservation freezing. Some aspects on quality of fruits and vegetables. Georgia Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 168. Woodroof, J. G., I. S. Atkinson, S. R. Cecol, and E. Shelor. 1946. Studies of methods of scalding (blanching) vegetables for freezing. Georgia Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. 248. Wyatt, C. J., and E. A. Day. 1965. A simplified and precise flavour evaluation procedure for determining oxidative rancidity in vegetable oils. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. <u>42</u>: 734-736.

160

1

- Yu, T. C., and R. O. Sinnhuber. 1957. 2-thiobarbituric acid method for the measurement of rancidity in fishery products. Food Technol. 11: 104-108.
- Zipser, M. W., T. W. Kwon, and B. M. Watts. 1964. Oxidative changes in cured and uncured frozen cooked pork. J. Agr. Food Chem. 12: 105-109.
- Zipser, M. W., and B. M. Watts. 1961. Oxidative rancidity in cooked mullet. Food Technol. <u>15</u>: 318-321.

_. 1962. A modified 2-thiobarbituric acid method for the determination of malonaldehyde in cured meats. Food Technol. <u>7</u>: 102.

Zoneil, M. E., and W. B. Esselen. 1959. Thermal destruction rates and regeneration of peroxidase in green beans and turnips. Food Research <u>24</u>: 119-133.